OUR COMMON AGENDA

a publication of Virginia Conservation Network



701 East Franklin Street, Suite #800 Richmond, VA 23219 vcn@vcnva.org 804.644.0283 vcnva.org

OUR COMMON AGENDA: 2024 ENVIRONMENTAL BRIEFING BOOK

A publication of the Virginia Conservation Network *Our Common Agenda* is written by, vetted through, and voted on by the 160+ Network Partners of the Virginia Conservation Network. *Our Common Agenda* represents the collaborative policy recommendations of more than 160 organizations across Virginia. This briefing book is intended to be used as an educational guide for policy makers and advocates to address the environmental problems facing Virginia with state-based policy solutions.

© 2023 Virginia Conservation Network

All rights reserved.

To request permissions, contact the publisher at admin@vcnva.org.

Book Design by Nicole Duimstra Cover Photo by Sue Mangan Printed by Zooom Printing in Richmond, Virginia

Published by Virginia Conservation Network 701 E Franklin Street, Suite 800 Richmond, Va 23219 www.vcnva.org

2023 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ABOUT VCN

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Karen Forget Kendyl Crawford Chris Miller Clarence Tong

BOARD MEMBERS

Pamela Bingham Jeanette Cadwallender Karen Campblin Elizabeth Christeller Will Cleveland Daryl Downing John Eustis Roberta Kellam Stewart Schwartz Calandra Waters Lake Kate Wofford

VCN IS A PROUD MEMBER PARTNER OF The following organizations:



Founded as the Conservation Council of Virginia in 1969, Virginia Conservation Network (VCN) began as a roundtable of major conservation groups and has grown to include over 160 Network Partners across the Commonwealth. VCN is committed to building a powerful, diverse, and highlycoordinated conservation movement focused on protecting our Commonwealth's natural resources.

VCN is a facilitator of strategic action, a resource for Network Partners statewide, and a constant conservation presence in Virginia's Capitol. Playing a unique role in Virginia's conservation community, VCN helps the community speak with one coordinated voice. The organization and its staff focus on strengthening the conservation community as a whole and winning environmental victories that benefit all Virginians.

VCN's Network Partners work on a wide range of issues from stream restoration, to transportation reform, to renewable energy advancement, to promoting sustainable community growth, to environmental justice and more. Given the diverse work of our partner organizations, VCN organizes its programs into four main categories: WATER, LAND & WILDLIFE CONSERVATION, CLIMATE & ENERGY, and LAND USE & TRANSPORTATION.

VCN is proud to serve as the state lead for the Choose Clean Water Coalition, the regional coalition advocating for clean rivers and streams in communities throughout the Chesapeake Bay Watershed; and as the Virginia state affiliate for the National Wildlife Federation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABOUT VCN	i
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
CONSERVATION PHOTOGRAPHY CONTEST WINNER	۷
HOW THE BRIEFING BOOK GETS DRAFTED	Vİ
A MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR	

CLEAN WATER & FLOOD RESILIENCE CLEAN RIVERS, CREEKS, & BAYS PREVENTING POLLUTED STORMWATER RUNOFF WORKING WITH FARMERS TO PROTECT OUR WATERWAYS MEETING WASTEWATER UPGRADE OBLIGATIONS ENFORCING WATER QUALITY STANDARDS. PLASTIC & TOXIC WASTE EXECUTIVE REDUCING PLASTICS, LITTER, & MARINE DEBRIS STOPPING FALSE SOLUTIONS & PLASTICS-TO-FUELS STOPPING FALSE SOLUTION AT ITS SOURCE PREVENTING HARMS FROM METALS MINING FLOOD & CLIMATE RESILIENCY ADVANCING EQUITABLE STATEWIDE FLOOD PLANNING SAFEGUARDING VIRGINIA'S WETLANDS

LAND & WILDLIFE CONSERVATION	29
LAND CONSERVATION	3
INVESTING IN VIRGINIA'S HERITAGE & FUTURE	.33
PRESERVING FARMLAND	
PROTECTING HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES	
OUTDOOR RECREATION	39
INVESTING IN CONSERVATION & OUTDOOR RECREATION	
STRENGTHENING PARK FUNDING	
VIRGINIA'S FLORA & FAUNA	4
ASSESSING TREE CANOPY LOSS	4
CONNECTING WILDLIFE HABITATS	
ENSURING SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES	5

	LAND USE & TRANSPORTATION	53
5	LAND USE REFORM	55
	MITIGATING DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT'S IMPACTS	
	DEPLOYING UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR RESPONSIBLY	
	UNLEASHING SUSTAINABLE HOUSING GROWTH	

ELECTRIFICATION	63
ACCELERATING TRANSPORTATION ELECTRIFICATION	.65
MAKING BUILDINGS CLEANER & SAFER	
PUBLIC TRANSIT	69
TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION	71
MODERNIZING PUBLIC TRANSIT	73
EXPANDING RAIL	
WALKING & BIKING	77
SAVING PEDESTRIAN LIVES	79
INCREASING ACCESS TO BIKING	
ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS	83

CLIMATE & ENERGY

3

11

13

15

17

19

21

23 25

27

	TO.
DECARBONIZING THE GRID	87
ACHIEVING 100% CLEAN ENERGY	89
PARTICIPATING IN THE REGIONAL GREENHOUSE GAS INITIATIVE	
RENEWABLE ENERGY & ENERGY EFFICIENCY	93
CUTTING ENERGY BILLS & AIR POLLUTION WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY	
POWERING PROGRESS THROUGH ROOFTOP SOLAR	
EXPANDING ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SOLAR	
MAXIMIZING OFFSHORE WIND GENERATION	
DIRTY ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE	103
SURGING ENERGY DEMAND FROM DATA CENTERS	
MANAGING TECHNOLOGIES UNPROVEN AT SCALE	
PREVENTING PIPELINE HARMS	

GOOD GOVERNANCE	111
UTILITY ACCOUNTABILITY	113
SHIFTING UTILITIES' INCENTIVES FOR AFFORDABLE, CLEAN ENERGY	
ENSURING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL UTILITIES	
CURBING ELECTRIC UTILITIES' POLITICAL INFLUENCE	119
ENVIRONMENTAL EQUITY	121
ADVANCING ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE	123
SUPPORTING VIRGINIA'S EDUCATION WORKFORCE	125
CONSERVATION FUNDING	127
LEVERAGING FEDERAL FUNDING FOR THE COMMONWEALTH	129
VIRGINIA CONSERVATION BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS	
ENDNOTES	
VCN NETWORK PARTNERS	152

85



VIRGINIA CONSERVATION PHOTOGRAPHY CONTEST WINNER

Every year, we ask Virginia's amaetuer photogrpahers to share their best conservation photography of Virginia to showcase within *Our Common Agenda*. The public votes to decide on the featured cover photo of the Briefing Book, as well several award categories. This year's photo contest winner is **Sue Mangan**'s photo of a cast net fisherman enjoying the early sun on East Ocean View Beach in Norfolk, Virginia.

Sue Mangan is a Norfolk VA based conservation and environmental visual storyteller. Retired from her work in aquatics management and competitive swim coaching, she still finds joy in, and being around, water. Early mornings are her favorite time of day to paddle her kayak or walk along the beach. Her artistic focus has always been the patterns, shapes, space and reflection that water reveals. Much of her work is Chesapeake Bay focused, with images that explore the story of this beautiful and threatened place.

More of Sue's photography can be found on her Instagram profile (@suecmangan).

HOW THE BRIEFING BOOK GETS DRAFTED

Our Common Agenda briefing book is written by, vetted through, and voted on by VCN's 160+ Network Partners. Here's our process for crafting our shared policy agenda:

ISSUE WORKGROUPS HOST ANNUAL MEETINGS

VCN's issue workgroups (Clean Water, Land & Wildlife Conservation, Climate & Energy, and Land Use & Transportation) discuss the feasibility of policy recommendations and decide which issues should be covered in the Briefing Book. During this process, the authors of each policy paper are also selected.

AUTHORS PUT PEN TO PAPER

The collaborative process is truly on display while co-authors craft their policy papers. Generally, anywhere from 2-4 authors work on each briefing paper and consult with VCN staff to ensure that each paper reflects policy recommendations that are both attainable and effective.

ISSUE WORKGROUPS CONDUCT EXTENSIVE REVIEWS

Once the policy papers have been drafted by authors, VCN's issue workgroups review all of the papers. Authors incorporate the workgroup's feedback to make stronger arguments or more effective policy recommendations. By the time policy papers have been fully reviewed and finalized, they are read by at least 5-10 experts in the topic's field.

EQUITY REVIEW COMMITTEE WORKS TO ENSURE POLICIES ARE EQUITABLE

In order to avoid policy recommendations that may have an adverse impact on environmental justice communities - specifically low-income communities, communities of color, and rural communities - a team of Network Partners serves on the Equity Review Committee. The committee reviews all briefing paper drafts to ensure that policies won't have unintended consequences and looks for opportunities where policies can lift up historically marginalized communities. Recommendations offered by the Equity Review Team are considered by the co-authors and integrated to the best of their collective ability. This year, the Equity Review Committee members were:

Victoria Higgins	Paul Armstrong
Grace Tucker	Margaret Hofstedt
Caetano de Campos Lopes	Sophia Chapin
Maribel Castañeda	Vivienne Pierce McDaniel

Leah McCord McKenna Dunbar Tytus Suchotinunt Nicole Duimstra

LEGISLATIVE COMMITTEE VOTES ON POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Our legislative committee – co-chaired by Ann Jurczyk, Chesapeake Bay Foundation and Faith Harris, Virginia Interfaith Power & Light – is made up of partners from each of our workgroups who have experience working on policies in Richmond. This is an opportunity to break down the silos between workgroups - energy experts review water papers, land conservation experts review transportation papers, etc. This helps ensure policies don't unintentionally adversely impact other workgroup issue areas as well as to ensure policies are bold yet attainable. Policy recommendations are voted on by the committee.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS VOTE TO ACCEPT EACH POLICY PAPER

The final step in the journey from a policy idea to a place in *Our Common Agenda* is a vote by VCN's Board of Directors. Each policy paper is presented to the Board and a vote on its inclusion follows. This final step of the process ensures that topics and policy recommendations are in line with VCN's mission and goals.

UUR

COMMON

A MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Thank you for opening up a copy of Virginia Conservation Network's (VCN) *Our 2024 Common Agenda*.

Our Common Agenda is your road map for state-based, pragmatic, policy solutions to address the environmental problems facing Virginia. A collection of papers written by, vetted through, and voted on by VCN's 160+ Network Partners, this book lays out a suite of policy ideas to address clean water & flood resilience, land & wildlife conservation, land use & transportation, climate & energy, and good governance.

I encourage you to use this book both as an educational resource as well as a Rolodex for leading conservation advocates in Virginia. The authors of Our Common Agenda are leading conservation advocates in Virginia. They ground their research and findings in science and present practical policy solutions that strive to be equitable for all Virginians.

As a partnership of 160+ conservation organizations, VCN believes that if we work together to solve Virginia's biggest environmental problems we'll leave the Commonwealth better than we found it for the next generation. I'm looking forward to working with you on whichever topic or topics interests you the most. Feel free to reach out to me, my team, or any of the authors in this book for more information.



Mary Rafferty **Executive Director**

'People of Virginia' Photo Contest Winner: "Learning the Ropes," a young sailor on the Rappahannock Photo by Jannifer Sagan

CLEAN WATER & FLOOD RESILIENCE

Virginia's creeks, rivers, and bays are already seeing climate change impacts – from sea level rise along our coastlines, to polluted runoff, from increasingly severe storms, to surges of flooding statewide. We need to protect and expand upon policies and programs in place to ensure clean waters and a flood-resilient future for all Virginians. We must also continue to make progress towards our Chesapeake Bay goals as the 2025 watershed clean-up deadline is rapidly approaching. To significantly reduce the amount of pollution delivered to our nation's largest estuary, we must ensure strong and sustained funding for key local and statewide initiatives to reduce pollution from stormwater runoff, agriculture, industrial toxins, and plastic waste.

CLEAN RIVERS, CREEKS, AND BAYS SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATI	ON 3
PREVENTING POLLUTED STORMWATER RUNOFF	
WORKING WITH FARMERS TO PROTECT OUR WATERWAYS	7
MEETING WASTEWATER UPGRADE OBLIGATIONS	9
ENFORCING WATER QUALITY STANDARDS	11
PLASTIC & TOXIC WASTE SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	13
REDUCING PLASTICS, LITTER, & MARINE DEBRIS	15
STOPPING FALSE SOLUTIONS & PLASTICS-TO-FUELS	17
STOPPING PFAS POLLUTION AT ITS SOURCE	
PREVENTING HARMS FROM METALS MINING	_21
FLOOD & CLIMATE RESILIENCY SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	23
ADVANCING EQUITABLE STATEWIDE FLOOD PLANNING	25
SAFEGUARDING VIRGINIA'S WETLANDS	27

EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

PREVENTING POLLUTED STORMWATER RUNOFF

Stormwater runoff is the fastest-growing source of pollution to our water and the main reason many of our urban streams are impaired. Significant development pressures result in the expansion of impervious surfaces – parking lots, roofs, and roads – in suburban and urban areas (including huge distribution and data centers). More intense rainfall events are in the forecast as a result of climate change, bringing more water and potentially costly flooding into homes and businesses. Virginia's plan to clean up the Chesapeake Bay calls for strong investments in better stormwater control to protect clean water and frontline communities.

Blair Blanchette // Va Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts // blair.blanchette@vaswcd.org Adam Gold // Environmental Defense Fund // agold@edf.org Brent Hunsinger // Friends of the Rappahannock // brent.hunsinger@riverfriends.org Joe Wood // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jwood@cbf.org

WORKING WITH FARMERS TO PROTECT OUR WATERWAYS

Agriculture is Virginia's largest industry by many metrics. It also represents the largest source of nutrient and sediment pollution reaching Virginia's local streams, rivers, and the Chesapeake Bay. Fortunately, addressing these pollution loads offers an opportunity to improve the Commonwealth's natural resources while also enhancing working farms and forests. The Virginia Agricultural Cost Share Program (VACS) funds the implementation of a wide suite of agricultural best management practices that reduce pollution while enhancing farm productivity. Virginia should follow through on its commitment to fully fund this impactful program. Additionally, Virginia should develop new pay-for-outcome programs that promote innovation and assurance.

Maggi Blomstrom // Piedmont Environmental Council // mblomstrom@pecva.org Tom Dunlap // James River Association // tdunlap@thejamesriver.org Kendall Tyree // Virginia Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts // kendall.tyree@vaswcd.org Joe Wood // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jwood@cbf.org

MEETING WASTEWATER UPGRADE OBLIGATIONS

Wastewater treatment facility technology upgrades have helped the Commonwealth reduce pollution to state waters and achieve our Chesapeake Bay Total Maximum Load (TMDL) Phase III Watershed Implementation Plan (Phase III WIP) goals. While nutrient reductions from wastewater treatment plants have been the leading source of reductions towards our Phase III WIP, there are additional upgrades in the queue that require significant financial support as well as additional needs for Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) systems. For some upgraded facilities, state incentives may help reduce nutrient discharges even further. Virginia must support wastewater treatment facility upgrades to protect water quality and public health.

Tom Dunlap // James River Association // tdunlap@thejamesriver.org Patrick Fanning // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // PFanning@cbf.org

ENFORCING WATER QUALITY STANDARDS

Many Virginia streams are degraded by excessive sediments, nutrients, and pollutants that cause unnatural colors and odors. Toxic pollutants not covered by numeric criteria are found at dangerous levels in public water supplies. These conditions violate the narrative water quality criteria set by the State Water Control Board (SWCB). Failure to fully enforce narrative criteria harms drinking water, recreation, biodiversity, and the overall health of aquatic ecosystems. The state must assess compliance with narrative criteria in all regulatory actions, impose appropriate permit limits, and make impaired waterbody designations based on the narrative criteria.

Mark Frondorf // Shenandoah Riverkeeper // mark@shenandoahriverkeeper.org David Sligh // Wild Virginia // david@wildvirginia.org



CLEAN RIVERS, CREEKS, & BAYS

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation Programs // pat@vcnva.org

PREVENTING POLLUTED STORMWATER RUNOFF *CLEAN RIVERS, CREEKS, & BAYS*

Blair Blanchette // Va Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts // blair.blanchette@vaswcd.org Adam Gold // Environmental Defense Fund // agold@edf.org Brent Hunsinger // Friends of the Rappahannock // brent.hunsinger@riverfriends.org Joe Wood // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jwood@cbf.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Stormwater runoff is the fastest-growing source of pollution to our water and the main reason many of our urban streams are impaired. Significant development pressures result in the expansion of impervious surfaces – parking lots, roofs, and roads – in suburban and urban areas (including huge distribution and data centers). More intense rainfall events are in the forecast as a result of climate change, bringing more water and potentially costly flooding into homes and businesses. Virginia's plan to clean up the Chesapeake Bay calls for strong investments in better stormwater control to protect clean water and frontline communities.

CHALLENGE

Virginians rely on local creeks and rivers for healthy, vibrant communities and strong economies. Three out of four Virginians depend upon healthy headwater streams for their drinking water.¹ Our Commonwealth is the largest seafood producer on the East Coast, with 50 commercially harvested species.² Our outdoor recreation industry is booming, providing over 100,000 direct jobs and \$4.4 billion in wages and salaries.³

THREE OUT OF FOUR VIRGINIANS DEPEND UPON HEALTHY HEADWATER STREAMS FOR THEIR DRINKING WATER

Despite our reliance on healthy waterways, polluted runoff — the muddy stew of stormwater, dirt, bacteria, toxins, and plastic waste that runs off lawns, streets, parking lots, and other hard surfaces — continues to threaten our local creeks, streams, and rivers. It remains the fastest growing source of pollution to the Chesapeake Bay, undermining Virginia's goal to restore local streams and the Bay by 2025. Much of our urban and suburban infrastructure was built before we fully understood how stormwater degrades local streams. Now, many larger localities are



required to reduce the nutrient and sediment pollution that they contribute to Virginia's waterways. Implementing programs to achieve these reductions - like projects to retrofit older infrastructure - can be expensive and often require access to private property. For years, lowincome communities have been among the least likely to receive state funding to support this work. The state can and should encourage pollution reduction practices by providing both strong, equitable funding support and legislative support to ensure all homeowners can install best management practices, as well as strengthening our existing stormwater regulations to account for heavier, more frequent rain events due to climate change. Cities and towns, churches and schools, homeowners, and developers - everyone has a role to play in keeping nutrient and sediment pollution out of our stormwater.

SOLUTION STORMWATER LOCAL ASSISTANCE FUND

The Stormwater Local Assistance Fund (SLAF) is a state and local matching grant program that protects and improves the health of our waterways by funding locality stormwater projects.⁴ This fund has recently been amended to provide additional attention to fiscally stressed communities and flood resilience. Over its lifespan. SLAF has authorized \$178 million in grants for 331 projects across Virginia, and demand for this program will continue to grow.⁵ Based on the reduction in stormwater-caused pollution that Virginia must make to achieve the Commonwealth's Bay Cleanup Plan, and the cost to date of cleaning up pollution from this source, the state needs to invest approximately \$80 million in SLAF annually. The General Assembly provided \$25 million in Fiscal Year 2023, with no funding allotted for Fiscal Year 2024. Strong, sustained funding and updated guidelines are critical to ensure progress can be maintained and the program is utilized.

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

The Virginia Conservation Assistance Program (VCAP) is an urban cost-share program facilitated by Virginia's participating Soil and Water Conservation Districts (SWCDs). VCAP provides financial incentives and technical and educational assistance to commercial and residential property owners installing eligible Best Management Practices (BMPs) where problems like erosion, poor drainage, or poor vegetation occur. These practices such as rain gardens, conservation landscaping, and more complex engineered solutions such as vegetated conveyance systems are installed. To date, over 900 projects have been completed with \$6.2 million obligated in cost-share to property owners in Virginia. This program provides an ideal way for Virginians to make a difference in their communities and is utilized most when consistently funded. Furthermore, legislative support would also help ensure residents of Virginia's 8,810 community associations⁶ can leverage this program without being prohibited from installing conservation landscaping via their covenants.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$80 million each year for the Stormwater Local Assistance Fund to invest in pollution reduction projects and help localities meet their local water quality needs on time.

\$4 million each year for the Virginia Conservation Assistance Program to address stormwater runoff from existing impervious surfaces, create wildlife habitat, promote flood resilience, and protect property values and economic opportunity.

Ensure that homeowners living in community associations have the option to install conservation landscaping to help address runoff on private property.

Maggi Blomstrom // Piedmont Environmental Council // mblomstrom@pecva.org Tom Dunlap // James River Association // tdunlap@thejamesriver.org Kendall Tyree // Va Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts // kendall.tyree@vaswcd.org Joe Wood // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jwood@cbf.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Agriculture is Virginia's largest industry by many metrics. It also represents the largest source of nutrient and sediment pollution reaching Virginia's local streams, rivers, and the Chesapeake Bay. Fortunately, addressing these pollution loads offers an opportunity to improve the Commonwealth's natural resources while also enhancing working farms and forests. The Virginia Agricultural Cost Share Program (VACS) funds the implementation of a wide suite of agricultural best management practices that reduce pollution while enhancing farm productivity. Virginia should follow through on its commitment to fully fund this impactful program. Additionally, Virginia should develop new pay-foroutcome programs that promote innovation and assurance.

CHALLENGE

Virginia has made substantial progress in developing and implementing VACS and has accelerated investment in agricultural pollution reduction efforts in recent years. Still, we are not on track to achieve nutrient and sediment reduction goals. Achieving our goals will require sufficient, sustained financial and technical support through a fully-funded VACS program. Further, it will also require new innovative and creative approaches.

The Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR) administers VACS through the Soil and Water Conservation Board and Virginia's 47 Soil and Water Conservation Districts. The Districts' experienced staff assists farmers and landowners in identifying opportunities to improve water quality and prevent pollution, provides technical assistance in implementing best management practices (BMPs), and helps to offset the cost of installing the practices. These BMPs include stream fencing and alternative water sources to keep livestock out of streams; nutrient management plans that promote efficient fertilizer application; riparian buffers to filter pollutants from runoff; and many other practices essential to protecting Virginia's waterways.

In an evaluation of Chesapeake Bay efforts, a report from the Chesapeake Bay Program's Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) concludes that the adoption of new policies, procedures, and expanded capacities are needed to improve responses.¹ Specifically, the report recommends increased incentives for innovation that offer opportunities to reward the treatment of high-loss areas and to encourage the adoption of highly effective practices that land managers may not consider under standard cost-share programs.

SOLUTION

Every other year, DCR—working with farmers, the Soil and Water Conservation Districts, and other stakeholders-compiles an Agricultural Needs Assessment detailing how much investment is needed for agricultural BMPs. The most recent assessment shows that, in order to maximize benefits to local and downstream waterways and Virginia communities, VACS should be funded at no less than \$250 million over the biennium.² For the first time, the General Assembly has fullyfunded the VACS program in the state budget, a major achievement for Virginia. Strong, sustained funding at the level identified in the Agricultural Needs Assessment will facilitate a faster pace of progress, improve water quality, and invest in Virginia farm futures both in and beyond the Chesapeake Bay Watershed. Investments in agricultural BMPs improve water quality, create local jobs, and deliver economic benefits for rural communities.

INVESTMENTS IN AGRICULTURAL BMPS IMPROVE WATER QUALITY, CREATE LOCAL JOBS, AND DELIVER ECONOMIC BENEFITS FOR RURAL COMMUNITIES Additionally, a recent evaluation of Chesapeake Bay clean-up efforts suggests³ that new programs are needed to promote innovation and connect investments to outcomes. Virginia should seek new opportunities to both support our cost-share programs and promote innovation. Further, within the VACS program, DCR should seek innovative ways to increase enrollment of known high-return on investment practices like streamside cattle fencing and nutrient management plan writing for crop fields.

It is important that these investments in agricultural BMPs are equitably reaching historically underserved communities like farmers of color. As noted by the Virginia Soil and Water Conservation Board,⁴ the allocation of funding for the VACS program should address Diversity, Equity, Inclusion, and Justice concerns, and the state should follow through with this directive.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Full funding (at least \$250 million) over the biennium for the Virginia Agricultural Cost-Share Program (VACS), as estimated by the Agricultural Needs Assessment and accounting for impacts related to inflation.

Sufficient and stable funding for technical assistance by Soil and Water Conservation Districts to ensure adequate staff capacity and training.

Additional financial incentives for long-term conservation practices like stream exclusion fencing and riparian buffers that are critical to meeting the requirements of the Watershed Implementation Plan and excluding livestock from all of the Commonwealth's perennial streams.

Promote strategies and policy initiatives to connect cost-share investments with outcomes.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Wastewater treatment facility technology upgrades have helped the Commonwealth reduce pollution to state waters and achieve our Chesapeake Bay Total Maximum Load (TMDL) Phase III Watershed Implementation Plan (Phase III WIP) goals. While nutrient reductions from wastewater treatment plants have been the leading source of reductions towards our Phase III WIP, there are additional upgrades in the queue that require significant financial support as well as additional needs for Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) systems. For some upgraded facilities, state incentives may help reduce nutrient discharges even further. Virginia must support wastewater treatment facility upgrades to protect water quality and public health.

CHALLENGE

In the last decade and a half, many of Virginia's wastewater treatment plants have upgraded nutrient pollution removal technology to significantly reduce pollution discharged to local rivers and the Bay.¹ Simultaneously, our watersheds have more people, fewer forests, and face routine climate change impacts. Inflation and drawn-out project timelines further threaten our continued progress. Accordingly, Virginia and regional partners will have to enhance efforts to meet the goal of a restored Bay, as called for in the Commonwealth's Phase III WIP.²

We are seeing the fragile, yet remarkable, beginnings of a recovery of our waterways and Chesapeake Bay — increased water clarity and quality, thousands of acres of aquatic grasses, and resurgent oyster populations. These improvements wouldn't be possible without the hard work of wastewater agencies, the localities they serve, or the Commonwealth's commitment to wastewater improvement demonstrated through grants to upgrade pollution reduction capabilities. However, many achievable nutrient reductions for treatment facilities go undone without additional state incentives, stalling further improvement.

RURAL COMMUNITIES "HAVE LONG FACED Challenges with toxic water due to Insufficient water infrastructure"

Virginia also has three cities with CSOs that, when overloaded by stormwater, send untreated storm and wastewater directly into nearby rivers with concerning health implications.³ Legislation in 2017 and 2020 put deadlines on Alexandria and Richmond to address untreated overflow events from their CSOs. But the scale of these infrastructure problems requires state help, and increased project costs and shifting timelines further impact these localities' ability to stay on track – particularly in Richmond, where 20.9% of residents are below the poverty line⁴ and already pay some of the highest wastewater rates in Virginia.

SOLUTION

The General Assembly placed Richmond on a timeline to remediate its CSO system by 2035 through legislation (SB1064) passed in 2020. In 2021, the Enhanced Nutrient Removal Certainty Program was established, which will ensure Virginia achieves the wastewater treatment technology upgrades necessary to meet the Phase III WIP.⁵ Still, the funding to implement these projects is critical to accomplishing these goals.

Not only will more complete wastewater treatment revitalize the Bay and its tributaries, but it will ensure that communities across the Commonwealth will more equitably receive the benefits of clean water in their own communities. Rural communities, especially rural communities of color, "have long faced challenges with toxic water due to insufficient water infrastructure," while low-income ratepayers in urban areas struggle to afford wastewater and drinking water improvements.⁶ State investment will help these communities maintain and improve aging infrastructure, prevent local water quality problems like toxic algae, and create goodpaying jobs for skilled workers.⁷

Virginia should look to the estimated needs for wastewater and CSO upgrades when forming its next biennial budget. DEQ's latest annual needs assessment for the wastewater sector projects, state funding needs of \$252M in FY25 and \$270M in FY26 to help localities meet their pollution reduction goals through infrastructure upgrades. Additionally, Richmond's most recent report to the General Assembly on its CSO progress identifies projected costs to be over \$1.3 billion to complete remediation work on its combined sewer system.⁸

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Continue supporting the facility upgrade deadlines for the Enhanced Nutrient Removal Certainty Program by fully funding state grants for wastewater treatment upgrades as identified by the Needs Assessment.

Maintain state funding to localities remediating aging CSO systems, once again making local rivers swimmable and fishable.

Incentivize upgraded facilities to further reduce nutrient discharges by optimizing operations.

Downtown Riverfront – Richmond, Va Photo by Andre Eanes



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Many Virginia streams are degraded by excessive sediments, nutrients, and pollutants that cause unnatural colors and odors.^{1,2,3} Toxic pollutants not covered by numeric criteria are found at dangerous levels in public water supplies.⁴ These conditions violate the narrative water quality criteria set by the State Water Control Board (SWCB). Failure to fully enforce narrative criteria harms drinking water, recreation, biodiversity, and the overall health of aquatic ecosystems. The state must assess compliance with narrative criteria in all regulatory actions, impose appropriate permit limits, and make impaired waterbody designations based on the narrative criteria.

CHALLENGE

Water quality standards are the bedrock of the Clean Water Act and State Water Control Law, but important requirements in Virginia's standards are not being met decades after their adoption.

To address such problems, Virginia must fully implement its narrative water quality criteria, which describe conditions that must be prevented in all state waters. Waterbodies must "be free from substances...which interfere directly or indirectly with designated uses or which are inimical or harmful to human, animal, plant, or aquatic life."⁵ Thus, narrative criteria broadly prohibit conditions that negatively affect human uses or threaten people or wildlife. By contrast, numeric criteria comprise measurable levels of specific pollutants that are supposed to support all uses. Permit limits based on numeric criteria have been highly effective at improving water quality where they have been applied, but they cannot stand alone.⁶

TOXIC POLLUTANTS NOT COVERED BY NUMERIC CRITERIA ARE FOUND AT DANGEROUS LEVELS IN PUBLIC WATER SUPPLIES

Narrative criteria are necessary where the state has neither determined protective levels of pollutants nor adopted enforceable numeric criteria. Also, they are uniquely suited to situations where subjective judgments will determine whether human uses are supported.⁷ The use of narrative criteria is necessary to stop ongoing problems that interfere with the use of streams for human consumption or recreation, including nuisance or harmful algae blooms. Absent numeric nutrient standards, polluters currently know that they can continue business as usual unless or until the Commonwealth finally decides to impose narrative standards.

SOLUTION

Virginia regulates water pollution sources through Virginia Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (VPDES) permits, Virginia Water Protection (VWP) permits, and Clean Water Act section 401 water quality certifications. For each of these regulatory processes, the state is required to determine whether proposed activities could result in water quality standards violations. If analyses show that standards may be violated, the state must deny the permit or impose requirements to prevent the violation. For every new permit or certification, the state must now begin to perform these analyses for narrative criteria.

Sometimes, predictions of water quality standards violations prove incorrect, because knowledge as to how activities will alter natural systems and affect human uses is incomplete. In cases where permit or certification requirements are met but water quality standards are still violated, the state and citizens must be able to demand heightened protections. Therefore, in addition to limitations or technical requirements, each permit or certification should state that violation of in-stream water quality standards is a violation of that approval. Finally, when Virginia conducts water quality assessments, it must incorporate information and data about violations of narrative criteria and make "impaired waterbody" designations based upon those criteria, as it does for numeric criteria. Listings will mandate further assessments, development of pollution diets for listed waters, and implementation plans to clean up pollution. This process has worked where violations of numeric criteria prompted impairment listings and resulted in permit limits, and must be followed for all narrative criteria.

Potomac River Buoy – Westmoreland, Va Photo by Lucas Manweiler

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Perform reasonable potential analyses for all narrative criteria when issuing permits or certifications through the DEQ and State Water Control Board.

Require that compliance with all parts of the water quality standards is a condition of all water permits.

Impaired waterbody listings should include those based on violations of narrative water quality criteria.

Fund harmful algae bloom testing and identification for non-tidal waterways through the VDH and fund the collection of water samples through DEQ for VDH testing.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

REDUCING PLASTICS, LITTER, & MARINE DEBRIS

Eradicating plastic pollution is a top priority for many Virginians. Smart policy can keep plastic waste out of Virginia's streams, rivers, and coastal waters. Waters polluted with plastic have negative health effects on humans and wildlife. We can further tackle plastic pollution in Virginia by eliminating the most harmful types of mismanaged waste, incentivizing sustainable disposal of what we do use, and encouraging the shift to sustainable and reusable products. Virginia has made progress in eliminating plastic pollution in previous years and further actions would continue this legacy.

Elly Boehmer Wilson // Environment Virginia // eboehmer@environmentvirginia.org Zach Huntington // Clean Virginia Waterways // huntingtonza@longwood.edu

STOPPING FALSE SOLUTIONS & PLASTICS-TO-FUELS

Virginia's waterways are under assault by single-use plastic pollution, but chemical conversion, also known as "advanced" or "chemical" recycling, is a false and flawed solution to the plastic pollution crisis threatening our local waterways, oceans, and aquatic animals. Chemical conversion will not reduce the use of single-use plastics – it will incentivize the continued use of plastics as a feedstock for plastics-to-fuel facilities. The resulting air pollution and hazardous waste generated from chemical conversion would put Virginia's communities and environmental health at risk. Policy can ensure that the industry does not pollute waterways, entrench our dependence on single-use plastics, and inequitably burden communities of color where chemical conversion plants are often sited.

Elly Boehmer Wilson // Environment Virginia // eboehmer@environmentvirginia.org Zach Huntington // Clean Virginia Waterways // huntingtonza@longwood.edu

STOPPING PFAS POLLUTION AT ITS SOURCE

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) - "forever chemicals" - threaten our health and our environment. Initial studies conducted by the Virginia Department of Health (VDH) and the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) have confirmed PFAS contamination in surface waters, groundwater, and drinking water throughout the state., To address this pollution and public health problem, Virginia should use existing authority under the federal Clean Water Act to require disclosure and control of the discharge of these chemicals into our waters.

Carroll Courtenay // Southern Environmental Law Center // ccourtenay@selcva.org Jacqueline Goodrum // Wild Virginia // jgoodrum@alumni.virginia.edu Betsy Nicholas // Potomac Riverkeeper Network // betsy@prknetwork.org Barbara Walsh // Rockbridge Conservation // barbara.walsh@rockbridgeconservation.org

PREVENTING HARMS FROM METALS MINING

Metals mining is both an old and new issue for Virginia. Mining for gold, copper, zinc, and lead in the 19th and early 20th centuries is, evidenced by hundreds of abandoned mines along the gold-pyrite belt which extends from Fairfax to Halifax Counties. A large-scale version of this toxic industry is now moving forward with neither a comprehensive regulatory framework nor sufficient financial assurances, putting public health and drinking water at risk. Virginia must support communities most at risk, protect our water resources and agricultural lands, and develop an effective regulatory framework for metals mining.

Patrick Fanning // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // PFanning@cbf.org Stephanie Rinaldi // Friends of Buckingham // PressPauseVA@gmail.com Jessica Sims // Appalachian Voices // jessica@appvoices.org



PLASTIC & TOXIC WASTE

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation Programs // pat@vcnva.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Eradicating plastic pollution is a top priority for many Virginians. Smart policy can keep plastic waste out of Virginia's streams, rivers, and coastal waters. Waters polluted with plastic have negative health effects on humans and wildlife. We can further tackle plastic pollution in Virginia by eliminating the most harmful types of mismanaged waste, incentivizing sustainable disposal of what we do use, and encouraging the shift to sustainable and reusable products. Virginia has made progress in eliminating plastic pollution in previous years and further actions would continue this legacy.

CHALLENGE

Our society produces single-use plastic items that are discarded, creating pollution and further extraction of natural resources.¹ When mismanaged, trash ends up in Virginia's natural landscapes and waterways. The unintended consequences of single-use plastics result in devastating impacts on wildlife, including

sea turtles, birds, fish, mammals, and important waterfiltering bivalves like oysters and mussels through entanglement and ingestion.²

Up to eighty percent of debris in the oceans comes from land: mismanaged waste. litter, illegal dumping, and uncovered trucks (e.g., expanded foodpolystyrene, and beverage-related items, cigarette butts, plastic grocery and bags).^{3,4} Studies show mismanaged that

waste disproportionately affects historically disadvantaged and BIPOC communities.⁵ Exposure to plastic additives have negative biological effects on humans and wildlife⁶ with microplastics having been found in human lungs causing lesions and respiratory problems.⁷

UP TO 80% OF DEBRIS IN THE OCEANS COMES FROM LAND

In addition to on-land pollution sources, abandoned and derelict vessels (ADVs) obstruct navigational channels, cause harm to the environment, and diminish commercial and recreational activities. ADVs, most of which are plastic material reinforced with glass fibers, also have negative financial impacts.

While recycling is important, without collection mandates, robust reporting, and required benchmarks, it does not reduce single-use products nor does it hold producers responsible for the plastic pollution crises.

Sharing responsibility between taxpayers/consumers and producers has these components:



SOLUTION ELIMINATING HARMFUL PLASTICS

Low-quality, flimsy and single-use plastics such as foam, bags, and packaging are a challenge to manage due to their overabundance and material, both of which result in staggering amounts of mismanagement, unintentional litter, and plastic pollution. Eliminating the most harmful types of plastics through bans and reduction mandates is the best way to reduce pollution.

EXTENDED PRODUCER RESPONSIBILITY (EPR)

A producer responsibility program incentivizes and/or requires manufacturers to decrease packaging; increase recycled content; and create recyclable, reusable, or biodegradable products. Manufacturers are required to reduce waste and pay for recycling infrastructure, rather than taxpayers.

POLICIES TO REDUCE PLASTIC POLLUTION	SUPPORT BY VA VOTERS
Require less plastic in packaging	76%
Shift the costs of recycling pro- grams off of community taxpayers and onto producers	71%
Deposits on beverage bottles and cans	65%
Cigarette litter fee	63%
Ban single-use plastic grocery and shopping bags	63%
Ban polystyrene food containers	61%

Data adapted from Plastic Pollution: Virginia's Voters Support Action: 2022 Public Perception Survey¹⁰

CLOSING THE WASTE LOOP

While the primary goal of extended producer responsibility programs is to reduce the use of the most harmful single-use plastics at the source, these programs also work to close the waste loop by requiring producers rather than taxpayers to be financially and/or physically responsible for their products' waste. One example of successful EPR is beverage deposit programs- Oregon's program had an 88.5% bottle recycling rate in 2022.⁸ These programs best achieve waste reductions and high levels of recycling when they have strong collection mandates, benchmarks and reporting requirements.

CLEANING UP PLASTIC POLLUTION

Our goal is to reduce plastic pollution at the source, but we must clean up what ends up in our environment. Virginia's Litter tax is one way this work is funded, but it generates the lowest revenue per capita of any state⁹ - Virginia must implement policies to increase revenue in support of critical programs. The Commonwealth must continue funding programs that remove difficult marine debris such as fishing gear and abandoned and derelict vessels.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Ban the use of single-use expanded polystyrene by food vendors by 2024 rather than a 7-year phase-out period.

Establish an Extended Producer Responsibility program in Virginia code focused on reducing harmful packaging.

Adjust the litter tax for inflation every five years.

\$3 million for FY 2023-24 for the Virginia Abandoned and Derelict Vessel Prevention and Removal Program.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia's waterways are under assault by singleuse plastic pollution, but chemical conversion, also known as "advanced" or "chemical" recycling, is a false and flawed solution to the plastic pollution crisis threatening our local waterways, oceans, and aquatic animals. Chemical conversion will not reduce the use of single-use plastics - it will incentivize the continued use of plastics as a feedstock for plastics-to-fuel facilities. The resulting air pollution and hazardous waste generated from chemical conversion would put Virginia's communities and environmental health at risk. Policy can ensure that the industry does not pollute waterways, entrench our dependence on single-use plastics, and inequitably burden communities of color where chemical conversion plants are often sited.¹

processes where plastic is incinerated in an oxygen-free environment to render a raw material to create fossil fuel (see graphic below). Often, the plastic used in this process is sourced from brokers or single companies, and would not accept residential or local plastic products used by Virginians.

SEVEN OF THE EIGHT US CHEMICAL CONVERSION FACILITIES ARE IN COMMUNITIES THAT ARE PREDOMINANTLY LOW INCOME, BLACK, OR BOTH

The increased air pollution and hazardous waste production resulting from chemical conversion put Virginians' health at risk. Pollution disproportionately burdens communities of color and, as a result of this environmental injustice, Black people are three times more likely to die from exposure to air pollutants than white people.^{2,3} In particular, seven of the eight chemical conversion facilities in the United States are in communities that are predominantly low income, Black, or both;⁴ this combined with

CHALLENGE

Chemical conversion is a broad term encompassing a variety of failed and experimental

Chemical Conversion



Credit: Clean Fairfax

Elly Boehmer Wilson // Environment Virginia // eboehmer@environmentvirginia.org Zach Huntington // Clean Virginia Waterways // huntingtonza@longwood.edu

the fact that these facilities frequently violate EPA hazardous waste regulations further demonstrates chemical conversion as a false, inequitable solution.

Plastic pollution and the lack of an effective recycling industry have given the plastics industry an opportunity to market "advanced recycling" technology, like plastics-to-fuel, as a solution, despite the complete lack of operating success⁵ or addressing the root issue of an overabundance of plastic products.

The American Chemistry Council has succeeded in convincing eighteen state legislatures⁶ to pass bills which exempt these facilities from standardized industrial waste regulations – including Virginia.⁷

Moreover, the short history of chemical conversion facilities in Virginia confirms it as a false solution to the plastic pollution crisis and a waste of taxpayer money. Braven Environmental LLC abruptly canceled its plans to build a facility that purported to serve as a "solution" to the state's plastic waste problem in Cumberland County after receiving over \$200,000 in state grants in 2020.⁸

SOLUTION

The EPA recently said that it would strictly regulate plastics-to-fuel operations under the Clean Air Act but we still need a strong defense to ensure that Virginia does not fall victim to investing taxpayer money in false solutions.

State solid waste management policy should focus on reducing single-use plastics in the waste stream and as litter, reusing products where possible, and if recycling is required, elevating proven solutions that reduce the amount of virgin plastics manufactured.

Emerging technologies, such as plastics-to-fuel, should be robustly evaluated for safety and proof of scalability before being allowed in Virginia. Technologies should be revenue generating (i.e. not reliant on taxpayer dollars) and proven to achieve goals that advance Virginia's quality of life, such as litter reduction, plastic waste management, and environmental equity.

We have seen the plastics-to-fuel industry stumble due to issues surrounding technology scalability, high volumes of hazardous waste production, energy consumption, and overall inability to turn over a profit.⁹ To truly tackle the plastic pollution crisis, Virginia needs actual plastic reduction solutions that reduce our reliance on single use plastic to protect human health, water quality, and aquatic life (see REDUCING PLASTICS, LITTER, & MARINE DEBRIS, pg 15).

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Establish that plastic-to-fuel, plastic-to-fuel substitute, or plastic-to-fuel additive technologies are not "recycling" as cited in the EPA Draft National Strategy to Prevent Plastic Pollution, and should be regulated using all applicable solid waste and environmental protection laws.

Support proven solutions that reduce overall plastic production outlined in REDUCING PLASTICS, LITTER, & MARINE DEBRIS, page 15.

Require comprehensive environmental justice impact analysis, including robust air quality monitoring systems in site suitability studies, to protect environmental justice communities in Virginia from disproportionate impacts of chemical conversion facilities.

Establish that tax incentives are not available to business (private or public) entities operating plastic-to-fuel, plastic-to-fuel substitute, or plastic-to-fuel additives facilities.

STOPPING PFAS POLLUTION AT ITS SOURCE *PLASTIC & TOXIC WASTE*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) -"forever chemicals" - threatens our health and our environment. Initial studies conducted by the Virginia Department of Health (VDH) and the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) have confirmed PFAS contamination in surface waters, groundwater, and drinking water throughout the state.^{1,2} To address this pollution and public health problem, Virginia should use existing authority under the federal Clean Water Act to require disclosure and control of the discharge of these chemicals into our waters.

CHALLENGE

Commonly called "forever chemicals," PFAS are a class of over 9,000³ synthetic chemicals that do not easily break down but instead build up and persist in our bodies, soil, water, and wildlife.⁴ PFAS, even at very low levels, can cause significant human health harms, including cancer, harm to fetal and infant development, and reduced immune function.⁵⁶ The public can come into direct contact with PFAS via everyday items like waterproof and stain-resistant fabrics and materials, food packaging, and non-stick cookware.⁷



CONVENTIONAL WATER TREATMENT SYSTEMS DO NOT REMOVE PFAS FROM DRINKING WATER

Communities are at risk of significant exposure to PFAS from concentrated streams of these chemicals released into our environment in firefighting foams, industrial wastewater discharges, landfills, and land-applied sewage sludge biosolids.⁸ Importantly, conventional water treatment systems do not remove PFAS from drinking water or wastewater and PFAS discharges can contaminate drinking water, surface water, soil, crops, and forage.⁹ Studies have found that members of low-income communities and communities of color are more likely to live within five miles of a PFAScontaminated site and that these communities may be disproportionately exposed to PFAS in drinking water.^{10,11}

Unfortunately, Virginia does not require polluters to disclose or control these chemicals in their discharges or land-applied sewage sludge biosolids. This leaves downstream communities, private well owners, and farmers at risk or on the hook for costly cleanups. In Virginia, initial studies have found PFAS contamination in public drinking water supplies, private wells, near the Richmond International Airport, and near military bases.^{12,13} The full extent of PFAS contamination in Virginia is unknown due to limited funding available for testing and data management.

SOLUTION

Drinking water standards are an important component of protecting public health, but ultimately PFAS pollution must be stopped at its source. Using existing authority, the Commonwealth should identify and control pathways of PFAS pollution and put the responsibility on polluters—not communities to clean up their waste. Specifically, the federal Clean Water Act as applied through Virginia's Pollution Discharge Elimination System (VPDES) authorizes the Commonwealth to both monitor for and restrict discharges of PFAS into surface waters.¹⁴ States like North Carolina,¹⁵ Michigan,¹⁶ and Colorado¹⁷ are already using such authority to require industries to limit their PFAS discharge and help stop PFAS pollution at its source.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Require industrial users to disclose and control PFAS released in their discharges through Virginia's existing wastewater permit and industrial pretreatment programs.

Provide sufficient funding to DEQ to identify and eliminate potential pathways for PFAS contamination, which include wastewater discharges, land-applied sewage sludge biosolids, and landfill leachate, and to manage associated data.

Continue and expand DEQ and VDH sampling of PFAS in surface water, groundwater, and drinking water.

Establish drinking water standards and fish and game consumption standards for PFAS through VDH that are fully protective of public health

Pursue PFAS cleanup cost recovery opportunities through joint or independent legal action.

PREVENTING HARMS FROM METALS MINING *PLASTIC & TOXIC WASTE*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Metals mining is both an old and new issue for Virginia. Mining for gold, copper, zinc, and lead in the 19th and early 20th centuries is, evidenced by hundreds of abandoned mines along the gold-pyrite belt which extends from Fairfax to Halifax Counties.¹ A large-scale version of this toxic industry is now moving forward with neither a comprehensive regulatory framework nor sufficient financial assurances, putting public health and drinking water at risk. Virginia must support communities most at risk, protect our water resources and agricultural lands, and develop an effective regulatory framework for metals mining.

CHALLENGE

Metals mining is a land-intensive process representing the nation's #1 toxic pollution source² and often involves the use of cyanide. Mining procedures can result in perpetual acid mine drainage,³ catastrophic waste containment failures,⁴ destruction of cultural heritage, and the devastation of local economies as a result of the boom-and-bust cycle of the industry.

Junior mining companies have been prospecting near Virginia's gold-pyrite belt for several years,⁵ announcing "high grade" findings.⁶ This belt contains metals like iron, gold, copper, and zinc,⁷ and intersects innumerable environmental justice communities often overburdened with existing pollution.^{8,9} Of note, the surface drinking water systems for 3.2 million people are downstream of the belt.¹⁰ The belt crosses the James River, which provides drinking water for 2.7 million, brings millions of dollars into Virginia's economy from commercial fishing, and attracts over 6 million visitors annually.¹¹

3.2 MILLION PEOPLE'S DRINKING WATER SYSTEMS ARE DOWNSTREAM OF THE GOLD-PYRITE BELT

As the Commonwealth works to safeguard our watersheds and agricultural lands, the introduction of a new significant source of pollution – industrial metals mining – threatens the viability of those efforts. Additionally, hundreds of historic metal mines lay abandoned across Virginia's landscape.¹² The cost to taxpayers of reclaiming these abandoned sites is an economic burden and the negative health and environmental impacts of not reclaiming these sites is dangerous.¹³

Virginia's current mineral mining regulations are not designed to address modern-day industrial base and precious metals mining. Rather, they focus on the majority of active non-metals mining permits – sand, gravel, and stone aggregates.¹⁴

Legislation in 2021 required the study of the effects of gold mining on the Commonwealth,¹⁵ but assessment of current regulations has not yet occurred. Proposed legislation in 2022 addressed the specific threat of cyanide contamination, and although it received bi-partisan support, it did not advance from the General Assembly.¹⁶

SOLUTION

In order to protect people and the Commonwealth's natural resources, specifically its rivers, streams, and agricultural lands, Virginia must put in place an effective regulatory framework for mining metals.

To do so, the Commonwealth must seek a broad analysis of existing metals mining regulations – not limited to just one commercial product. Additionally, any workgroup, study, and/or review processes must include robust public engagement and education. Economic, human health, and environmental implications of metals mining and reclamation should be part of all evaluations. The threat of large-scale mining is statewide, and would have both short- and longterm impacts, so existing bonding, reclamation, closure, and monitoring regulations must be comprehensively evaluated and updated. Patrick Fanning // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // PFanning@cbf.org Stephanie Rinaldi // Friends of Buckingham // PressPauseVA@gmail.com Jessica Sims // Appalachian Voices // jessica@appvoices.org

While the Commonwealth exercises due diligence in reviewing outdated and insufficient regulations, it should also implement a 'pause' on permitting any new metals mining projects. The granting of permits for the mining of gold,

copper, lead, or zinc, for example, without sufficient knowledge of project impacts, or with deficient regulatory oversight of impacts is inappropriate given the potential environmental, human health, and economic harms.



POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Direct the Virginia Department of Energy to pause the issuance of permits for large-scale gold, copper, zinc, and lead mining until the General Assembly has the time to implement a regulatory framework.

Direct the Virginia Department of Energy and the Department of Environmental Quality to evaluate existing bonding, reclamation, closure, and monitoring regulations to develop a regulatory framework for mining metals that is protective of public health and our environment.

Ban the use of cyanide in all metals mining processes.

Require that the Virginia Department of Energy study and assess the mining impacts of copper, zinc, and lead.



ADVANCING EQUITABLE STATEWIDE FLOOD PLANNING

Virginians are experiencing climate change firsthand, from rising seas along our coastlines, to flash floods in our mountains, and more powerful storms statewide. Although we have new programs to address increasing flood risk, work is siloed between agencies, the amount of reliable funding pales relative to the challenges we face, and not all programs adequately prioritize the economic and ecological benefits of nature-based solutions. Further, funding decisions need to be connected to ongoing planning efforts, and more public involvement and transparency can ensure limited dollars are spent responsibly. Finally, we must direct more resources to the most urgent threats — protecting under-resourced communities from flooding and reducing high-risk development in floodplains.

Morgan Butler // Southern Environmental Law Center // mbutler@selc.org Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Emily Steinhilber // Environmental Defense Fund // esteinhilber@edf.org Mary-Carson Stiff // Wetlands Watch // mc.stiff@wetlandswatch.org

SAFEGUARDING VIRGINIA'S WETLANDS

By removing federal protections from vast swaths of wetlands, the Supreme Court's 2023 decision in Sackett v. EPA emphasizes the crucial role that state and local authorities must now play to preserve these critical resources that mitigate the impacts of flooding and filter pollution. The future of Virginia's wetlands depends on safeguarding the Commonwealth's existing wetlands protection programs and ensuring that agencies receive sufficient funding to fill the federal gap.

Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Betsy Nicholas // Potomac Riverkeeper Network // betsy@prknetwork.org Mark Sabath // Southern Environmental Law Center // msabath@selcva.org Mary-Carson Stiff // Wetlands Watch // mc.stiff@wetlandswatch.org

FLOOD & CLIMATE RESILIENCY

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation Programs // pat@vcnva.org

Morgan Butler // Southern Environmental Law Center // mbutler@selc.org Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Emily Steinhilber // Environmental Defense Fund // esteinhilber@edf.org Mary-Carson Stiff // Wetlands Watch // mc.stiff@wetlandswatch.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CHALLENGE

Virginians are experiencing climate change firsthand, from rising seas along our coastlines, to flash floods in our mountains, and more powerful storms statewide. Although we have new programs to address increasing flood risk, work is siloed between agencies, the amount of reliable funding pales relative to the challenges we face, and not all programs adequately prioritize the economic and ecological benefits of naturebased solutions. Further, funding decisions need to be connected to ongoing planning efforts, and more public involvement and transparency can ensure limited dollars are spent responsibly. Finally, we must direct more resources to the most urgent threats — protecting under-resourced communities from flooding and reducing highrisk development in floodplains.

Flood resilience is a cross-sector issue impacting

health and public safety as well as economic,

cultural, social, and natural resources. Enhancing coordination across government will improve Virginia's ability to address the diverse needs of climate-impacted communities and leverage financial resources to build more resilient socioecological systems. This work requires longterm commitment from multiple agencies and stakeholders across Administrations.

Virginia's leaders have made progress in identifying flood risks and are beginning to address community needs through the Community Flood Preparedness Fund (CFPF).¹ Moving forward, effective planning and project implementation across agencies will require more funding and extensive capacity and coordination at both state and local levels; under-resourced, small, and rural communities that do not have the capacity to address flood risk on their own will need additional support.

WITHIN 60 YEARS, NEARLY 1 MILLION VIRGINIANS WILL BE AT RISK OF MAJOR COASTAL FLOODING



For example, the CFPF, funded solely through Virginia's participation in the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI),² distributed \$97.7 million statewide to 98 projects in 2021 and 2022. The program helps build local capacity, ensures at least 25% of distributed funding goes to under-resourced communities, and prioritizes nature-based projects. However, the most recent round of funding was heavily oversubscribed and with only one round of funding anticipated in late 2023, demand will be high, particularly for grants.

The Resilient Virginia Revolving Fund (RVRF), established in 2021, has \$25 million appropriated but lacks the CFPF's low-income set-aside and emphasis on nature-based solutions. Both funds need more consistent transparency, accountability, and oversight.

SOLUTION

An equitable and comprehensive approach to flood resilience is needed to protect Virginia's people, places, economy, and natural resources. State agencies must have clear direction to collaborate and adapt their programs and services to respond to climate change effectively. The continued prioritization and engagement of lowincome, rural, and tribal communities is essential; DCR, DEQ, VDEM, and VMRC should assist lowresource localities with technical assistance in grant writing, regulation implementation, and planning.

Virginia must demonstrate its commitment to resilience by appropriating general funds to the CFPF to begin meeting demand and have matching funds available for the generational federal funding opportunities the IIJA and IRA will provide over the next several years. To ensure resources are used in alignment with the Commonwealth's Resilience Guiding Principles,³ DCR should establish a project prioritization process connected to the CFPF award scoring process.

In 2022, the Youngkin Administration made

meaningful transparency commitments regarding CFPF and RVRF decision-making, including publishing all funding applications and scoring, soliciting public comment on guidance manuals, and establishing a public stakeholder panel to help evaluate applications. These commitments should be codified to ensure they are maintained across administrations.

Finally, we must ensure more funding from these programs is directed to the most significant needs — protecting under-resourced communities from floodplaing and reducing highrisk development in floodplains. To that end, the RVRF should incorporate the CFPF's required 25% set aside for under-resourced communities and include an explicit preference for projects that fund voluntary relocations of high-risk housing from floodplains, coupled with natural floodplain restoration.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

No less than \$200 million in general funds to the Community Flood Preparedness Fund (CFPF) without impacting other natural resources funding.

Authorize and empower a standalone Chief Resilience Officer and no less than six FTEs to facilitate interagency collaboration and leverage resources, and identify resilience coordinators within agencies.

Establish a project prioritization process connected to DCR's flood risk planning and available funding sources. DCR, DEQ, VDEM, and VMRC should assist low-resourced localities with technical assistance, grant writing, regulation implementation, and planning.

Establish CFPF and Resilient Virginia Revolving Fund (RVRF) transparency commitments.

Require 25% of RVRF funds go to underresourced communities; prioritize projects that reduce high-risk development and restore natural floodplains.

SAFEGUARDING VIRGINIA'S WETLANDS *FLOOD & CLIMATE RESILIENCY*

Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Betsy Nicholas // Potomac Riverkeeper Network // betsy@prknetwork.org Mark Sabath // Southern Environmental Law Center // msabath@selcva.org Mary-Carson Stiff // Wetlands Watch // mc.stiff@wetlandswatch.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

By removing federal protections from vast swaths of wetlands, the Supreme Court's 2023 decision in Sackett v. EPA emphasizes the crucial role that state and local authorities must now play to preserve these critical resources that mitigate the impacts of flooding and filter pollution. The future of Virginia's wetlands depends on safeguarding the Commonwealth's existing wetlands protection programs and ensuring that agencies receive sufficient funding to fill the federal gap.

CHALLENGE

Wetlands — swamps, marshes, and other areas inundated or saturated by surface or groundwater — play a critical role in reducing storm surge and absorbing rainfall, regulating water quality, trapping carbon, and providing habitat for wildlife. Virginia has an exceptional diversity of wetlands, from forested swamps and upland bogs to tidal freshwater and salt marshes.

VIRGINIA IS EXPECTED TO LOSE AS MUCH AS 89% OF EXISTING TIDAL WETLANDS BY 2080 DUE TO CLIMATE-INDUCED SEA-LEVEL RISE

But those wetlands are also disappearing at an all-too-rapid pace. Virginia has already lost to development approximately half of the wetlands that existed in the 1780s.¹ and the Commonwealth is projected to lose as much as 89% of its existing tidal wetlands by 2080 due to climate-induced sea-level rise if we do not plan for wetlands migration.² To meet the goals of the Chesapeake Bay Total Maximum Daily Load, Virginia's Phase III Watershed Implementation Plan calls for the restoration of hundreds of acres of wetlands across each of the Bay's tributaries³ — but Virginia is not on track to achieve this initiative. Restoration efforts are simply not enough. We must ensure that our existing wetlands can survive the pace of sea level rise by migrating landward.

For more than 50 years, Virginia has benefited from its partnership with the federal government to protect the Commonwealth's wetlands. But the Supreme Court's 2023 decision in Sackett v. EPA removes federal protections from vast swaths of the nation's wetlands, with severe repercussions for water quality and flood control in Virginia. It now falls largely to our existing state tidal and nontidal wetlands regulations, and to state and local decision-makers charged with enforcing these regulations, to protect the wetlands that support Virginia's communities, local economies, and cherished resources such as the Chesapeake Bay.

SOLUTION

Virginia has the benefit of longstanding state laws to protect its state waters, which the General Assembly has defined broadly to include "all water. on the surface and under the ground" within its borders, "including wetlands."4 The Virginia Marine Resources Commission (VMRC) and local wetlands boards administer a permitting program for the protection of tidal wetlands under the Tidal Wetlands Act.⁵ The Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) regulates activities that disturb either tidal or nontidal wetlands under the Virginia Water Protection Program,⁶ with a policy of no net loss of wetland acreage and function.⁷ And the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act establishes buffer zones to help protect the integrity of wetlands from shoreline development.⁸ These buffers represent the wetlands of the future as sea levels rise. In the absence of federal involvement, it will be crucial for these state programs to effectively delineate and safeguard wetlands, including landward areas that can serve as areas for tidal wetland migration.

These efforts cannot be accomplished without a substantial boost in agency personnel and funding. Just four years ago, DEQ reported that compensating for reduced federal wetlands protections would require additional funding to hire and train new personnel.⁹ In 2012, Virginia estimated that administering a wetlands permitting program as robust as the federal Clean Water Act Section 404 program would cost \$18 million up

front to implement and \$3.4 million annually afterward.¹⁰ Clearly, the agencies that administer Virginia's wetlands programs — DEQ, VMRC, and local wetlands boards — will require far more resources than they currently have.

In light of the withdrawal of federal protections for wetlands due to the Sackett decision, it will be critical for Virginia to ward off any attempt to weaken its existing wetlands laws. Some of Virginia's most essential natural resources hang in the balance.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Preserve Virginia's existing "no net loss" approach to wetlands protection.

Increase funding for DEQ, VMRC, and local wetlands boards to enable the agencies to delineate wetlands, provide quality-control reviews of third-party delineations, and effectively implement wetlands permitting programs.

Maintain Virginia's ability to enact and implement wetlands protections that are more comprehensive than those under federal law.

Wading in the Water – Back Bay, Virginia Beach Photo by Sue Mangan



Dragonfly (anisoptera) – Occoquan Bay National Wildlife Refuge Photo by Blaine Fitzgerald

LAND & WILDLIFE CONSERVATION

Conservation of Virginia's lands is crucial to protecting our natural resource base. Protected lands directly support clean water and air, healthy wildlife populations, beautiful views, food security, culture and history, a sense of place, and improved physical and mental health. Virginia's landscapes also help support the backbone of its economy: agriculture, forestry, and tourism. However, land conservation efforts are consistently under development pressure. There are many ways to help ensure landscapes are protected for their many benefits including expanding local food systems, conserving tree canopies, restoring and connecting terrestrial and aquatic habitats, and keeping cultural history and resources intact for future generations to appreciate.

LAND CONSERVATION SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION

NVESTING IN VIRGINIA'S HERITAGE & FUTURE	
PRESERVING FARMLAND	
PROTECTING HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES	
JTDOOR RECREATION SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	
NVESTING IN CONSERVATION & OUTDOOR RECREATION	
STRENGTHENING PARK FUNDING	
RGINIA'S FLORA & FAUNA SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	
ASSESSING TREE CANOPY LOSS	
CONNECTING WILDLIFE HABITATS	
INSURING SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES	

3

__9 **13** _15

17

23 25 27

"Mountains with Glow" – Shenandoah, Va Photo by Andre Eanes

EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

INVESTING IN VIRGINIA'S HERITAGE & FUTURE

Across Virginia's coast, piedmont, and mountains, we have a wealth of natural and cultural resources that are closely tied to the state's heritage and integral to its future. These resources are assets vital to the state's economic, social, and environmental health. Caring for these assets and ensuring they are accessible to every Virginian requires state investment in conservation. Thanks to forethought from past administrations and legislatures, Virginia has strong programs and tools. These mechanisms simply need sufficient, consistent, and dedicated funding to ensure Virginia's future generations have the kind of Commonwealth we want to leave to them.

Michael Kane // Piedmont Environmental Council // mkane@pecva.org Elizabeth Mizell // Blue Ridge PRISM // beth@blueridgeprism.org Alan Rowsome // Northern Virginia Conservation Trust // arowsome@nvct.org

PRESERVING FARMLAND

311

Farmland provides varied and important benefits to all Virginians. Besides the direct food and fiber outputs that form the basis of Virginia's economy, Virginia farms maintain open space, mitigate flood risks, create jobs, support associated businesses, unite vibrant communities, sustain wildlife, and provide opportunities to restore clean water and sequester carbon. These benefits are not guaranteed. Retaining working farms for the future requires commitment and action from the government and citizens to preserve farmland, increase access to land ownership – particularly for marginalized communities, and encourage farming practices that benefit our shared natural resources.

Adam Schellhammer // Valley Conservation Council // Adam@valleyconservation.org Kevin Tate // Alliance for the Shenandoah Valley // ktate@shenandoahalliance.org

PROTECTING HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES

From Chief Powhatan's capital, Werowocomoco, to American Revolution and Civil War battlefields, to Rosenwald schools and sites related to the struggle for Civil Rights, Virginia's unique and diverse array of historic and cultural resources tell the story of our Commonwealth and nation. Robust support for existing programs as well as exploration of broadening preservation tools available to protect these resources is critically important to ensure their benefit to current and future generations and supports key industries, including agriculture and tourism. We recognize that certain historic resources without proper context can be painful reminders of racial injustice and it is important that we support efforts to recontextualize these resources as appropriate.

Max Hokit // American Battlefield Trust // mhokit@battlefields.org Elizabeth Kostelny // Preservation Virginia // ekostelny@preservationvirginia.org



VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation Programs // pat@vcnva.org

INVESTING IN VIRGINIA'S HERITAGE & FUTURE LAND CONSERVATION

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Across Virginia's coast, piedmont, and mountains, we have a wealth of natural and cultural resources that are closely tied to the state's heritage and integral to its future. These resources are assets vital to the state's economic, social, and environmental health. Caring for these assets and ensuring they are accessible to every Virginian requires state investment in conservation. Thanks to forethought from past administrations and legislatures, Virginia has strong programs and tools. These mechanisms simply need sufficient, consistent, and dedicated funding to ensure Virginia's future generations have the kind of Commonwealth we want to leave to them.

CHALLENGE

Now is the time to expand conservation efforts. Without conservation, we will lose the places that grow our food, ensure the quality of our drinking water supplies, preserve habitat for wildlife, sequester carbon, and provide healthy outdoor spaces for Virginia families.

Pantone Sunset –Montebello. Va Photo by Lauren Kaufmann Across the demographic spectrum, Virginians have a conservation ethic. However, recent state budget spending on natural resources, state parks, and recreation is less than one percent. The 2018 Virginia Outdoors Plan calls for additional funding.¹ The consequences of this lack of spending are real: lost opportunities to conserve more land and insufficient public access to lands that are already protected.

Virginia needs to fund existing and proven conservation mechanisms commensurate with demand and to match other sources of funding. Increasing state funding for conservation will leverage unprecedented federal dollars through the Great American Outdoors Act, the Inflation Reduction Act, and strong private-sector support for conservation. If state matching funds are not provided to unlock these federal dollars, Virginia will miss out.

Our conservation efforts must acknowledge historic and current disparities in the allocation of resources and the related impact on some segments of the population, most notably native peoples and more broadly people of color. Addressing conservation needs and opportunities presents a vivid demonstration of a shared commitment to overcome past inequity, expand accessibility, and provide protection of our land and water resources important to all.

SOLUTION

More than 80% of land in Virginia is privately owned. Tools and funding are needed for landowners to conserve their land. Fortunately, the Commonwealth has effective land conservation programs already in place, but they must be funded robustly and consistently to meet the growing demands of our time:

LAND PRESERVATION TAX CREDIT (LPTC)

One of the most successful and progressive private land conservation programs in the country. It encourages voluntary land conservation by providing tax credits equal to 40% of the value of donated land or conservation easements.

VIRGINIA LAND CONSERVATION FOUNDATION (VLCF)

Provides state matching grants on a competitive basis for the protection of open spaces and parks, natural areas, historic areas, and farmland and forest preservation.

VIRGINIA FARMLAND PRESERVATION FUND

Provides matching funds to leverage significant local, federal, and private funding sources to protect the state's best farmland.

VIRGINIA BATTLEFIELD PRESERVATION FUND

Provides matching funds to leverage significant local, federal, and private funding sources to preserve historically-significant places.

BLACK, INDIGENOUS AND PEOPLE OF COLOR (BIPOC) HISTORIC PRESERVATION FUND

This new fund improves the preservation of BIPOC historic and cultural resources.

VIRGINIA OUTDOOR FOUNDATION'S GET OUTDOORS PROGRAM

An existing program that is much more accessible for small rural and urban localities and nonprofit organizations than Virginia's other grant programs.

These essential programs must be augmented by a permanent, dedicated source of revenue that serves the wide array of conservation needs and opportunities, from pocket parks to productive farmland. Programs that support urban conservation and underserved communities with a sustained source of reliable funds will also allow localities to better plan their outdoor recreation infrastructure investments with certainty that their needs will be met.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$90 million per year to the LPTC. The entire 2% of the Transfer Fee should go to managing the LPTC and stewardship of protected land, no amount should be diverted to the General Fund.

\$30 million per year for the VLCF.

\$5 million per year for the Virginia Farmland Preservation Fund.

\$5 million per year for the Virginia Battlefield Preservation Fund.

\$5 million per year for the new Virginia BIPOC Historic Preservation Fund

\$5million peryear to extend Virginia Outdoors Foundation's Get Outdoors program (GO) throughout the Commonwealth.

Support additional staff at state agencies: VOF, DCR, DOF, DWR, and VDACS' Office of Farmland Preservation. Bolster professional resources available from the Office of the Attorney General and Department of General Services to ensure the effectiveness of conservation agencies.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Farmland provides varied and important benefits to all Virginians. Besides the direct food and fiber outputs that form the basis of Virginia's economy, Virginia farms maintain open space, mitigate flood risks, create jobs, support associated businesses, unite vibrant communities, sustain wildlife, and provide opportunities to restore clean water and sequester carbon. These benefits are not guaranteed. Retaining working farms for the future requires commitment and action from the government and citizens to preserve farmland, increase access to land ownership – particularly for marginalized communities, and encourage farming practices that benefit our shared natural resources.

CHALLENGE

Forty percent of Virginia's farmland is considered nationally significant - the category best suited for growing food. However, Virginia nationally ranks 7th for the most acres and 12th for the largest percent of agricultural land to be converted to non-agricultural uses in the US by 2040.¹ Losing productive farmland has an outsized economic impact on the state, as agriculture produced about 8.7% of the state's total economic output in 2021 and accounted for 381,844 jobs. About one of every 13 jobs in Virginia is tied to the agricultural industry.²

Purchase of Development Rights (PDR) programs are a tool for localities to protect highly productive and locally important farmland. Current funding for PDR programs is insufficient to meet demand from localities. Matching fund requirements prevent localities, with limited financial resources and technical capacity, from participating in such programs. Local governments also lack the capacity to monitor and steward conservation easements that they hold. State law currently limits experienced, accredited nonprofit land trusts to the role of co-holders of conservation easements that are established with state funding. This creates an unnecessary burden for local governments and hinders land conservation.

AGRICULTURE PRODUCED 8.7% OF VIRGINIA'S TOTAL ECONOMIC OUTPUT AND ACCOUNTED FOR 381,844 JOBS

Additionally, current investment in innovation grants are insufficient to support thriving local agricultural networks. Farmland can capture and clean water, sequester carbon in healthy soils, provide wildlife habitat, and build generational wealth in marginalized populations when managed to do so. Policies and programs that encourage the adoption of sustainable farming practices that produce these co-benefits and increase market access for small farms and historically underserved farmers are crucial to ensure these benefits at the local and state scale.

SOLUTION

Protecting agricultural lands from conversion to non-agricultural uses ensures that Virginia keeps its strong agricultural foundation and maintains opportunities to meet other conservation goals.

The cost and administrative burden to localities of participating in PDR programs must be lowered. Programs to purchase easements could achieve more with adequate funding. Enhanced funding for the Virginia Land Conservation Foundation and the Farmland Preservation Fund will allow Virginia's state agencies, local jurisdictions, and private land trusts to tap significantly more Federal Agricultural Land Easement funding. A \$5 million increase in the Farmland Protection Fund could generate an additional \$5 million in federal funding to achieve conservation outcomes. The lower price of farmland without development rights (because of involvement in PDR programs) can provide opportunities for historically underserved producers to access farmland.

Increasing the grant funding to develop local processing infrastructure and markets will increase the prosperity of farmers and their communities. Such investments will improve the ability for small and medium-scale farmers to create successful agricultural businesses, retain farmland, feed their communities, and implement the kinds of sustainable farming practices that maintain habitats, improve soils, clean water, and withstand severe weather events.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Lower locality's PDR match requirement to 25%.

Remove co-holding requirements for easements funded by the Virginia Land Conservation Foundation.

\$500,000 per year through the Office of Farmland Preservation to help localities develop PDR ordinances, advise on best zoning practices for preserving farmland, consider equity in ranking projects that get funded, and provide training and technical assistance to enhance monitoring and enforcement.

\$5 million per year for the VA Farmland Preservation Fund.

\$1 million per year for the Governor's Agriculture and Forestry Industry Development Fund infrastructure program.



PROTECTING HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES LAND CONSERVATION

Max Hokit // American Battlefield Trust // mhokit@battlefields.org Elizabeth Kostelny // Preservation Virginia // ekostelny@preservationvirginia.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

From Chief Powhatan's capital, Werowocomoco, to American Revolution and Civil War battlefields. to Rosenwald schools and sites related to the struggle for Civil Rights, Virginia's unique and diverse array of historic and cultural resources tell the story of our Commonwealth and nation. Robust support for existing programs as well as exploration of broadening preservation tools available to protect these resources is critically important to ensure their benefit to current and future generations and supports key industries, including agriculture and tourism. We recognize that certain historic resources without proper context can be painful reminders of racial injustice and it is important that we support efforts to recontextualize these resources as appropriate.

CHALLENGE

The programs below are the essential tools of historic and cultural conservation in the Commonwealth. Strong support for these programs will continue Virginia's role as a leader in this space.

HISTORIC REHABILITATION TAX CREDIT (HRTC)

Urban and rural communities leverage this catalytic community redevelopment and economic development tool to adapt and reuse older structures. Economic studies¹ offer compelling data that construction and related activities associated with HRTC projects generate \$4.20 to \$5.30 of economic impact for every \$1.00 of tax credit.²

LAND CONSERVATION

The Virginia Land Conservation Fund (VLCF), the Virginia Battlefield Preservation Fund (VBPF), and the Land Preservation Tax Credit are the cornerstones of land conservation in Virginia. The VLCF funds a range of conservation projects in rural and urban areas. VBPF is targeted exclusively toward preserving historic battlefields. VBPF grants are often matched with federal dollars from the National Park Service's American Battlefield Protection Program, resulting in the preservation of 693 acres in the last two years alone^{3,4}

HISTORIC REHABILITATION PROJECTS Generates up to \$5.30 for every \$1.00 Spent in tax credits

AFRICAN AMERICAN AND INDIGENOUS RESOURCES

The creation of the new Virginia Black, Indigenous, and People of Color (BIPOC) Historic Preservation Fund offers opportunities for a more complete telling of Virginia history by preserving BIPOC sites that have been disproportionately marginalized in the past.5 Funding in 2024-26 should be maintained at \$10 million over the biennium budget.

SOLUTION

The state has tremendous opportunities to advance the preservation of Virginia's historic and cultural resources by enhancing our existing programs and initiatives. Given the proven return on the Commonwealth's investment from the HRTC, and the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we urge the state to protect and maintain the HRTC in order to help with the state's economic recovery, and to give particular consideration to HRTC projects with the potential to benefit under-represented communities.

On the land conservation front, fully funding both VLCF and VBPF is of critical importance to helping save Virginia's battlefields and other historic sites before they are lost to development. This year's increase in funding to VLCF is an important step forward, but even more can be done. With regard to African American and Virginia Indigenous resources, the recent emphasis that the General Assembly has placed on elevating under-told stories is encouraging. In particular, the creation of the new Virginia Black, Indigenous, and People of Color Historic Preservation Fund offers opportunities for a more complete telling of Virginia's history by preserving BIPOC sites that have been disproportionately excluded in the past. Increased funding, recognition, and protection for these resources across the Commonwealth is essential.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Maintain the Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credit program.

- \$30 million per year for the VLCF and \$5 million per year for the Virginia Battlefield Preservation Fund.
- Adjust the VLCF to be accessible for the preservation of sites that highlight Virginia's culturally diverse history.

\$5 million per year for the Virginia BIPOC Historic Preservation Fund.





INVESTING IN CONSERVATION & OUTDOOR RECREATION

Outdoor recreation connects people to the amazing landscapes and natural resources which make Virginia special. Investing in conservation and outdoor recreation is a priority but Virginia lacks a dedicated source of funding to support projects. Virginia should continue to prioritize conservation and outdoor recreation by commissioning a statewide study and workgroup to research dedicated funding mechanisms, so we can conserve land, protect water, and invest in public access infrastructure that makes outdoor recreation possible. Appointing a Director for the Office of Outdoor Recreation and conducting a study on the outdoor recreation economy will elevate outdoor recreation and associated benefits across the Commonwealth.

Elliot Caldwell // East Coast Greenway Alliance // elliott@greenway.org Justin Doyle // James River Association // jdoyle@thejamesriver.org Kyle Lawrence // Shenandoah Valley Bicycle Coalition // kyle@svbcoalition.org

STRENGTHENING PARK FUNDING

The history of parks in Virginia is rooted in the idea that people need access to public spaces outside of home, school, and work where they can recreate and develop as citizens. Shared public green spaces serve as the center of commerce, organization, and social interaction for community members. Parks are important places where people go to exercise, organize, recreate, and relax. Parks also give municipalities the opportunity to display their values through a shared public space and are vital to the fabric of many communities. Consistent funding for parks gives Virginians more opportunities to grow, and as a result, will make Virginia a more desirable place to live, play, and work.

Cat Anthony // Virginia Capital Trail Foundation // cat @virginiacapitaltrail.org Josh Stutz // Friends of the James River Park // josh@jamesriverpark.org

OUTDOOR RECREATION

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation Programs // pat@vcnva.org

INVESTING IN CONSERVATION & OUTDOOR RECREATION OUTDOOR RECREATION

Elliot Caldwell // East Coast Greenway Alliance // elliott@greenway.org Justin Doyle // James River Association // jdoyle@thejamesriver.org Kyle Lawrence // Shenandoah Valley Bicycle Coalition // kyle@svbcoalition.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Outdoor recreation connects people to the amazing landscapes and natural resources which make Virginia special. Investing in conservation and outdoor recreation is a priority but Virginia lacks a dedicated source of funding to support projects. Virginia should continue to prioritize conservation and outdoor recreation by commissioning a statewide study and workgroup to research dedicated funding mechanisms, so we can conserve land, protect water, and invest in public access infrastructure that makes outdoor recreation possible. Appointing a Director for the Office of Outdoor Recreation and conducting a study on the outdoor recreation economy will elevate outdoor recreation and associated benefits across the Commonwealth.

CHALLENGE

Virginia State Parks, Wildlife Management Areas, State Forests, Natural Area Preserves, statewide trail systems, and bodies of water are wonderful places for Virginians and visitors to connect to the outdoors. Outdoor recreation on public lands and waterways contributes to our high quality of life, employs 106,993 Virginians, and generates \$9.4 billion for our economy annually.¹ But for too many Virginians, public lands and waterways are inaccessible due to barriers including their distance from home and lack of inclusive facilities. Additionally, race and income play a role in determining the quality and size of parks and green spaces to which individuals have access in their communities. More affluent and predominantly White neighborhoods tend to have access to higher quality park systems with more acreage than those with larger low-income and Latino or Black populations.² Simply put, we need additional investment in conservation and outdoor recreation projects to ensure Virginians can access the outdoors and enjoy the benefits of outdoor recreation.

Existing conservation programs have been inconsistently funded and are not designed for

all conservation needs. The lack of dedicated funding to support conservation and outdoor recreation projects is a significant shortcoming as Virginia ranks near the bottom compared to other states' spending on natural resources.³

VIRGINIA RANKS NEAR THE BOTTOM COMPARED TO OTHER STATES' SPENDING ON NATURAL RESOURCES

SOLUTION

Virginia needs a dedicated source of funding for conservation and outdoor recreation projects to ensure residents and visitors, who bring dollars into our economy, can enjoy places that make our Commonwealth a special place to live and visit. Other states have adopted a variety of dedicated funding programs, the strongest of which were established through constitutional amendments or statutes. By establishing a stable, dedicated funding source for natural resources conservation and outdoor recreation, we can protect the land and water that make Virginia special and invest in public access infrastructure that facilitates outdoor recreation. Additionally. appointing a Director for the Office of Outdoor Recreation and studying the economic impact of outdoor recreation will expand the benefits of outdoor recreation and quantify them.

Furthermore, let's ensure resources are available to fund local parks, green spaces, and public access infrastructure projects by fully funding the Virginia Land Conservation Fund (VLCF). Doing so will increase funding available for community park and green space projects by including the Virginia Outdoors Foundation's Preservation Trust Fund and Get Outdoors grant programs. See additional policy paper recommendations to fund these programs in INVESTING IN VIRGINIA'S HERITAGE & FUTURE (pg 33), PROTECTING HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES (pg 37), STRENGTHENING PARK FUNDING (pg 43), and ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS (pg 83).

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Commission a statewide study and interagency workgroup to research dedicated funding mechanisms for natural resources and develop innovative funding strategies that meet the unique needs and challenges of the state. The workgroup would be supported by the Secretariat of Natural and Historic Resources.

Appoint a Director for the Office of Outdoor Recreation within the Secretariat of Natural and Historic Resources to coordinate across outdoor recreation programs in state agencies and partnerships to expand the benefits of outdoor recreation and enhance state competitiveness.

\$500,000 to be administered by the Virginia Tourism Corporation and Secretariat of Commerce and Trade to develop a scope of work and plan to study the economic impact and financial outcomes for outdoor recreation and related tourism as recommended by the current Virginia Outdoors Plan.⁴

"Fishing Reflected" – Norfolk, Va Photo bySue Mangan



STRENGTHENING PARK FUNDING *OUTDOOR RECREATION*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The history of parks in Virginia is rooted in the idea that people need access to public spaces outside of home, school, and work where they can recreate and develop as citizens. Shared public green spaces serve as the center of commerce, organization, and social interaction for community members. Parks are important places where people go to exercise, organize, recreate, and relax. Parks also give municipalities the opportunity to display their values through a shared public space and are vital to the fabric of many communities. Consistent funding for parks gives Virginians more opportunities to grow, and as a result, will make Virginia a more desirable place to live, play, and work.

CHALLENGE

State and local governments face competing priorities when making funding decisions. Budget constraints, lack of public awareness, inconsistent funding sources, and political priorities are all reasons that parks funding has been inconsistent. These funding inconsistencies have forced parks departments to defer maintenance and improvement projects, decrease public programming, and limit environmental conservation efforts.

FUNDING INCONSISTENCIES HAVE FORCED PARKS DEPARTMENTS TO DEFER MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS

Additionally, more affluent and predominantly White neighborhoods tend to have access to higher quality park systems with more acreage than those with larger low-income and Latinx or Black populations, which can lead to negative effects on health outcomes in these groups.² We must prioritize addressing inequitable access to parks, green spaces, and bodies of water in Virginia by identifying places where access is poor and making investments in new parks, green spaces, water access, and trails.

SOLUTION

Parks are essential components of healthy and thriving communities. The government of the Commonwealth should be used as a force multiplier to encourage our local communities to invest more in parks to ensure their preservation and development. Increased funding from the Commonwealth would enable parks departments to improve and maintain park facilities, enhance public programs, and protect more natural areas.

Increased maintenance and infrastructure funding will make parks more appealing to visitors. Based on a 2022 presentation from the Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR), the agency has a maintenance backlog of over \$240 million.³ Well-maintained parks attract visitors and provide safe and accessible spaces for recreation and relaxation. Upgraded amenities such as playgrounds, trails, picnic areas, and sports fields drive tourism and contribute to economic growth.⁴ Additionally, access to the outdoors is not shared equitably because of many factors including race and different ability levels. Creating a statewide outdoor access equity model is the first step in determining where investments in parks are essential

Increased funding for programming would also allow municipal park organizations to expand and enhance recreational opportunities for the citizens they serve. Parks play a vital role in providing opportunities for community engagement, social interaction, and cultural enrichment. Additional classes, workshops, events, and youth activities would be allowed to thrive if increased and consistent funding could be provided.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$57M per year for the DCR's State Parks to support essential staffing, programs, and backlog of maintenance issues.

Create a statewide Outdoor Access Equity Model with stakeholder input through DCR.

\$5M per year to the Virginia Outdoors Foundation for Get Outdoors Grant Program to encourage outdoor recreation programming.

Establish a \$1M, 50-50 matching grant program to be facilitated by DCR to encourage localities to invest in capital improvement projects or invasive species management in local parks.

Kayakers on Lake – Beaver Creek Park, Va Photo by Cassidy Girvin



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

ASSESSING TREE CANOPY LOSS

Virginia continues to lose both intact forest and urban tree canopy at an alarming rate. Despite committing to expand tree canopy in its Phase III WIP, Virginia suffered a net loss of 9,548 acres between 2014-2018. Because canopy loss contributes to degraded waterways and Virginia's ability to protect its residents from the impacts of climate change, such as inland flooding and negative health consequences of urban heat islands, Virginia needs to assess where and why canopy is lost and then address the findings through a mix of state regulation, incentives, and education as we move towards becoming a no-net loss state.

Renee Grebe // Nature Forward // renee.grebe@natureforward.org Ann Jurczyk // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // ajurczyk@cbf.org

CONNECTING WILDLIFE HABITATS

Wildlife must be able to move through our landscapes to acquire resources, find genetically diverse mates, and adapt to a changing climate. Roads, development, and other infrastructure can impede wildlife movement and create dangerous scenarios on our roadways for both wildlife and people. Virginia continues to build a network of connected landscapes and reduce human-wildlife conflict with the recent release of its Wildlife Corridor Action Plan (WCAP). However, funding and additional policy tools to empower our agencies to fast-track WCAP implementation are still needed to maintain and create resilient ecosystems in the Commonwealth.

Laura O'Brien // Piedmont Environmental Council // lobrien@pecva.org Erin Sito // Wildlands Network // e.sito@wildlandsnetwork.org David Sligh // Wild Virginia // david@wildvirginia.org

ENSURING SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES

Our Bay fisheries are important both culturally and economically to the Commonwealth. Virginia's fisheries managers continue to struggle with managing and rebuilding fish populations, including species such as blue crab, river herring, American shad, striped bass, menhaden, and sturgeon. The growing prevalence of new land uses and the impacts from climate change necessitate prioritizing investment in better understanding the cumulative impacts of these changes on our iconic fisheries.

Brent Hunsinger // Friends of the Rappahannock // brent.hunsinger@riverfriends.org Chris Moore // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // cmoore@cbf.org

VIRGINIA'S FLORA & FAUNA

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation Programs // pat@vcnva.org

ASSESSING TREE CANOPY LOSS VIRGINIA'S FLORA & FAUNA

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia continues to lose both intact forest and urban tree canopy at an alarming rate. Despite committing to expand tree canopy in its Phase III WIP, Virginia suffered a net loss of 9,548 acres between 2014-2018.¹ Because canopy loss contributes to degraded waterways and Virginia's ability to protect its residents from the impacts of climate change, such as inland flooding and negative health consequences of urban heat islands,² Virginia needs to assess where and why canopy is lost and then address the findings through a mix of state regulation, incentives, and education as we move towards becoming a nonet loss state.

CHALLENGE

It is easy to find examples of forested lands being cleared or an individual tree being removed, but understanding these losses in aggregate how many acres are lost statewide and why – is more challenging. High-resolution land cover data became available for the Chesapeake Bay watershed states in 2020, which led to an understanding of the net change in forest and tree canopy by jurisdiction and forest transitions to other land covers and uses. But questions remain that, if answered, would drive Virginia to take steps to slow and eventually reverse the loss.

For example, how healthy are Virginia's forests? How many acres of canopy have been lost to emerald ash borer and where? Where do forest fragments exist (fragments are more susceptible to invasive species)? Which localities are being impacted by infrastructure projects such as road and energy right-of-way expansions? How is saltwater intrusion impacting coastal tree canopy? How are infill development and exurban sprawl reducing the number of mature trees in neighborhoods? Where are homeowners removing healthy trees and why? How can we be sure tree canopy is equitably distributed?³

Virginia needs a baseline understanding of its forest and urban tree canopy and a tree canopy analysis at a local scale that provides context for the loss. the "why."

SOLUTION

The high-resolution land cover data shows land use changes between 2014 and 2018, illustrating how many acres changed from forest to impervious surface for instance.³ An updated land cover dataset⁴ will be released in early 2024, showing land use changes between 2018-2022. We anticipate seeing that canopy loss has accelerated since 2018 due to increased development activities, road expansion, energy infrastructure expansions, disease, and homeowner removal. As soon as new data is available, completing an updated technical assessment of Virginia's tree canopy will build awareness and understanding of Virginia's tree canopy loss so that legislators, homeowners, local government planners, and elected leaders can take steps to address and hopefully reverse the trend.

This assessment will also help local governments establish the need for additional authority to better manage their tree canopy, such as establishing a tree fund and setting a floor on tree canopy replacement percentages when land is developed at no less than amounts in current code.

Not understanding the pace and drivers of loss contributes to a lack of urgency to find funding, program, and policy solutions to address it. Since it takes decades for newly planted trees to provide the carbon reduction, water and air guality, and wildlife benefits of mature trees, time is of the essence. For the state to achieve no net loss, we will need to adopt measures that protect existing canopy and replace what cannot be preserved.

Tree Cover Status & Change

FOR HENRICO COUNTY, VA



\$30.7 Million Annual Benefits provided by Tree Cover

-1037 Acres Net Loss of Tree Cover on

Developed Lands, 2014 to 2018



POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$500,000 for DOF to fund a statewide tree canopy and forest health assessment using the highresolution 2018-2022 dataset to determine the drivers of forest and urban tree canopy loss, including disease, infrastructure (road widening and linear energy corridors), in-fill and greenfield development, saltwater intrusion, and homeowner removal.

CONNECTING WILDLIFE HABITATS *VIRGINIA'S FLORA & FAUNA*

Laura O'Brien // Piedmont Environmental Council // lobrien@pecva.org Erin Sito // Wildlands Network // e.sito@wildlandsnetwork.org David Sligh // Wild Virginia // david@wildvirginia.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Wildlife must be able to move through our landscapes to acquire resources, find genetically diverse mates, and adapt to a changing climate. Roads, development, and other infrastructure can impede wildlife movement and create dangerous scenarios on our roadways for both wildlife and people. Virginia continues to build a network of connected landscapes and reduce human-wildlife conflict with the recent release of its Wildlife Corridor Action Plan (WCAP).¹ However, funding and additional policy tools to empower our agencies to fast-track WCAP implementation are still needed to maintain and create resilient ecosystems in the Commonwealth.

CHALLENGE

Locations where infrastructure cuts through wildlife habitat and where roads and streams intersect – "stream crossings" – present barriers

to wildlife movement and fragment habitat. For terrestrial wildlife, this can result in fatal wildlifevehicle collisions with far-reaching consequences of biodiversity loss and disruption of delicate ecosystems. In some cases, wildlife-vehicle collisions result in severe injuries or fatalities for drivers and passengers. Virginia experiences a high number of these collisions each year. We are considered a "high-risk state" for deer-vehicle collisions, "with more than 60,000 incidents per year according to insurance claims estimates."2 This includes 10,000 serious human injuries and 200 fatalities each year.³ Deer collisions are also becoming more expensive, with the most recent national estimates costing almost \$20,000 per collision.4

VIRGINIA IS A "HIGH-RISK STATE" FOR DEER-VEHICLE COLLISIONS WITH MORE THAN 60,000 INCIDENTS PER YEAR



For aquatic wildlife, stream crossings are a leading cause of habitat fragmentation – particularly when culverts are undersized. According to the North Atlantic Aquatic Connectivity Collaborative database, of nearly 2,500 stream crossings assessed throughout Virginia from 2015 to 2023, 57% posed a barrier to fish passage. Specifically, 1,377 stream crossings, out of the 2,418 assessed, posed either a minor barrier, moderate barrier, significant barrier, or severe barrier.⁵

Recognizing the far-reaching severity of Virginia's habitat fragmentation issues, the Virginia Department of Wildlife Resources, Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation, Virginia Department of Transportation (VDOT), and the Virginia Department of Forestry recently released its WCAP highlighting several potential strategies and opportunities to further study and mitigate wildlife-vehicle conflicts and improve habitat connectivity for terrestrial and aquatic species.

SOLUTION

Fortunately, creating various types of wildlife crossings can improve habitat connectivity, motorist safety, and the flood-resilience of infrastructure. Wildlife crossings have already proven themselves an effective solution in Virginia. A Virginia Transportation Research Council study monitored wildlife-vehicle collisions before and after the agency erected directional fencing intended to funnel deer to culverts. Deer-vehicle collisions in the area fell by an average of 92% after the fencing was installed.⁶ While wildlife overpasses are what the general public usually envision when they think of a crossing, wildlife underpasses through large culverts and beneath bridges can often provide a less expensive and equally effective solution, as is evidenced by this example.

At stream crossings specifically, culvert enlargement projects can include affordable dry passage features, making the projects beneficial for both aquatic and terrestrial wildlife species. Moreover, enlarged culverts accommodate more water flow, which increases infrastructure resiliency during flood events, and results in less long-term maintenance costs. As a result, improving culvert crossings can increase habitat connectivity, public safety, and climate resiliency benefits for the Commonwealth.

To achieve these mutual benefits, Virginia should adopt policies that require agencies to include wildlife passage features when pursuing bridge or culvert improvement projects in known connectivity hotspots. VDOT has already recommended that bridge designs should accommodate a 20% increase in rainfall intensity and 25% increase in discharge to account for future climate change impacts.7 Additionally including wildlife crossing infrastructure standards into Virginia's culvert and bridge design standards would simultaneously increase the environmental and public safety benefits provided by these projects. At a minimum, wildlife crossing infrastructure features should be required in the above construction projects that take place in Virginia's priority connectivity areas identified in its WCAP.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Create a Wildlife Corridor Grant Fund and appropriate \$5M to it over the biennium to attract additional private investments to that fund and help leverage the many new and expanded federal funding grants currently available to VDOT and the DWR for funnel fencing, culvert improvements, and other wildlife crossing and passage infrastructure projects.

Create a regulatory framework that requires VDOT to include wildlife passage features in known connectivity hotspots whenever bridge or culvert improvement projects are planned.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Our Bay fisheries are important both culturally and economically to the Commonwealth. Virginia's fisheries managers continue to struggle with managing and rebuilding fish populations, including species such as blue crab, river herring, American shad, striped bass, menhaden, and sturgeon. The growing prevalence of new land uses and the impacts from climate change necessitate prioritizing investment in better understanding the cumulative impacts of these changes on our iconic fisheries.

CHALLENGE

Data from the 2022 estimate of blue crab abundance¹ indicated the lowest numbers of blue crabs since the start of the winter dredge survey in 1989. Fortunately, this past year's data showed modest improvement in all sectors of the population.² However, numerous questions remain about the long-term health of the population, leading to the commencement of a new stock assessment which kicked off in the fall of 2022.

RECENT DATA INDICATED THE LOWEST NUMBERS OF BLUE CRABS SINCE 1989

An ongoing concern in the blue crab fishery has been the excess amount of crabbing gear being utilized to catch blue crabs, which lowers the catch per unit effort for watermen and increases the likelihood of lost gear. In order to help reduce this problem, a crab pot tagging program should be implemented in order to help ensure a more appropriate amount of gear is deployed by the fishery and aid the Virginia Marine Resources Commission (VMRC) in the management of the fishery.

Fishery managers, recreational anglers, conservation interests, and researchers have long raised concerns about the amount of menhaden

harvest in the Chesapeake Bay region. In addition, the fishery has been plagued in recent years by a quota exceedance, numerous fish spills that have washed up on area beaches, and the bycatch of highly managed species such as red drum.

Unfortunately, improved menhaden fishery management continues to be sidelined by a lack of data specific to the population of menhaden in the Chesapeake Bay. Current data is needed to better gauge the impacts that are taking place from climate change and the menhaden reduction fishery. Now is the time for Virginia to implement a comprehensive menhaden science program to ensure enhanced menhaden management in the future.

Virginia's fishery managers currently have little control over surface water withdrawals that kill billions of fish, shellfish, eggs, and larvae each year through impingement (organisms being pinned against mesh screens because of strong withdrawal velocity) or entrainment (organisms that go through a facility's water system because mesh size is too large). This chronic mortality threat is seldom subjected to independent monitoring and withdrawals and/or withdrawal rates are rarely limited during ecologically important times such as peak spawning season. Such withdrawals are becoming more common and are happening without the appropriate study of cumulative impacts on these natural resources in our river systems.

SOLUTION

The General Assembly should appropriate the necessary funds to implement a pilot crab pot tagging program for three years. This will allow VMRC to gauge the effectiveness of such a program in protecting the blue crab resource by easing the enforceability of management measures for the fishery and the feasibility of adopting such a program on a long-term basis.

Through SB 1388, the 2023 Virginia General Assembly tasked the Virginia Institute of Marine Science (VIMS) with developing plans for studying a host of important issues related to the ecology and economic impact of menhaden to the Commonwealth. After reviewing the outcomes of this work and continued dialogue with stakeholders, the General Assembly should direct VIMS and its appropriate partners such as the Atlantic States Marine Fisheries Commission, to begin this work and ensure appropriate funding of these efforts in order to ensure their timely completion.

Virginia must evaluate the cumulative impacts of all existing and proposed permitted and nonpermitted surface water withdrawal intakes on the mortality of fish larvae and eggs. Due to the host of permitting and fisheries questions that must be answered, the General Assembly should instruct the Virginia Department of Environmental Quality and VIMS to appropriately study the cumulative impacts from these projects in order to appropriately inform permitting decisions.

> Tiny Oyster – Carters Creek, Va Photo Jennifer Sagan



POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Fund a 3-year pilot program from the General Fund for crab pot tagging.

Direct DEQ to promptly enforce federal regulations implementing § 316(b) of the Clean Water Act for cooling water intakes at power plants to reduce impacts on fish populations.

Allocate funds to VIMS necessary to complete a comprehensive menhaden stock assessment in partnership with other Chesapeake Bay region management bodies and menhaden scientists.

Fund a study through the Virginia DEQ and VIMS on the cumulative impacts of existing and proposed permitted and non-permitted surface water withdrawal intakes in the Rappahannock, York, and James River Systems on the mortality of fish larvae and eggs. Use the results to inform permitting decisions.

LAND USE & TRANSPORTATION

Transportation represents the largest source of carbon pollution in Virginia. Whether the issue is air pollution, polluted water runoff, or the loss of natural landscapes to development, the ways in which we build and connect our communities are often part of the problem. In order to save our lungs and the planet, we need a rapid shift to a cleaner, more accessible, and more equitable transportation system. Thoughtfully building out denser, transit-oriented communities is the first step to reducing our vehicle miles traveled and carbon emissions. Electrifying our vehicle fleet and our buildings will support the transition to zero-carbon transportation. To protect our communities Virginia must expand our underfunded public transit systems, increase Virginia's rail capacity, and invest in transit-oriented communities.

LAND USE REFORM SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	3
MITIGATING DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT'S IMPACTS	5
DEPLOYING UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR RESPONSIBLY	7
UNLEASHING SUSTAINABLE HOUSING GROWTH	9
ELECTRIFICATION SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	13
ACCELERATING TRANSPORTATION ELECTRIFICATION	15
MAKING BUILDINGS CLEANER & SAFER	17
PUBLIC TRANSIT SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	23
TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION	25
MODERNIZING PUBLIC TRANSIT	27
EXPANDING RAIL	27
WALKING & BICYCLING SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	23
SAVING PEDESTRIAN LIVES	25
INCREASING ACCESS TO BICYCLING	27
ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS	27



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

MITIGATING DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT'S IMPACTS

Virginia is home to the largest concentration of data centers in the world, widely cited as hosting 70% of global internet traffic. This massive industry is continuing to grow very fast, requiring huge amounts of energy, land, and water to operate, resulting in widespread community impacts. Yet, the Commonwealth does not currently have any regulatory oversight of data center development and localities continue to approve more facilities without considering the cumulative impacts. This explosive growth of data centers threatens to derail state efforts to meet climate goals, improve air and water quality, advance land conservation, and protect national and state parks.

Julie Bolthouse // Piedmont Environmental Council // jbolthouse@pecva.org Kyle Hart // National Parks Conservation Association // khart@npca.org

DEPLOYING UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR RESPONSIBLY

Utility-scale solar facilities are a key component of Virginia's transition to a clean energy future. However, the Commonwealth must ensure that impacts on Virginia's farms, forests, and streams are minimized. Through regulations and incentives, we can encourage siting of solar facilities on already impacted lands such as brownfields and mine sites. Where facilities must be sited on lands with prime agricultural soils or forest, regulations are needed to minimize impacts. Further, best management practices, including the reduction of soil compaction and grading, and the use of appropriate stormwater runoff calculations, should be applied to reduce downstream water quality impacts.

Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org Patrick Fanning // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // PFanning@cbf.org Ashish Kapoor // Piedmont Environmental Council // AKapoor@pecva.org

UNLEASHING SUSTAINABLE HOUSING GROWTH

Where we live and how we get around drives a significant share of carbon emissions. Changing housing policies to allow for density, affordable housing, and mixed-use in developed areas lowers transportation and building emissions, reduces sprawl, preserves rural areas' farmlands and forests, and helps ensure low- and moderate-income families don't bear the burden of increased housing and transportation costs. Smart policy can encourage smart growth with affordable housing across the Commonwealth to improve Virginians' quality of life and drive economic growth, while simultaneously helping to reach sustainability, environmental justice, and equity goals.

Stephen Wade // Partnership for Smarter Growth // swade3000@gmail.com Charles Yang // RVA YIMBY // charlesxjyang@gmail.com

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Wyatt Gordon // Senior Policy Manager of Land Use & Transportation // wyatt@vcnva.org

LAND USE REFORM

MITIGATING DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT'S IMPACTS LAND USE REFORM

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia is home to the largest concentration of data centers in the world, widely cited as hosting 70% of global internet traffic.¹This massive industry is continuing to grow very fast, requiring huge amounts of energy, land, and water to operate, resulting in widespread community impacts. Yet, the Commonwealth does not currently have any regulatory oversight of data center development and localities continue to approve more facilities without considering the cumulative impacts. This explosive growth of data centers threatens to derail state efforts to meet climate goals, improve air and water quality, advance land conservation, and protect national and state parks.

CHALLENGE

Data center development in Virginia has been accelerating for years with the hub in Northern Virginia known as the largest in the world. Recently that demand has exploded throughout the state, with buildings larger than big box stores and as tall as 90 feet on sprawling campuses. Developments are now being proposed in environmentally sensitive areas next to our national, state, and local parks,² in close proximity to our rivers and streams,³ and in rural areas requiring costly new electrical infrastructure.⁴ Others are adjacent to residential neighborhoods, schools, medical facilities, and nursing homes.

THE GIGANTIC FOOTPRINT OF THE DATA CENTER INDUSTRY THREATENS REGIONAL POWER, LAND CONSERVATION, AND AIR & WATER QUALITY

The footprint of this industry is gigantic and threatens regional power supply, water quality, land conservation, and air quality beyond individual localities reviewing the application. A single data center building now uses between 60-90MW of power at peak demand which is more than 15,000 households⁵ ⁶. Data centers now make up 21% of Dominion Energy Virginia's

power load⁷ (see SURGING ENERGY DEMAND FROM DATA CENTERS, pg 105). A data center can also consume 3-5 million gallons of water a day for cooling – the equivalent of a small city's overall annual consumption.⁸ They consume massive amounts of land as well. Digital Gateway, a proposal in Prince William County, would allow 27 million square feet of data center development which is the equivalent of about 150 Wal-Mart Supercenters. All of this impervious surface results in increased stormwater runoff and pollution.

To ensure uninterrupted 24/7 service, data center facilities have commercial-sized backup power generators and large fuel tanks on site in the case of a grid outage. According to DEQ, data centers in Loudoun County have air permits for more than 4,000 backup diesel generators⁹ with a total rated capacity of over 11 gigawatts of power! For context, the North Anna nuclear power facility has a rated capacity of 1.8 gigawatts. If the rapid pace of data center construction continues, further straining power, these backup generators could increasingly be put to use, putting air quality and public health at risk.¹⁰

SOLUTION

Despite Virginia having the highest number of data centers in the world, the state lacks critical information about their impacts on our environment and energy grid. Currently, approvals are made unilaterally by localities, which have a strong tax incentive to approve proposals without considering the broader statewide impacts. A comprehensive study of the impacts on the Commonwealth's electrical grid, environment, historic and recreational resources, environmental justice concerns, and ability to meet climate goals is critically needed to protect our communities especially those residents most vulnerable to utility rate hikes, air pollution, and climate impacts.

The National Academies of Science is an independent academic institution with the

ability to lead this study and provide objective advice to inform policy as they have done on past issues such as gold mining and uranium mining. Using data from utilities, localities, and state agencies, the study would include a buildout analysis of what is in operation, approved, and planned and an evaluation of impacts on the electrical grid and ratepayers, climate goals, water consumption, water quality, air quality, land conservation, recreation, and historic preservation.

The General Assembly must also establish a process for state review, including a grid impact statement submitted to Virginia Energy for all new data center power demand requests and a regional review of impacts from new data center proposals by federal and state agencies and regional utilities. Virginia Energy review would provide oversight to ensure continued grid reliability and prevent excessively high costs falling to the ratepayers. The regional review would provide an opportunity for these entities to comment on regional impacts and for the public to weigh in on this additional information through a formal comment process.

Collectively, the study and the grid impact and regional review process will help the state determine where we are and create a sustainable path forward on data center development.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Study the impacts of data center development on the Commonwealth's electrical grid, environment, historic and recreational resources, and ability to meet climate goals through The National Academies of Science.

Require a grid impact statement be submitted to and approved by the State Corporation Commission for all new data center power demand requests.

Create a framework for a regional review board that evaluates large data center projects.



DEPLOYING UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR RESPONSIBLY LAND USE REFORM

Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org Patrick Fanning // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // PFanning@cbf.org Ashish Kapoor // Piedmont Environmental Council // AKapoor@pecva.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

CHALLENGE

Utility-scale solar facilities are a key component of Virginia's transition to a clean energy future. However, the Commonwealth must ensure that impacts on Virginia's farms, forests, and streams are minimized. Through regulations and incentives, we can encourage siting of solar facilities on already impacted lands such as brownfields and mine sites. Where facilities must be sited on lands with prime agricultural soils or forest, regulations are needed to minimize impacts. Further, best management practices, including the reduction of soil compaction and grading, and the use of appropriate stormwater runoff calculations, should be applied to reduce downstream water quality impacts. scale of Virginia's utility-scale solar facilities. This trend is likely to continue as Virginia transitions to reach both its 100% renewable goals under the Virginia Clean Economy Act (VCEA) and meet increased energy demand from data centers. While this creates revenue and job opportunities in rural communities, it also raises land use challenges.

On average, utility-scale solar requires seven to ten acres per megawatt produced. As of March 2023, DEQ had permits and applications for over 6 GWs, expected to cover nearly 70,000 acres in Virginia.¹ Many of these facilities are being sited in rural localities with little experience permitting large construction projects and a majority of these localities do not even have established solar ordinances.² Moreover, two-thirds of localities do not identify land areas for large-scale solar siting in their comprehensive plans.³

There has been a sharp increase in the size and

Responsible deployment of utility-scale solar includes incorporating BMPs – Mt. Jackson, Va Photo by Nancy Sorrells



Virginia needs greater deployment of renewable energy projects. However, decision-makers must ensure proper site selection and heed practices to minimize any associated negative impacts. Notably, water quality compliance challenges were identified by DEQ at a recent Chesapeake Bay technical stakeholder group, highlighting the need for compliance assistance and enforcement of erosion and sediment control and stormwater management requirements.⁴ Virginia should look to examples in other states and countries where stakeholders are committed to balancing meaningful utility-scale solar deployment with careful protection of farms and forests and with minimal impact on habitat and historic, cultural, and scenic resources.

SOLUTION

Virginia's policymakers should implement and promote best practices for utility-scale solar, including:

SELECT SITES STRATEGICALLY

Incentivize development on prior disturbed lands such as post-mining land, parking lots, highway medians, landfills, and brownfields to reduce unnecessary impacts to forests and agriculturally productive lands.⁵

FOLLOW BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES

Projects should include recognized best management practices for water quality, erosion control, minimizing wildlife impacts, minimizing anticipatory clearing of forest land, and carbon sequestration. This includes the use of native pollinator plants, limited soil compaction during construction, minimal site grading, and the use of agrivoltaics.

PROVIDE LOCALITIES WITH TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE

Support localities through state-supported technical assistance to help regulate solar land use within their jurisdictions. Such assistance should include guidance on maximizing revenue streams and ensuring a funded decommissioning process to mitigate the facility's impacts on the land if and when the site ceases to operate.

ENCOURAGE COMMUNITY BENEFIT AGREEMENTS (CBAS)

CBAs are legally enforceable contracts between the developer of a project and the community, or a coalition of community-based organizations. CBAs stipulate the benefits that a project developer agrees to fund or implement, in exchange for community support of the project. Benefits can include commitments to hire directly from the community, local workforce training guarantees, contributions to local environmental remediation projects, and provide flexibility to address local concerns.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$35M each year for the Virginia Brownfield and Coal Mine Renewable Energy Grant Program to incentivize solar on compromised land and formerly mined sites.

Increase capacity at relevant agencies to implement agrivoltaics pilot programs and provide technical support for localities implementing solar ordinances.

Maintain adequate staffing to ensure sufficient enforcement of water quality requirements, mitigation for adverse cumulative impacts to ecosystem services, and consistency with Chesapeake Bay TMDL goals.

Develop regulations to minimize impacts to prime agricultural soils and forested lands and, where unavoidable, to adequately mitigate adverse impacts.

Encourage localities to utilize CBAs and ensure robust public participation in the process of developing CBAs.
UNLEASHING SUSTAINABLE HOUSING GROWTH

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

I AND USF RFFORM

Where we live and how we get around drives a significant share of carbon emissions. Changing housing policies to allow for density, affordable housing, and mixed-use in developed areas lowers transportation and building emissions, reduces sprawl, preserves rural areas' farmlands and forests, and helps ensure low- and moderateincome families don't bear the burden of increased housing and transportation costs. Smart policy can encourage smart growth with affordable housing across the Commonwealth to improve Virginians' quality of life and drive economic growth, while simultaneously helping to reach sustainability, environmental justice, and equity goals.

CHALLENGE

The current landscape of local housing creation revolves around car-centered development, which limits the housing we build, and its character, and increases costs for Virginians. By zoning primarily for single-family homes, local governments in essence require residents to rely on automotive transportation to conduct their daily business. A drive is required to go to school, to work, to the grocery store, and to visit family and friends. The American Automobile Association found the annual average cost of car ownership is now over \$10,000 a year in 2022.1 Land use policies that prioritize car-oriented development and transportation create long commutes for residents, generating traffic congestion, and worse health outcomes, particularly for urban communities of color.² Lowering vehicle miles traveled is necessary to meet our net-zero carbon emission goals.³

Furthermore, these policies constrict the number and form of homes that can legally be built. Sprawl not only drives up the cost of housing because it generates fewer and more expensive homes (due to higher land and materials costs), but single-family homes produce more carbon

emissions because they require more energy to heat, cool, and deliver services. Analysis of carbon emissions clearly shows the areas that permit denser housing have lower emissions.⁴ Sprawldriven development also reduces tree canopy and green space opportunities for residents, as more land is parceled for development.

Current land use policies cut into Virginians' budgets by raising the cost of living and making it difficult to meet sustainability goals. This car-centered development increases our transportation emissions and places a heavy burden on middle-income families. Other zoning provisions like large lot sizes and setbacks, parking mandates, and floor area ratio regulations artificially restrict the housing availability and thus access to areas with already existing transit infrastructure. Building denser housing closer to jobs, schools, and services is a critically underleveraged climate policy tool to address transportation and building sector emissions, which make up over 40% of national emissions.⁵ Doing so in an equitable way, including ensuring the provision of sufficient affordable housing for low- and middle-income Virginians, is also a key part of environmental justice.

SOLUTION

Legalizing and encouraging denser housing, also known as "missing middle housing," in existing urban and suburban areas helps remediate the environmental and financial costs associated with sprawling development. Missing middle refers to housing types that have density levels in between single-family homes and large apartment complexes, such as townhomes, four-plexes, six- and eight-plexes. This kind of "gentle density" is an excellent opportunity to build vibrant and socioeconomically diverse communities, tackle sustainability goals, and address the housing shortage.

Missing middle housing allows for the diversification of housing types, enabling communities to address the housing shortage by adding supply at various price points. Added supply places downward pressure on home prices, allowing for economic growth as residents will have more money to spend in their local, state, and global economies. Gentle density allows for development to utilize and benefit from non-automotive transportation types - such as rail, bus, and micro-transit moving communities away from car-oriented sprawl and ultimately, lowering the carbon footprint required to live, work, and play. In addition, centering growth around urban cores including Virginia's cities, small towns, and village centers, serves to protect communities' rural character.

By definition, subdivisions with large lots require more land, destroying ecosystems and green space. Concentrating home construction in smaller geographical footprints preserves Virginia's natural resources while improving air and water quality. That said, creating greenspace and providing tree canopy helps prevent urban heat islands, reduces cooling costs, and aids with stormwater runoff. Density necessitates intentional design that allows for tree coverage and contiguous tree canopy, particularly along streets, sidewalks, and other public spaces.

Finally, providing resources for affordable housing construction and preservation will help ensure that the climate transition is conducted equitably and for the benefit of all, particularly low-income Virginians.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Incentivize local governments to zone for multi-family housing and eliminate parking minimums within a half mile of all bus rapid transit, light-rail, and Metro routes in Virginia; include a grant-based incentive program to automatically upzone such areas administered by DHCD.

Legalize the by-right development of accessory dwelling units in urban and suburban localities.

Reform building codes under the DHCD to allow for single staircases for buildings up to 6 stories to reduce the cost of building more housing while maintaining safety standards.

\$90.1M for a statewide housing voucher pilot program for low-income Virginia tenants. Furthermore, grant all localities permission to adopt mandatory affordable dwelling unit ordinances





ACCELERATING TRANSPORTATION ELECTRIFICATION

Over half of Virginia's carbon dioxide emissions – and numerous other air pollutants – come from the transportation sector, causing immediate health problems on top of exacerbating climate change which disproportionately impacts low-income and communities of color. While Virginia has taken steps to address this by phasing electric cars into the new vehicle stock, funding should be set aside to offset upfront costs and increase access to charging infrastructure in order to bridge any accessibility and affordability gaps. Taken together, these policies can improve the health and wellness of Virginians while eliminating the bulk of Virginia's carbon emissions.

Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Lena Lewis // The Nature Conservancy // lena.lewis@tnc.org Chris Leyen // Virginia League of Conservation Voters // cleyen@valcv.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org

MAKING BUILDINGS CLEANER & SAFER

While the General Assembly has done considerable work to decarbonize the electricity and transportation sectors, little has been done to address the residential and commercial building sector, which contributes 36% of Virginia's climate emissions. Gas-powered space and water heating in Virginia's buildings lead to harmful indoor methane combustion, causing significant climate, community safety, and public health impacts. To ensure the success of Virginia's existing climate policies and remove fossil fuel combustion from our buildings, Virginia should incorporate our clean energy transition into its building policies by pursuing updated performance standards, amplifying federal funding opportunities to modernize existing building infrastructure, and protecting existing local authority to electrify new building construction.

McKenna Dunbar // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // mckenna.dunbar@sierraclub.org Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Wyatt Gordon // Senior Policy Manager of Land Use & Transportation // wyatt@vcnva.org

ELECTRIFICATION

ACCELERATING TRANSPORTATION ELECTRIFICATION *ELECTRIFICATION*

Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Lena Lewis // The Nature Conservancy // lena.lewis@tnc.org Chris Leyen // Virginia League of Conservation Voters // cleyen@valcv.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet // blair@climatecabinet.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

About half of Virginia's carbon dioxide emissions – and numerous other air pollutants – come from the transportation sector, causing immediate health problems on top of exacerbating climate change which disproportionately impacts low-income and communities of color. While Virginia has taken steps to address this by phasing electric cars into the new vehicle stock, funding should be set aside to offset upfront costs and increase access to charging infrastructure in order to bridge any accessibility and affordability gaps. Taken together, these policies can improve the health and wellness of Virginians while eliminating the bulk of Virginia's carbon emissions.

CHALLENGE

The transportation sector accounts for 51% of Virginia's carbon dioxide emissions, and is a major source of other air pollutants, leading to negative climate, public health, and economic impacts.¹ These emissions disproportionately affect lowincome populations and communities of color who breathe 66% more vehicular air pollution than white residents on average. Vehicular particulate matter (PM2.5) alone accounts for 92 deaths. 2.600 cases of exacerbated asthma. and 10,000 lost workdays in Virginia each year.³ When considering transportation emissions in their entirety, these emissions led to 1300 premature deaths in Virginia in 2016, and the deaths associated with this pollution are 61% higher in low-income and older communities, along with communities of color.4,5

VEHICLE POLLUTION ACCOUNTS FOR 92 DEATHS, 2,600 CASES OF ASTHMA, AND 10,000 LOST WORKDAYS IN VIRGINIA EACH YEAR

To comprehensively address vehicle pollution, cleaner transportation alternatives such as transit and rail need to be expanded. Virginia must also reduce vehicle miles traveled by incentivizing and pursuing thoughtful land use planning (see MODERNIZING PUBLIC TRANSIT, pg 73 SAVING PEDESTRIAN LIVES, pg 79, and INCREASING ACCESS TO BIKING, pg 81). Simultaneously, we must accelerate transportation electrification to eliminate emissions from the remaining trips.

While electric cars and buses are far cheaper to own and maintain in the long run, higher upfront costs keep these savings out of reach for many Virginians.^{67,8} Furthermore, many households lack access to reliable charging infrastructure. Roughly 50% of US households don't park within 20 feet of an electrical outlet, making access to public EV charging and multifamily-housing EV charging essential for widespread adoption.⁹ Bridging these affordability and accessibility gaps is critical to ensuring a successful and equitable transition to electrified mobility.

SOLUTION

Every electric vehicle (EV) that replaces a gaspowered model helps clean Virginia's air, supports the Commonwealth's climate goals, and drives statewide economic development. When powered by Virginia's current electricity mix, EVs produce 83% fewer emissions than gaspowered vehicles,¹⁰ resulting in positive health outcomes. Real-world test cases have linked EV adoption to reductions in asthma rates and air pollution.¹¹

Virginia's growing clean vehicle sector already supports 6,800 jobs, and the Inflation Reduction Actis providing once-in-a-generation investment in the domestic EV supply chain through tax credits for EV and battery manufacturing facilities.¹² American jobs in the hybrid and EV manufacturing supply chain sector grew an astonishing 25% from 2021 to 2022.¹³

By adopting Advanced Clean Cars standards, the General Assembly ensured the best selection of in-demand EVs will be available to Virginia consumers and sent market signals that encourage charging companies to invest in Virginia. Virginia has already created an equitable on-thehood EV rebate structure. Funded adequately, that rebate would complement federal tax credits – lowering the purchase price for new and used EVs and putting electric mobility within reach for more Virginians.¹⁴

With more than 100 EV models available by 2025,¹⁵ the shift to electric vehicles is coming fast. The federal government has allocated significant funding to build out charging infrastructure along major travel corridors — including \$106 million in formula funding for Virginia along with additional competitive grant opportunities.¹⁶ Now Virginia must lead at the state level by making necessary investments in charging infrastructure and on-the-hood incentives to ensure Virginians who live in multifamily buildings and rural communities won't be left behind.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Maintain and advance Virginia's Clean Car Standards, which go into effect in 2024.

Allocate \$40M each year for the existing but unfunded EV Rebate Program to bring down the up-front cost of EVs at the point of sale.

Create a dedicated source of funding for charging infrastructure in rural and lowincome localities to support ongoing tourism to scenic and rural areas.

Establish a fund of 200K each year to cover the cost of low-to-moderate-income electricians to take the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Training Program.



MAKING BUILDINGS CLEANER & SAFER *ELECTRIFICATION*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

While the General Assembly has done considerable work to decarbonize the electricity and transportation sectors, little has been done to address the residential and commercial building sector, which contributes 36% of Virginia's climate emissions.¹ Gas-powered space and water heating in Virginia's buildings lead to harmful indoor methane combustion, causing significant climate, community safety, and public health impacts. To ensure the success of Virginia's existing climate policies and remove fossil fuel combustion from our buildings, Virginia should incorporate our clean energy transition into its building policies by pursuing updated performance standards, amplifying federal funding opportunities to modernize existing building infrastructure, and protecting existing local authority to electrify new building construction.

CHALLENGE

Although Virginia has begun its decarbonization journey in earnest in the electric and transportation sectors, little has been done to address the next frontier for climate action: buildings. Buildings sit at the nexus of climate, land use, and public health. Commercial and residential buildings make up nearly 36% of Virginia's emissions.²

OVER 12% OF CHILDHOOD ASTHMA CASES ARE DIRECTLY CAUSED BY INDOOR METHANE GAS COMBUSTION

But the combustion of methane gas in buildings is far more than a climate problem. Methane is highly flammable and volatile, with considerable risk of fires and explosions. Explosions, often deadly, occur nearly every year in Virginia, including most recently in Bristol.³ While explosions happen unpredictably in gaspowered buildings, methane gas combustion has a deleterious effect on public health. Methane combustion creates nitrous dioxide, a respiratory irritant which significantly exacerbates the risk of asthma, particularly for children. Recent studies show that over 12% of childhood asthma cases are directly caused by indoor methane gas combustion.⁴ The risk is greater in poorly ventilated homes, meaning that low-income households are at greater risk, contributing to disproportionate rates of asthma in low-income families.⁵

Finally, the soaring price of methane gas, partially attributable to the war in Ukraine, is evidence of a pressing need to move away from a fuel source whose cost is so heavily influenced by unpredictable geopolitical factors. Virginians across the Commonwealth saw "fuel factor" charges add over \$35 per month to household energy bills.⁶ These unexpected and exorbitant costs are untenable for Virginia's families. Virginians deserve the opportunity to get volatile, explosive, toxic methane gas out of our homes.

SOLUTION

The imperative to shift away from methane gas in buildings demands a complementary approach that focuses on bold building performance standards and protecting local authority to electrify new building construction, all while helping modernize existing building infrastructure.

First, Virginia should require the adoption of building efficiency standards at least as stringent as the latest IECC as promulgated by the International Code Council (ICC). Legislation enacted in 2021 calls for that result when such standards provide savings and other benefits over time that exceed the incremental cost of construction. However, Virginia's Board of Housing and Community Development (BHCD) hasfailed to implement the law as written despite independent findings that building occupants and the public would save money and incur other benefits, including pollution reduction, every year. High building efficiency standards are critical since buildings will be used for 50-100 vears and retrofitting is far more expensive than

Second, localities' existing authority to meet health and safety goals through ordinances for electric-only new construction must be maintained, and localities should be allowed to adopt codes with stronger energy efficiency and climate standards.

initial construction.

To facilitate the transition for existing buildings, the Commonwealth should take advantage of the numerous new federal funding opportunities available to help Virginians electrify their homes - including HVACs, stoves, and water heaters. Virginia can accelerate the uptake of these incentives by providing technical guidance and public education programs, particularly targeted towards low-income households disproportionately impacted by the health effects of indoor methane combustion. Moreover, public awareness campaigns, particularly with institutionally underserved low-income, BIPOC, and/or rural communities, should be conducted to highlight the benefits of transition not just from the climate perspective, but also its impact on community safety, public health, and affordability. A strong focus on education and outreach can help to overcome resistance to change and ensure widespread adoption.

Indext and a second sec

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Implement or exceed the most current building performance standards, as defined by the International Code Commission, for both new residential and commercial structures.

Maintain localities' authority to meet health and safety goals through ordinances for electric-only new construction and allow localities to adopt codes with stronger energy efficiency and climate standards.

Instruct the Virginia State Energy Office to pursue available federal funding geared towards climate-focused community initiatives to enable the state to carry out a non profit coalition led public awareness campaign aimed at retrofitting, weatherizing, and electrifying residential homes for institutionally underserved communities.

Reform the building code consideration process at DHCD by eliminating the consensus workgroup requirement, which leaves Virginia's building codes in control of one entity, and allows all options to be heard, considered, and voted upon.

McKenna Dunbar // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // mckenna.dunbar@sierraclub.org Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION

Virginia needs a cleaner, more equitable transportation system. For decades, funds have primarily gone to road projects to the detriment of safer, healthier, and greener choices. As a result, transportation is Virginia's largest source of carbon pollution and there are few alternatives to driving, especially in under-resourced communities. Despite some recent progress, transportation planning and funding continues to focus heavily on highway expansion and construction. With significant opportunities coming to Virginia due to a wave of federal funding, we must maintain recent progress and continue to transform our transportation approach to favor cleaner, healthier options that reduce traffic, improve safety, and protect our environment.

Richard Hankins // RVA Rapid Transit // richard@rvarapidtransit.org Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Trip Pollard // Southern Environmental Law Center // tpollard@selcva.org

MODERNIZING PUBLIC TRANSIT

Public transportation provides tremendous benefits to the communities it serves. Our buses, trains, trolleys, and ferries offer greater mobility, reduction in traffic and carbon pollution, and economic growth.

Caetano de Campos // Community Climate Collaborative // caetano@theclimatecollaborative.org

Richard Hankins // RVA Rapid Transit // richard@rvarapidtransit.org Desiree Jenkins // Virginia Interfaith Power and Light // djenkins@vaipl.org Danny Plaugher // Virginia Transit Association // Danny@Plaugher.org

EXPANDING RAIL

Compelling energy, economic, and environmental benefits flow from maximizing the use of rail to move both people and goods. Virginia has made significant progress on passenger rail in recent years, but increased funding is needed to improve the speed, frequency, and reliability of service; extend service to new places; modernize stations, further reduce their environmental impact, and improve multimodal connections to them. It is also important to redirect freight traffic from roads to rail to reduce pollution and congestion, preserve abandoned rail corridors for future freight and passenger service, and support the transition to zero-emission trains.

Danny Plaugher // Virginians for High Speed Rail // danny@vhsr.com Trip Pollard // Southern Environmental Law Center // tpollard@selcva.org

PUBLIC TRANSIT

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Wyatt Gordon // Senior Policy Manager of Land Use & Transportation // wyatt@vcnva.org

TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION *PUBLIC TRANSIT*

Richard Hankins // RVA Rapid Transit // richard@rvarapidtransit.org Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Trip Pollard // Southern Environmental Law Center // tpollard@selcva.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia needs a cleaner, more equitable transportation system. For decades, funds have primarily gone to road projects to the detriment of safer, healthier, and greener choices. As a result, transportation is Virginia's largest source of carbon pollution and there are few alternatives to driving, especially in under-resourced communities. Despite some recent progress, transportation planning and funding continue to focus heavily on highway expansion and construction. With significant opportunities coming to Virginia due to a wave of federal funding, we must defend recent progress and continue to transform our transportation approach to favor cleaner, healthier options that reduce traffic, improve safety, and protect our environment.

CHALLENGE

Significant transportation reforms have been adopted in recent years, including increased funding for transit, rail, and highway maintenance and the groundbreaking Transforming Rail in Virginia initiative. Additionally, SMART SCALE continues to provide objective and transparent basis for selecting projects for funding.

HIGHWAY EXPANSION INCENTIVIZES MORE DRIVING, THUS FAILING TO PROVIDE LONG-TERM CONGESTION RELIEF

Decades of studies and experience have proven that new and wider highways incentivize sprawling development and encourage more driving, thus failing to provide long-term congestion relief.¹Transit investments, in contrast, have been shown to provide a significant return on investment,² yet over 75% of the draft FY2024-29 Six-Year Improvement Program is allocated to highways.³ Efforts to weaken or sidestep SMART SCALE abound, including budget earmarks and proposals under consideration in the current review of the process being conducted by the administration.

Virginia's asphalt-centered approach has profound effects on our communities and environment. Transportation generates over half of all statewide carbon pollution,⁴ and communities of color and under-resourced communities bear a disproportionate share of the health burdens from transportation-related pollution.⁵ Moreover, new and expanded roads destroy natural resources such as forests and wetlands that absorb carbon and increase communities' resilience to sea level rise and flooding statewide. They also add to the maintenance costs taxpayers must cover. And they often do little to improve mobility and access for the hundreds of thousands of Virginians who do not own a personal vehicle.

SOLUTION

Meeting the climate crisis, spending tax dollars more wisely, and improving the health, equity, and mobility of Virginians requires moving away from a transportation paradigm focused on everincreasing asphalt. It requires focusing funding on existing infrastructure through a "fix it first" approach and shifting substantial amounts of our state and regional transportation budgets from highway construction to public transit, rail, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities.

This shift is essential for the Commonwealth to remain economically competitive. Transit and other alternatives to driving can provide critical access to jobs, healthcare, and essential services; today's businesses increasingly seek to locate in walkable communities with good access to public transportation.⁶

As federal funding makes its way into Virginia under the new infrastructure laws, we need to seize the moment to pursue competitive grants for cleaner, more equitable transportation particularly for communities for whom car ownership may be out of reach or who are overburdened with historical and current pollution. We must also defend the datadriven, objective approach of the SMART SCALE prioritization process, which is currently under review, and extend those principles to other transportation funding decisions such as federal funding allocations and regional transportation funding mechanisms.

We also need to strengthen consideration of the climate change effects of transportation plans, proposals, and funding decisions and ensure

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Establish a statutory goal to increase the share of clean transportation funding to 50% by 2030 to expand mobility options, reduce pollution, and maximize clean transportation funding under the federal infrastructure law; in line with federal initiatives, 40% of funding should go to under-resourced communities and communities overburdened by current and historical pollution.

Strengthen "fix it first" requirements in Virginia Code and allocate funding to ensure that road funding first covers maintaining and repairing existing infrastructure.

Ensure SMART SCALE retains an objective, datadriven approach that promotes transparency and accountability in transportation funding decisions and opposes efforts to fund projects outside of the prioritization process.

Prioritize carbon pollution reduction in transportation planning and funding, including assessing climate change impacts of highway projects and their consistency with state greenhouse gas reduction goals, evaluating compliance with the 2020 Virginia Environmental Justice Act,⁷ and requiring state and regional plans to cut carbon emissions and reduce vehicle miles traveled.

Set a specific goal for VDOT and DRPT to reduce statewide vehicle miles traveled by 20% by 2050.

that state and regional plans serve to reduce, rather than exacerbate, emissions of greenhouse gasses and other pollutants. In addition, the Commonwealth should set a specific goal for reducing vehicle miles traveled and step up efforts to accelerate the electrification of vehicles and expand charging infrastructure for the driving we continue to do.



MODERNIZING PUBLIC TRANSIT *PUBLIC TRANSIT*

Caetano de Campos // Community Climate Collaborative // caetano@theclimatecollaborative.org Richard Hankins // RVA Rapid Transit // richard@rvarapidtransit.org Desiree Jenkins // Virginia Interfaith Power and Light // djenkins@vaipl.org Danny Plaugher // Virginia Transit Association // Danny@Plaugher.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Public transportation provides tremendous benefits to the communities it serves. Our buses, trains, trolleys, and ferries offer greater mobility, reduction in traffic and carbon pollution, and economic growth.

CHALLENGE

The pandemic pummeled our transit systems, impacting ridership, employee recruitment and retention, and operational costs. However, public transportation's recovery is well underway: Hampton Roads Transit's ridership is nearly 60% of pre-pandemic levels and growing, Virginia Railway Express' ridership is up 400%, the Metro recently hit its highest ridership day in nearly a decade,¹ and Alexandria's DASH and Richmond's GRTC are two of the seven largest transit nationwide that have exceeded their pre-pandemic ridership.² Commuter services are still building back due to the increase in telework; however, many systems' core routes are performing better than ever.

Workforce recruitment and retention remain difficult, with several transit systems facing operator shortages. For example, GRTC is 18% below its driver targets, Harrisonburg Transit is 25 drivers short of its goal, and Roanoke's Valley Metro needs 30 additional drivers.



Replacing aging infrastructure has also gotten difficult. Pre-pandemic, it would take about a year for a replacement bus to hit the streets after ordering it. Today, the wait time could take 2+ years, particularly for zero-emission buses. The nationwide trend of fleet electrification is also increasing the need for transit agencies that haven't already begun their zero-emission transition plans to start that planning process.

ONLY 11% OF VIRGINIA'S BUS STOPS HAVE A SHELTER, 19% have a bench, and 38% fully comply with the americans with disabilities act

The final challenge is the lack of dignity, accessibility, and essential infrastructure at many bus stops. The 2021 Transit Equity and Modernization report found that just "11% of (Virginia) bus stops have a shelter, 19% have a bench, and only 38% fully comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act".³ Most of Virginia's bus stops are simply signs stuck in the ground.

SOLUTION

Transit ridership in Virginia has been trending upward for decades. In 2019, over 412,000 trips a day were taken on public transportation, resulting in 1.03 billion passenger miles taken off our roads, preventing the burning of 17 million gallons of fuel and the release of 155,000 metric tons of CO2 pollution. Additionally, public transit generated nearly \$2.4 billion in economic benefits for the Commonwealth that year.

For public transportation to continue its strong growth and meet the moment by modernizing fleets and increasing access, our systems need additional funding and innovative policymaking. Perfect examples of this are Hampton Roads Transit, Mountain Empire Transit, and Bay Transit which have piloted microtransit and seen a doubling of ridership in parts of their region. Such service allows agencies to provide on-demand, door-to-door service in low-density areas where fixed routes may not be the best fit. DRPT's pilots have also shown that ridership strengthens on fixed routes when these routes are connected to microtransit services.

Expanding and maintaining zero or reduced fare programs, as demonstrated by Richmond, Charlottesville, Alexandria, Petersburg, Blacksburg, and others can play a key role in rebuilding and increasing ridership. Additionally, several transit systems are increasing driver pay by as much as 40% to help attract and retain employees in a competitive job market.

About 14% of eligible Virginians don't have a driver's license and 6% don't live in a household with an automobile. To enhance accessibility, investment in essential stop infrastructure such as benches, shelters, lighting, sidewalks, and crosswalks is necessary. Recent state legislation allows for up to 30% of the Transit Ridership Incentive Program (TRIP) to be dedicated to transit stop infrastructure, but more funding is needed.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Protect and increase existing statewide and regional transit funding including addressing WMATA's fiscal cliff.

Improve transit ridership by expanding service, continuing zero and low fare programs, and encouraging dense land use around stops.

Increase regional transit funding in underinvested areas.

Expand the TRIP program to include zeroemission transition plans for transit systems.

Expedite and streamline the implementation of last foot transit infrastructure (bus stop benches, shelters, crosswalk and lighting, etc).

Advocate for fair allocation of federal and state multimodal grants to transit projects.

Danny Plaugher // Virginians for High Speed Rail // danny@vhsr.com Trip Pollard // Southern Environmental Law Center // tpollard@selcva.org

EXPANDING RAIL *PUBLIC TRANSIT*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Compelling energy, economic, and environmental benefits flow from maximizing the use of rail to move both people and goods. Virginia has made significant progress on passenger rail in recent years, but increased funding is needed to improve the speed, frequency, and reliability of service; extend service to new places; modernize stations, further reduce their environmental impact, and improve multimodal connections to them. It is also important to redirect freight traffic from roads to rail to reduce pollution and congestion, preserve abandoned rail corridors for future freight and passenger service, and support the transition to zero-emission trains.

CHALLENGE

Virginia's efforts since 2008 to improve and expand passenger rail service resulted in a

55% increase in service, a doubling of ridership, and expanded daily service to 2.5 million more Virginians.¹ Recent ridership is setting new records, with our Regionals projected to carry 1.2 million passengers this year alone² – avoiding an estimated 282.9 million passenger miles on our roads, reducing fuel consumption by about 6 million gallons, and preventing the release of 53,000 metric tons of carbon pollution.³

TRAIN TRAVEL IS 46% MORE ENERGY EFFICIENT THAN DRIVING

Passenger rail needs continued investment to achieve even greater impacts. Train travel times and reliability need to be improved, many stations need repair and updating, and transit connections between rail stations and activity centers are frequently limited or lacking altogether.



Additional service is needed as well. Our passenger rail network is primarily set up for north-south travel and there is next to no east-west service. A 4.5 hour drive between Norfolk and Roanoke takes 16 hours by train; an east-west rail connection would reduce the number of cars on both I-64 and I-81.

And although train travel is far less polluting and 46% more energy efficient than driving, electrifying rail in Virginia—which is already in place from Washington, DC north—would be much cleaner.⁴ New state corridors should be built to accommodate zero-emission technologies. Further, a central challenge for freight rail is that the major railroad corporations are focused on downsizing their assets and workforce to maximize short-term returns to shareholders, resulting in longer trains and more frequent breakdowns.

SOLUTION

Since December 2019, the state has announced and finalized agreements with CSX and Norfolk Southern to purchase 663 miles of railroad right-of-way and track, construct 50 miles of new railroad track, and double the rail capacity between DC and Virginia. These agreements, which are core parts of the Transforming Rail in Virginia program (TRVA), will allow six new roundtrip Amtrak Regional trains, the extension of service from Roanoke to Christiansburg, and five more Virginia Railway Express trains on the Fredericksburg line (including weekend service). Funding for the TRVA program is essential to increase service, reduce travel times, and increase the reliability of our trains.

To restore direct east-west passenger rail service between Hampton Roads and Roanoke, the state has submitted the Commonwealth Corridor to the Federal Railroad Administration's (FRA) Corridor Identification Program to place it in the federal project pipeline. The state is also updating its station modernization and improvement plan accordingly.

The TRVA agreements will allow for future phased electrification of our rail service when the DC-Richmond-Raleigh corridor is fully built out. We should look for opportunities and technologies that will allow the state to begin to decarbonize our rail corridors sooner.

We should also look at incentives for moving freight from trucks to rail while being prepared for abandonments of rail lines by the Class One railroads and ensuring the Commonwealth is ready to railbank such corridors for future use. Lastly, we should explore opportunities to make freight railroads more responsive to public interest concerns—including the need to decarbonize their train fleets.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Protect and increase rail funding to support the implementation of the Transforming Rail in Virginia program.

Support the Commonwealth Corridor's (New River Valley - Charlottesville - Richmond -Hampton Roads) inclusion in the FRA Corridor Identification Program.

Fund rail station modernization and provide multimodal connections between stations and activity centers.

Authorize a state study of opportunities to expedite the transition to zero-emission trains and infrastructure.

Fund a study of the economic and environmental life-cycle costs and benefits of adding new freight capacity on rail vs. roadways.

Protect any potentially abandoned rail corridors through public purchase and railbanking for future use.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

SAVING PEDESTRIAN LIVES

Pedestrian and vulnerable road user fatalities continue to climb in Virginia at an alarming rate. Virtually all roadway fatalities are preventable with the right infrastructure and enforcement, but more than 1,000 Virginians will continue to die every year if we don't change our policies and what we fund. Specific steps must be taken to save lives by reducing car speeds, better educating all road users, and redesigning our roadway network for better pedestrian protection. The tools to reverse this tragic trend are as simple as sidewalks and pedestrian refuges, but Virginia needs policy and resources to make a change.

Sonya Breehey // Coalition for Smarter Growth // sonya@smartergrowth.net Mike Doyle // Northern Virginia Families for Safe Streets // mike@novafss.org Amy Guzulaitis // Partnership for Smarter Growth // amy@psgrichmond.org Brantley Tyndall // Bike Walk RVA // brantley@sportsbackers.org

INCREASING ACCESS TO BICYCLING

Transportation is Virginia's largest generator of climate change emissions. Shifting trips to bicycling will reduce emissions since bicycling is carbon-free. That said, concern for safety is a key deterrent to more people bicycling. Bicyclists often have to share the road with motor vehicles, which can be intimidating and dangerous. Virginia needs a commitment to improving safety for people who bike and/or are interested but hesitant to bike. This effort will require dedicated funding to build safer bicycling infrastructure, the Bicyclist Safety Stop, and updating the Commonwealth's bicycling policies for the 21st Century.

Jim Durham // Virginia Bicycling Federation // JimDurham48@outlook.com Desiree Jenkins // Virginia Interfaith Power and Light // djenkins@vaipl.org Allen Muchnick // Virginia Bicycling Federation // allen22204@gmail.com

ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS

Trails facilitate the movement of people, create opportunities for outdoor recreation, maximize the benefit of conserved land, improve public health, and stimulate economic development across Virginia. Despite the multitude of benefits trails provide, they are inaccessible to many communities, and Virginia is not building them fast enough to meet growing demand. Ensuring consistent support for trail planning, construction, and maintenance will continue to make Virginia a great state in which to live and visit.

Cat Anthony // Virginia Capital Trail Foundation // cat@virginiacapitaltrail.org Elliott Caldwell // East Coast Greenway Alliance // elliott@greenway.org Justin Doyle // James River Association // jdoyle@thejamesriver.org Brantley Tyndall // Virginia Bicycling Federation // brantley@sportsbackers.org

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Wyatt Gordon // Senior Policy Manager of Land Use & Transportation // wyatt@vcnva.org

WALKING & BICYCLING

SAVING PEDESTRIAN LIVES *WALKING & BICYCLING*

Sonya Breehey // Coalition for Smarter Growth // sonya@smartergrowth.net Mike Doyle // Northern Virginia Families for Safe Streets // mike@novafss.org Amy Guzulaitis // Partnership for Smarter Growth // amy@psgrichmond.org Brantley Tyndall // Bike Walk RVA // brantley@sportsbackers.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Pedestrian and vulnerable road user fatalities continue to climb in Virginia at an alarming rate. Virtually all roadway fatalities are preventable with the right infrastructure and enforcement, but more than 1,000 Virginians will continue to die every year if we don't change our policies and what we fund. Specific steps must be taken to save lives by reducing car speeds, better educating all road users, and redesigning our roadway network for better pedestrian protection. The tools to reverse this tragic trend are as simple as sidewalks and pedestrian refuges, but Virginia needs to find the political will and resources to make a change.

CHALLENGE

2022 saw a significant increase in pedestrian fatalities in Virginia. This 36% increase in deaths over 2021 claimed 46 more lives and is among the worst pedestrian fatality rates in the entire nation.¹ The spike in people killed while walking is

more than the 4.3% traffic fatality increase across all modes (46 compared to 42 additional lives lost) in that period as Virginia's roadway death toll topped 1,000 lives lost for the first time in 16 years.

VIRGINIA HAS ONE OF THE WORST PEDESTRIAN FATALITY RATES IN THE ENTIRE NATION

The massacre on our roadways is the result of worsening speeding, larger vehicles like SUVs and trucks with limited visibility, increases in driver impairment and distraction, and roadway design that prioritizes cars' speed over the lives of the Commonwealth's residents.

Police enforcement alone has not effectively reduced traffic fatalities. The only consistently reliable way to get drivers to slow down is to redesign our roads with improved infrastructure such as raised crosswalks, speed humps, narrower lanes, bulb-outs, and pedestrian refuges. These relatively low-cost solutions can add up quickly



at the scale the Commonwealth needs to deploy them, but despite VDOT's \$8 billion annual budget, there never seems to be enough money available for simple safety improvements like adding sidewalks to state roads.

In light of record road fatalities, it is time to redesign and reissue the Virginia Driver's Manual to put safety first. Drivers must be taught how to operate their vehicles safely around pedestrians, cyclists, and other road users.

All people are pedestrians at some point, even those who primarily drive or who are unable to walk, and improving pedestrian safety increases safety outcomes for all other road users.

SOLUTION

Speed cameras are an effective deterrent to speeding, which is the number one predictor of crash mortality. Not only do they lessen the staff burden of traffic enforcement, but they also apply enforcement equitably, consistently, and without bias. Although automated photo speed enforcement (ASE) has been shown to reduce the number of drivers speeding by up to 60%,² this safety tool is currently only authorized in school zones and work zones. Their use needs to be allowed in other high pedestrian traffic areas such as residential and business districts.

Virginia currently allows localities to lower speed limits on municipal roads in residential and business districts to as low as 15 MPH, but VDOT has interpreted this to not apply to state-owned roads. Outside residential and business districts, the traffic study requirement has made such changes prohibitively expensive. The law needs to be fixed to solve both problems.

State-owned roads in residential and business districts are where most pedestrian traffic fatalities occur, often called the "high injury network".³ These high-injury networks should be codified into pedestrian safety zones modeled after the Interstate Safety Corridors to dedicate

more funding, programming, and automated enforcement of safety in these zones.

Pedestrian-focused safety infrastructure is not being built to outpace the growth in fatalities, so more funding and safety programming needs to be dedicated to saving these lives. This includes dedicating more state funding to infrastructure projects that can be used quickly and responsively to shift safety needs.

The Virginia driver's manual deemphasizes pedestrian safety and does not include updated information about safe street designs and how to drive around them. It is in need of an overall to meet this dire safety challenge, ensuring all Virginians know how to drive safely around people walking.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Authorize localities to use Automated Photo Speed Enforcement systems to residential neighborhoods and business districts.

Allow local authority to lower speeds on statecontrolled roads for safety in residential and business districts.

Redesign and reissue the Virginia Driver's Manual with a new special emphasis on pedestrian and bicyclist safety, including mandatory bike/ped questions on the driver's exam.

Allocate 10% of the State's surplus funds in a given year to road safety infrastructure improvement projects.

Establish a Pedestrian Safety Corridor program similar to the Interstate Safety Corridor program to increase awareness, safety resources, and enforcement in areas of high pedestrian safety crashes.

Prioritize pedestrian safety in the ongoing update of SMART SCALE.

INCREASING ACCESS TO BICYCLING *WALKING & BICYCLING*

Jim Durham // Virginia Bicycling Federation // JimDurham48@outlook.com Desiree Jenkins // Virginia Interfaith Power and Light // djenkins@vaipl.org Allen Muchnick // Virginia Bicycling Federation // allen22204@gmail.com

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Transportation is Virginia's largest generator of climate change emissions. Shifting trips to bicycling will reduce emissions since bicycling is carbon-free. That said, concern for safety is a key deterrent to more people bicycling. Bicyclists often have to share the road with motor vehicles, which can be intimidating and dangerous. Virginia needs a commitment to improving safety for people who bike and/or are interested but hesitant to bike. This effort will require dedicated funding to build safer bicycling infrastructure, the Bicyclist Safety Stop, and updating the Commonwealth's bicycling policies for the 21st Century.

CHALLENGE

Virginia will not achieve its climate goals until bicycling is much safer and more accessible. In 2022, 652 people bicycling were injured in Virginia, a 6% increase from 2021. Forty-three percent of people report the desire to ride their bicycle more,¹ but many lack safe and accessible places to ride.

Nearly 200,000 Virginia households have no access to a motor vehicle and need to bike and walk as a part of their primary commutes.² As traffic fatalities continue to climb, Black and Brown pedestrians are up to twice as likely to be killed.³ Virginia needs to reduce its Vehicle Miles Traveled and bicycling is an excellent way to do that. Addressing these issues requires added infrastructure, funding to build it out, and policies that allow for bicycling as safe transportation to where people need to go.

To stay safe and feel comfortable, people riding bicycles need spaces that are physically separated from drivers. SMART SCALE funding for onstreet bike facilities and dedicated trail funding are needed to build out safe biking facilities to save lives and give people the freedom to bike where they need to go (See TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION, pg 71 and ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS, pg 83). Furthermore, bicycle riders need proven injuryreduction policies, such as the freedom to yield at stop signs, to proceed on walk signals, and to travel side-by-side within a lane. That last policy is especially important for parents who want to ride with their kids and shield them from traffic.

43% OF PEOPLE WANT TO RIDE THEIR BICYCLE More but lack safe places to ride

To implement such needed reforms, Virginia's 2011 State Bicycle Policy Plan needs to be updated to better serve as a framework that encourages bicycling by people of all ages and abilities.

SOLUTION

Virginia needs to provide safe and accessible accommodations for people of all ages and abilities who are interested in bicycling. The safer our transportation network, the greater freedom people have to choose cleaner modes.

People bicycling are safest when they are physically separated from drivers, for example on protected and separated trails. The Virginia Capital Trail between Richmond and Jamestown experienced more than 1.2 million⁴ trail users in 2020; the Custis Trail in Rosslyn experienced more than 3.5 million⁵ trail users in 2021. To add to our trail systems in the Commonwealth, we need dedicated funding for multi-use trails. Localities also need funding from all government levels to provide safe bicycling infrastructure for people of all ages and abilities.

Incentivizing e-bike purchases, particularly for low-income residents, and implementing proven safety measures will make Virginia more accessible for bicycling. For example, the Safety Stop, which allows people on bicycles to yield at stop signs, was shown to contribute to a 23% reduction in bicycle crashes at intersections in a Delaware 5-year study. Allowing people on bicycles to proceed on walk signals and to ride two abreast also improves safety and should be allowed. Allowing people the freedom to choose their safest course will reduce the number of people injured riding bicycles in Virginia.

Virginia's "State Bicycling Policy Plan" and Complete Streets Policy should be updated to better incorporate trails, bike lanes, reconfigured roads, shoulders, and other safety and access measures. Adopting proven safety measures and updated guidelines will lead to more people choosing bicycling as a transportation option.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Support SMART SCALE recommendations in TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION, pg 71.

Establish a state-funded multi-use trail budget at \$41m annually to provide access to life-saving projects across the Commonwealth.

Update Virginia's 2011 Bicycling Policy Plan⁶ and 2004 Complete Streets policy.⁷

Allow the "Safety Stop", proceeding on walk signals, and two-abreast riding, allowing bicyclists in Virginia to benefit from safety measures proven in other states.

Establish an equitable e-bike point-of-sale rebate to boost climate-friendly mobility.



ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS *WALKING & BICYCLING*

Cat Anthony // Virginia Capital Trail Foundation // cat@virginiacapitaltrail.org Elliott Caldwell // East Coast Greenway Alliance // elliott@greenway.org Justin Doyle // James River Association // jdoyle@thejamesriver.org Brantley Tyndall // Virginia Bicycling Federation // brantley@sportsbackers.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Trails facilitate the movement of people, create opportunities for outdoor recreation, maximize the benefit of conserved land, improve public health, and stimulate economic development across Virginia. Despite the multitude of benefits



trails provide, they are inaccessible to many communities, and Virginia is not building them fast enough to meet growing demand. Ensuring consistent support for trail planning, construction, and maintenance will continue to make Virginia a

great state in which to live and visit.

CHALLENGE

We are grateful for the creation of the Office of Trails and past funding over the recent years for trails, but future funding is uncertain. Trails are continually shown to be essential to our transportation and public health systems, allowing for millions of trips each year in Virginia and accounting for tremendous health improvements.

Additionally, trails play a crucial role in our economy by generating tens of millions in tourism dollars and health benefits for users of all kinds of trails, including water trails for canoeing and kayaking, hiking trails, horse trails, and walking and biking trails. Despite the clear evidence of the vast benefits of trails, Virginia is not building them at a pace to meet the demand and need.¹ We must continue to invest in trails to meet both the current demand for trails as well as the increased need for trails in all regions in the Commonwealth.

Too few Virginians have access to trails from their front doors. We must build more trails close to where people live. Access to trails for transportation, health, and recreation should not be ZIP Code dependent, but for many communities, there are challenges with meeting local funding needs to build local trails;² thus we need to dedicate state funds to help with matching funds for local communities to take advantage of historic opportunities, both with funding from the Commonwealth as well as the federal government.

Access to trails across Virginia is not equitably shared;³ we must prioritize statewide trail planning and coordinated investment in trails that meet current and future needs, especially in low-income communities as well as majority Black and Latinx communities.

SOLUTION

With clear demand across the Commonwealth for trails of all types, state-wide support for trail planning, development, and construction must increase to meet that demand. Increasing trail usage more than justifies the need for consistent state funding to help all communities build new trails as well as improve and maintain existing infrastructure.⁴

The Office of Trails at VDOT can help lead the way in the Commonwealth by supporting local communities and regional agencies through the dissemination of best practices in trail planning, development, construction, operations, maintenance, and rehabilitation. Trails must be constructed to accommodate all ages and abilities and be planned to promote community connectivity. In addition, they must be maintained and improved over time to both meet the needs of current trail users and attract new users. Trails are economic engines for Virginia and increase the quality of life for its residents.

TRAILS ARE ESSENTIAL TO OUR TRANSPORTATION AND PUBLIC HEALTH SYSTEMS, ALLOWING FOR MILLIONS OF TRIPS EACH YEAR IN VIRGINIA

A minimum of \$41 million a year of state revenue should be allocated to the Office of Trails at VDOT to build and maintain Virginia's significant backlog of trail development. It is imperative that funding be allocated to effectively invest in a variety of trails, from major trail projects with the highest potential for use to trails in communities that are fiscally challenged to meet matching requirements.

In addition, a state-wide trail designation should be created, similar to Florida's Designation System,⁵ to strengthen public awareness and use of Virginia's interconnected trail systems. This designation system should include local, regional, and statewide trails that provide important transportation and recreational opportunities across the Commonwealth.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$41M per year in recurring, state-derived VDOT funding, adjusted for inflation from 2022 dollars, for the Office of Trails to plan, construct, and maintain trails in the Commonwealth.

\$1M for grant match funds for low-income communities, communities of color, and smaller localities with populations under 25,000 for better connectivity to transportation and recreation, to be administered by VDOT.

Fill the remaining full-time staff position established in 2022 to add more staff capacity to the VDOT Office of Trails.

Establish a State Trail Designation Program and direct resources toward marketing Virginia's trail systems.

\$1.5M in state-derived trail funding to the Department of Conservation and Recreation to match the Federal Recreational Trails Program grant program. **"Clean Energy" Photo Contest Winner- Coastal Virginia Offshore Wind test turbine off of the coast of Virginia Beach** Photo by Hunter Noffsinger

CLIMATE & ENERGY

Virginia has enacted significant policies to move the Commonwealth towards a clean energy future. We must ensure these policies are enacted and expand upon these commitments through responsibly developing clean energy infrastructure, ramping up energy efficiency and solar investments, and ensuring an equitable transition to a clean energy economy. Preventing the buildout of fossil fuel & unproven energy technologies and leaning into proven, affordable renewable energy projects will effectively combat climate change and ensure affordable energy for Virginians. To provide reliable and affordable services for Virginians, we must leverage this clean energy transition to address inequalities baked into the laws that currently regulate our current utility system.

DECARBONIZING THE GRID SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	3
ACHIEVING 100% CLEAN ENERGY	
PARTICIPATING IN THE REGIONAL GREENHOUSE GAS INITIATIVE	7
RENEWABLE ENERGY & ENERGY EFFICIENCY SUMMARIES AND CONTACTS	13
CUTTING ENERGY BILLS & AIR POLLUTION WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY	9
POWERING PROGRESS THROUGH ROOFTOP SOLAR	_15
EXPANDING ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SOLAR	_17
MAXIMIZING OFFSHORE WIND GENERATION	_27
DIRTY ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION	23
SURGING ENERGY DEMAND FROM DATA CENTERS	25
MANAGING TECHNOLOGIES UNPROVEN AT SCALE	.27
PREVENTING PIPELINES HARM	

Decarbonization protects Virginia from climate change, from our communities to our smallest insects

EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

ACHIEVING 100% CLEAN ENERGY

Virginia is committed by law to powering the Commonwealth with 100% carbon-free electricity by 2050 through the passage of the 2020 Virginia Clean Economy Act (VCEA). The VCEA outlines a clear path to achieving this zero-carbon future by mandating the retirement of fossil fuel generators; the construction of solar, wind, and battery storage; and instructing utilities to meet energy efficiency standards. Unfortunately, repeated attempts to repeal or weaken this law have sought to compromise our ability to achieve an emissions-free electricity grid. Virginia must stay the course on our clean energy future by maintaining the fossil fuel power plant retirement schedule, investing in energy efficiency, and ensuring that credits for renewable energy are only available to viable clean, renewable sources.

Will Cleveland // Southern Environmental Law Center // wcleveland@selcva.org Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org

PARTICIPATING IN THE REGIONAL GREENHOUSE GAS INITIATIVE

The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) is a necessary tool for dealing with the causes and impacts of climate change. RGGI has already demonstrated its effectiveness in drawing down emissions and providing needed funding for flood resilience and energy efficiency across the Commonwealth. Virginia should continue its participation in RGGI and ensure the funds generated through RGGI, which flow to the Community Flood Preparedness Fund (CFPF) and energy efficiency programs, remain fully intact.

Nate Benforado // Southern Environmental Law Center // nbenforado@selcva.org Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org

Mandy Warner // Environmental Defense Fund // mwarner@edf.org

DECARBONIZING THE GRID

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Mary Rafferty // Executive Director // mary@vcnva.org

ACHIEVING 100% CLEAN ENERGY DECARBONIZING THE GRID

Will Cleveland // Southern Environmental Law Center // wcleveland@selcva.org Victoria Higgins // Chesapeake Climate Action Network // vhiggins@chesapeakeclimate.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia is committed by law to powering the Commonwealth with 100% carbon-free electricity by 2050 through the passage of the 2020 Virginia Clean Economy Act (VCEA). The VCEA outlines a clear path to achieving this zero-carbon future by mandating the retirement of fossil fuel generators; the construction of solar, wind, and battery storage; and instructing utilities to meet energy efficiency standards. Unfortunately, repeated attempts to repeal or weaken this law have sought to compromise our ability to achieve an emissions-free electricity grid. Virginia must stay the course on our clean energy future by maintaining the fossil fuel power plant retirement schedule, investing in energy efficiency, and ensuring that credits for renewable energy are only available to viable clean, renewable sources.

CHALLENGE

Experts continue to warn that governments across the world must slash emissions significantly in the short-term in order to achieve net zero by midcentury to ensure a stable, healthy climate for current and future generations.¹ Decarbonizing the economy begins with the electric sector, which is directly responsible for nearly a third of Virginia's carbon pollution, and is particularly important as we electrify cars and buildings.²

FOSSIL FUELS STILL MAKE UP OVER 60% OF VIRGINIA'S ENERGY GENERATION

Virginia's electricity is still reliant on fossil fuels, which collectively make up over 60% of our generation.³ This legacy of fossil fuel generation has short and long-term consequences (see DEFENDING THE REGIONAL GREENHOUSE GAS INITIATIVE, pg 91). Thankfully, Virginia passed the landmark Virginia Clean Economy Act (VCEA) in 2020, charting a course to zero carbon emissions in our utility sector by 2050.

Unfortunately, Virginia's largest utility – Dominion

Energy – has signaled its plans to ignore the VCEA and take Virginia down a reckless and costly road. Its latest Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) makes no effort to meaningfully plan to phase out fossil power plants on a reasonable timeline. It fails to leverage the still untapped potential of energy efficiency, and it proposes tens of billions of dollars in modular nuclear and new natural gas facilities – while simultaneously placing all the risk of project failure on Virginians (see MANAGING TECHNOLOGIES UNPROVEN AT SCALE, pg 107).

SOLUTION

To achieve a zero-carbon emission grid, Virginia must fully implement the VCEA with a particular focus on its core tenets: the retirement of the fossil fuel generation fleet and the construction of and incentivization of proven zero-carbon resources.

The VCEA charted Virginia's clean energy path in 2020 to tackle climate change and establish the Commonwealth as a leader in the clean energy transition. This landmark policy has four main components: a 100% Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS), a Battery Storage Acquisition requirement, an Energy Efficiency Resource Standard, and fossil fuel generation retirement schedule – all of which are overseen by the SCC to ensure a reliable and affordable transition takes place.

An RPS outlines the required amount of electricity generation from clean, renewable resources – such as wind and solar.⁴ State-level renewable portfolio standards are highly effective – responsible for over 50% of clean energy growth in the country.⁵ There are currently 22 states, plus the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico, with 100% clean energy directives.⁶

The VCEA also sets targets of 3,100MW of energy storage by 2035, and requires 10% of energy storage projects to be deployed for power

backups at hospitals, government facilities, and more.⁷ These storage requirements complement the Energy Efficiency Resource Standard, which requires Dominion and Appalachian Power to meet a specific portion of their electricity demand through energy efficiency.⁸

Lastly, the VCEA requires Dominion and Appalachian Power to retire their fossil fuel plants by 2045 and 2050, respectively, including almost all of Dominion's coal-fired power plants by 2030.⁹ The VCEA allows utilities to petition the SCC to keep those plants open longer if closing them could negatively affect reliability.¹⁰

The VCEA, along with the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), put Virginia on a clear and stable path to a zero-carbon grid by 2050, and it must be implemented to its fullest potential.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Maintain the mandatory fossil fuel retirement schedule.

Ensure that VCEA incentives for clean energy remain applicable only to proven, zero-carbon resources like solar and wind.

Ensure that the SCC has full authority to shield captive ratepayers from the costs and risks of still unproven emerging generation technologies like modular nuclear reactors and hydrogen (See MANAGING TECHNOLOGIES UNPROVEN AT SCALE page 107).

Expand the role that third-party owned and operated solar, wind, and storage play in our energy mix (see SHIFTING UTILITIES' INCENTIVES FOR AFFORDABLE, CLEAN ENERGY, page 115).

Increase energy efficiency targets and empower the SCC to hold utilities accountable for failure to achieve said targets (see CUTTING ENERGY BILLS & AIR POLLUTION WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY, page 95). A clean energy transition protects our future generations – Chincoteague Island, Va Photo by Lis Heras



Nate Benforado // Southern Environmental Law Center // nbenforado@selcva.org Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Mandy Warner // Environmental Defense Fund // mwarner@edf.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) is a necessary tool for dealing with the causes and impacts of climate change. RGGI has already demonstrated its effectiveness in drawing down emissions and providing needed funding for flood resilience and energy efficiency across the Commonwealth. Virginia should continue its participation in RGGI and ensure the funds generated through RGGI, which flow to the Community Flood Preparedness Fund (CFPF) and energy efficiency programs, remain fully intact.

CHALLENGE

Virginia is already seeing the effects of climate change, and those effects are expected to intensify over the coming decades. By 2100, Virginia and the Chesapeake Bay watershed can expect to see up to a 20% average increase in extreme precipitation compared to 1950-2000.¹ In the next 60 years, nearly 950,000 Virginians are expected to be at risk from major coastal flooding and annualized coastal flood damages are expected to increase to \$5.1 billion.²

In addition to damage from flooding, rising temperature itself puts Virginia's health and livelihood at risk. The first decade of the 2000s was the warmest on record,³ and by midcentury, half of Virginia's counties are expected to face an increased risk of water shortages due to hotter, drier conditions.⁴ The agricultural industry, which generates \$27 billion in economic value for the state,⁵ faces particularly acute harm from these changes as heat and drought put workers, livestock, and crop yields at risk.⁶

Burning fossil fuels to generate electricity is a key driver of climate change, and also puts Virginians' health in danger. According to EPA program data, power plants in Virginia produced 1,228 tons of SOx pollution and 6,125 tons of NOx pollution in 2021.⁷ Air pollutants like sulfur oxides and nitrogen oxides can cause a range of dangerous health effects, including asthma and chronic bronchitis, and can damage the environment by acidifying water surfaces and soils, harming both forest and marine ecosystems.

SOLUTION

The urgency to address climate pollution only increases, but thankfully Virginia already has a proven solution in place. In 2020, the General Assembly enacted legislation requiring Virginia's participation in the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, also known as "RGGI" (pronounced "Reggie"). RGGI's market-based approach is specifically designed to reduce power plant pollution, and this program is already delivering results.

CARBON EMISSIONS HAVE DROPPED BY MORE Than 16% in the two year's that virginia has participated in RGGI

In just two full years of participation, Virginia power plant emissions have dropped by more than 16%.⁸ Moreover, Virginia's participation is bringing substantial funding to critical programs. Communities faced with the direct impacts of climate change have already received \$96 million in 48 planning grants and 35 project grants from the Community Flood Preparedness Fund – the only dedicated state funding source for critical flood resilience planning and project implementation.⁹ RGGI also benefits low-income Virginians through the Affordable and Special Needs Housing Fund, which in 2021 delivered \$29 million through 35 grants across the state.¹⁰ More than 2,300 highly-efficient affordable housing units are under construction thanks to Virginia's RGGI participation. Through 2030, more than one hundred thousand low-income households stand to benefit from RGGI energy efficiency funds, reducing their energy costs and improving their health while creating local jobs in energy efficiency.¹¹

Virginians need RGGI. Without RGGI, Virginia's emissions did not drop between 2010 and 2020, and Dominion appears set on increasing emissions, rather than investing in cheap and reliable renewable energy.¹² Moreover, the administration is attempting to remove Virginia from RGGI through regulatory action, despite the legal questions surrounding their authority to do so.

In the face of these threats, it is more important than ever to maintain Virginia's participation in RGGI. RGGI is proven to curtail power plant emissions while providing desperately needed resources-on a consistent and prompt basis-to support low-income energy efficiency programs and to strengthen statewide resilience to climate change. Additionally, reductions made to power sector carbon pollution through RGGI will very likely aid compliance with proposed federal carbon pollution standards, expected to be finalized next year.¹³

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Maintain Virginia's participation in RGGI in accordance with the 2020 law.

Maintain full funding for the Community Flood Preparedness Fund and energy efficiency programs, and ensure the state treasury and agencies promptly and regularly distribute such funds.

RGGI improves the air we breath and protects our communities from flooding Photo by Andre Eanes



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

CUTTING ENERGY BILLS & AIR POLLUTION WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY

Virginians pay some of the highest electricity bills nationwide, causing families living in severe poverty to use a disproportionately high 17% of their income for energy, on average. But much of the energy Virginians pay for is wasted. Energy efficiency — performing the same function using less energy — lowers energy bills, reduces energy-related pollution, and can mitigate the need for new power generation. Making efficiency the bedrock component of Virginia's energy policy will reduce pollution and household costs while creating local, good paying jobs. Virginia can benefit from ambitious energy efficiency policies such as ensuring localities have autonomy over building codes, and stronger efficiency standards for utilities.

Nate Benforado // Southern Environmental Law Center // nbenforado@selcva.org Laura Gonzalez Guerrero // Clean Virginia // laura@cleanvirginia.org Lena Lewis // The Nature Conservancy // lena.lewis@tnc.org

POWERING PROGRESS THROUGH ROOFTOP SOLAR

Distributed rooftop solar has many benefits as we build out the clean energy needed to reach the 100% zero-carbon-emissions standard laid out in Virginia's Clean Economy Act (VCEA). It is built on pre-existing infrastructure, decreasing the amount of land needed for larger projects, and built in a decentralized fashion creating a more resilient grid. With the right policy landscape, rooftop solar can be deployed quickly (without the need to wait in a queue to be interconnected) which will reduce rising peak demand, decrease carbon-emitting sources on the grid, and increase ratepayer savings. Getting more solar on homes, businesses and solar on schools can reduce costs, enhance public health, and combat climate change.

Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org McKenna Dunbar // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // mckenna.dunbar@sierraclub.org Ashish Kapoor // Piedmont Environmental Council // akapoor@pecva.org

EXPANDING ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SOLAR

Community solar is an affordable renewable energy option for residents who cannot secure rooftop solar due to logistical constraints. However, the shared solar and multi-family shared solar programs are only available to customers of Dominion and Old Dominion Power and, due to the high minimum bill in the shared solar program, participation is disincentivized. In addition to these utility shared solar programs, Dominion's "community" solar pilot program is fully subscribed, and the community solar programs offered by electric cooperatives in Virginia have a higher cost/kWh than conventional energy. Several changes are needed to maximize the potential of shared or community solar in Virginia.

Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // panderson@appvoices.org Ashish Kapoor // Piedmont Environmental Council // akapoor@pecva.org

MAXIMIZING OFFSHORE WIND GENERATION

The climate crisis demands rapid development of renewable energy resources, and offshore wind (OSW) has the potential to deliver upwards of 30% of Virginia's 100% clean energy standard. However, Virginia law supports only a small fraction of that standard generated by OSW. There is well over 10 GW of capacity in active and proposed projects just within the mid-Atlantic area that is most efficiently and logistically transmitting that OSW power to the larger PJM via entry into Virginia. For Virginia to realize the maximum economic and job creation benefits of OSW, ensure its equitable development, and quickly meet 100% clean energy goals, we must increase the amount of sustainably developed OSW in the public interest and require Virginia utilities to build and buy that total generation.

Eileen Woll // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // eileen.woll@sierraclub.org



RENEWABLE ENERGY & ENERGY EFFICIENCY

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Mary Rafferty // Executive Director // mary@vcnva.org

Nate Benforado // Southern Environmental Law Center // nbenforado@selcva.org Laura Gonzalez Guerrero // Clean Virginia // laura@cleanvirginia.org Lena Lewis // The Nature Conservancy // lena.lewis@tnc.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginians pay some of the highest electricity bills nationwide, causing families living in severe poverty to use a disproportionately high 17% of their income for energy, on average.^{1,2,3} But much of the energy Virginians pay for is wasted.⁴ Energy efficiency — performing the same function using less energy — lowers energy bills, reduces energyrelated pollution, and can mitigate the need for new power generation.⁵ Making efficiency the bedrock component of Virginia's energy policy will reduce pollution and household costs while creating local, good paying jobs.⁶ Virginia can benefit from ambitious energy efficiency policies such as ensuring localities have autonomy over building codes, and stronger efficiency standards for utilities.

CHALLENGE

While Virginia has passed significant energy efficiency legislation in the past, the Commonwealth's chronically high electricity bills and energy burden – the percentage of gross household income spent on energy costs – show Virginia still has untapped energy efficiency potential.^{7,8,9} Energy efficiency programs can also help start to address historic injustices, as high energy costs disproportionately impact lowincome, Black, and Latinx families.^{10,11,12}

Despite the progress Virginia has made, numerous barriers are still keeping the benefits of energy efficiency out of the hands of Virginians. Low-tomoderate income households stand to benefit most from energy efficiency, but the upfront costs are often too high. Lack of information also impedes the widespread uptake of such retrofits. Renters are often prevented from making efficient changes based on restrictions from the building owners. Business owners can also be limited by upfront costs and lack of information.

Builders of new construction often prioritize a lower sales price, rather than making a building more efficient during its initial construction, locking Virginians into 50 to 100 years of higher energy costs. Existing buildings can increase efficiency by replacing fossil fuel-powered appliances, such as heating systems, with more efficient electric versions.¹³ Unfortunately, current policies restrict some opportunities for this beneficial electrification. Furthermore, utility monopolies chasing high-profit opportunities like building new power plants are continually incentivized to maintain higher energy demand over energy efficiency.

SOLUTION

Virginia needs an ambitious energy efficiency policy, which will drive down energy costs, reduce pollution, and spur job growth.

COST-EFFECTIVE EFFICIENCY UPGRADES CAN SAVE THE AVERAGE VIRGINIA HOUSEHOLD \$729 A YEAR ON UTILITY BILLS

Cost-effective efficiency upgrades can save the average Virginia household \$729 a year on utility bills.¹⁴ Businesses also benefit from energy efficiency, as the average commercial building wastes 30% of its energy.¹⁵ Furthermore, tapping the full US energy efficiency potential could cut national carbon emissions by 50% by 2050.¹⁶ Lastly, energy efficiency generates the highest number of jobs in Virginia's energy sector. In 2022, the efficiency industry sustained over 74,000 jobs, compared to less than 31,000 from power generation and the fuel industry combined.¹⁷

A suite of complementary policies can expand these benefits in Virginia. Implementing more efficient building codes for new and renovated buildings and electrifying fossil fuel-powered appliances can further reduce energy costs and pollution.¹⁸ The Energy Efficiency Resource Standard (EERS) sets annual energy savings targets for electric utility monopolies. Stronger EERS targets, penalties, and incentives would drive utilities to deploy broader efficiency programs, avoiding costly new generation.¹⁹

The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law and the Inflation Reduction Act made important resources available for energy efficiency investments. State agencies need to track and actively help beneficiaries – including local and state governments, utilities, schools, and homes – apply to as many funding opportunities as possible.

Local governments should also be empowered to advance energy efficiency. Localities need to be granted authority to (a) require building owners to "benchmark" their buildings' energy intensity so potential tenants know energy costs in advance, incentivizing owners to make efficiency upgrades, and (b) adopt stronger efficiency and climate standards for buildings in their jurisdictions.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Extend and strengthen the Energy Efficiency Resource Standard targets beyond 2025.

Clarify that electric utility energy efficiency programs can include replacing fossil-fuel powered heaters and water heaters with electric ones.

Allow localities to 1) adopt codes with stronger energy efficiency and climate standards, and 2) require building owners to publicize buildings' energy intensity.

Maintain Virginia's participation in the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, including the 50% revenue allocation to low-income energy efficiency programs, and ensure that the money is delivered to the projects that need it.

Require state agencies to track and develop a comprehensive plan to take advantage of all federal funding available. Chrysler Museum Lightbulbs – Norfolk Photo by Selah Ball



Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org McKenna Dunbar // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // mckenna.dunbar@sierraclub.org Ashish Kapoor // Piedmont Environmental Council // akapoor@pecva.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Distributed rooftop solar has many benefits as we build out the clean energy needed to reach the 100% zero-carbon-emissions standard laid out in Virginia's Clean Economy Act (VCEA). It is built on a pre-existing infrastructure, decreasing the amount of land needed for larger projects, and built in a decentralized fashion creating a more resilient grid. With the right policy landscape, rooftop solar can be deployed quickly (without the need to wait in a queue to be interconnected) which will reduce rising peak demand,¹ decrease carbon-emitting sources on the grid, and increase ratepayer savings. Getting more solar on homes, businesses and solar on schools can reduce costs, enhance public health, and combat climate change.

CHALLENGE

Distributed energy is any energy that is produced at the same location that it is used and is less than five megawatts of capacity. Many distributed solar energy systems are sited on rooftops and are oftentimes referred to as "rooftop solar". Rooftop solar is oftentimes a much smaller system (less than 25kW). Unfortunately in Virginia, the adoption of rooftop solar on homes and apartment buildings lags because there are not a menu of programs that incentivize rooftop solar for Virginians, especially for those who are low-income. Barriers include the lack of access to upfront capital as well as arbitrary caps placed on the amount of distributed power that can be built as part of our electricity grid.

Developers can offer power purchase agreements ("PPAs") – a financial arrangement where a thirdparty developer owns, operates, and maintains a solar energy system on a customer's property, and the customer agrees to purchase the system's electric output for a predetermined period. However, the law limits that program's capacity to 500 MW. This cap includes both rooftop and distributed community solar (see EXPANDING ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SOLAR, pg 99). For residential, only low income customers are eligible for PPAs meaning only those Virginians who can afford the upfront cost of a residential system or who can finance those costs on their own, are able to participate in Virginia's solar net metering program.

Net metered rooftop solar, which is a solar system connected to the grid that allows surplus energy to be credited to the customer, is also limited in scope by law in Virginia. Virginia law currently limits net metered energy to 6% of the previous year's peak-load.

Another major opportunity (and subsequent obstacle) is getting rooftop solar on schools. The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) now allows for costeffective solar array installations. Thanks to the IRA, many Virginia schools including those in Richmond, Isle of Wight, and Lee County, have effectively leveraged PPAs to incorporate solar energy into their local infrastructures.² Yet, this transformative shift towards renewable energy has been hindered by aging building stock throughout the state. Addressing this issue requires the renovation of existing infrastructure to facilitate the installation of rooftop solar.³

SOLUTION

Virginia can increase the amount of rooftop solar – thus decreasing the need for more carbonemitting power plants to meet peak demand by increasing the ability for consumers to access upfront capital, removing restrictive market caps, and ensuring solar-ready roofs. In addition, a state level investment tax credit on rooftop solar could further boost financial capital and has been shown to be effective in increasing installations. ⁴

To expand equitable access to rooftop solar, the IRAs Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund ("GGRF") contains a \$7 billion Solar for All competition, which can provide disadvantaged communities with renewable funding. Expanding the opportunity for PPAs (aka solar leases) and alternative financing can also increase adoption by low-income customers as they can avoid upfront costs. While Virginia's net metering law allows solar leases, certain utilities have declined to expressly consent to interconnect such customers. For purchases, Residential Property Assessed Clean Energy (R-PACE) provides an innovative mechanism for financing renewable energy by avoiding credit checks and using the homeowner's property as collateral. Authorizing the adoption of R-PACE districts with airtight consumer protection provisions has proven to be effective. Lastly, Virginia schools can reduce energy costs through rooftop solar, freeing funds for vital areas like teachers' salaries. For instance, Highland Springs High School will save \$420,000 over 25 years with solar.⁵ The adoption of solar-ready roofs and net-zero designs should be mandated, ensuring a sustainable future.

A robust distributed energy policy can bring more renewable energy to the grid more quickly, decrease peak load demands, take more carbonemitting sources offline, and move Virginia closer to our 2050 100% zero-carbon requirements as mandated by the VCEA.⁶

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Increase net metering cap on distributed generation beyond 6% of the previous year's peak load and create state-level investment tax credit (with schools, municipalities, houses of worship and tribal governments receiving direct pay reimbursements) for rooftop solar.

Explicitly allow solar leasing.

Support the VA Department of Energy as it creates a program to disburse the Solar for All funds.

Authorize R-PACE to provide low-income Virginians with an additional option to go solar. Any R-PACE program must contain airtight consumer protection provisions that ensure customers are properly educated about the program and that they have the ability to pay the voluntary assessments.

Require net-zero energy standards and solar-ready roofs for new and majorly renovated schools, enabling renewable energy adoption and long-term savings.



Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // panderson@appvoices.org Ashish Kapoor // Piedmont Environmental Council // akapoor@pecva.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Community solar is an affordable renewable energy option for residents who cannot secure rooftop solar due to logistical constraints. However, the shared solar and multi-family shared solar programs are only available to customers of Dominion and Old Dominion Power and, due to the high minimum bill in the shared solar program, participation is disincentivized. In addition to these utilityshared solar programs, Dominion's "community" solar pilot program is fully subscribed,¹ and the community solar programs offered by electric cooperatives in Virginia have a higher cost/kWh than conventional energy.^{2,3} Several changes are needed to maximize the potential of shared or community solar in Virginia.

CHALLENGE

Many Virginians want to power their homes and businesses with clean, renewable solar power. However, not everyone has the capacity to put solar on their own rooftop due to ownership, capital, or other technical restraints. Community solar is a centralized solar facility capped at 5MW that many users can pay into and take advantage of the clean power. This size and funding model is critical for Virginia to hit the clean energy goals outlined in the Clean EconomyAct. Unfortunately, due to policy constraints, community solar is mostly unattainable by Virginia consumers.

The biggest policy barrier for community solar is the \$55/month minimum, meaning consumers participating in community solar must pay a base of \$55 before any additional costs plus an additional \$10 - \$20 administration fee. When the State Corporation Commission (SCC) established this charge, they did not consider the benefits that shared solar facilities provide, including transmission system benefits, distribution system benefits, purchased power benefits, fuel factor benefits, This cost barrier makes shared solar unattainable to most.

While the existing shared solar and multifamily shared solar programs are imperfect, Appalachian Power Company's 500,000 customers have no access to shared solar at all. That leaves a big opportunity on the table for Southwest Virginia, as the Inflation Reduction Act provides an additional 10% tax credit for solar projects located in coal country which will allow a wider range of ratepayers to save from solar energy.

APPALACHIAN POWER COMPANY'S 500,000 CUSTOMERS HAVE NO ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SOLAR AT ALL

Unproven cost shifting arguments by utilities,^{4,5} excessive infrastructure costs borne by solar developers,⁶ and lengthy interconnection processes^{7,8} further prevent community solar from being a viable part of Virginia's clean energy future. Additionally, parking lots, brownfields, and farms are often not utilized as part of the solution due to the increased costs needed to make the infrastructure viable. For example, while Southwest Virginia alone has over 71,000 acres of land impacted by coal mining that could be reclaimed for productive use hosting solar, these lands are more expensive to redevelop than the greenfields often prioritized by solar developers.

SOLUTION

Expanding the reach of Virginia's existing community solar programs, both for utility and electric cooperative customers, will ensure a more equitable clean energy transition. This can be achieved by reducing the minimum bill to ensure that Virginians of all income levels can participate in the program. In addition, expanding shared solar and multi-family shared solar into APCo's territory will break down barriers to solar for communities in Southwest Virginia. The more that Virginia can use built structures for community solar, the less we use valuable greenfields, forests, and prime agricultural soil for large-scale solar. A forward-looking community solar policy incentivizes solar installations on parking lots, brownfields, landfills, and formerly mined lands to create additional value on built space. Further, a robust agrivoltaics policy helps farmers diversify their income and optimize land use by building solar in conjunction with crops and pasture.

In addition, community-scale solar can bypass the years-long PJM interconnection backlog and provide faster renewable energy to Virginia at a time of unprecedented growing demand.⁹ A streamlined and uniform interconnection process that shifts disproportionate infrastructure costs away from initial developers, reviews multiple projects simultaneously, and allows faster connection to the grid will further the immediate benefits of community solar to the Commonwealth. All of these topics should be included in a model ordinance that can help guide counties as they adopt ordinances for distributed solar.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Cap the minimum bill for community solar at an amount that will allow robust participation in the program for all Virginians. Require the SCC to consider the benefits of shared solar facilities alongside any potential cost shift.

Expand the shared solar and multi-family programs into APCo's territory. Low-income customers should be exempt from a minimum bill and limits should be placed on the minimum bill for all other customers.

Develop a model ordinance to guide counties in adopting updated solar ordinances for distributed generation.

Provide State Investment Tax Credit and Production Tax Credit for parking lot solar and agrivoltaics.

Streamline and lessen the cost burden for community solar interconnection process.

\$35M each year through Virginia Energy for the Virginia Brownfield and Coal Mine Renewable Energy Grant Fund and Program.

Thoughtfully designed solar arrays in Shenandoah, Va Photo by Wyatt Gordon



MAXIMIZING OFFSHORE WIND GENERATION *RENEWABLE ENERGY & ENERGY EFFICIENCY*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The climate crisis demands rapid development of renewable energy resources, and offshore wind (OSW) has the potential to deliver upwards of 30% of Virginia's 100% clean energy standard. However, Virginia law supports only a small fraction of that standard generated by OSW. There is well over 10 GW of capacity in active and proposed projects just within the mid-Atlantic area that is most efficiently and logistically transmitting that OSW power to the larger PJM via entry into Virginia. For Virginia to realize the maximum economic and job creation benefits of OSW, ensure its equitable development, and quickly meet 100% clean energy goals, we must increase the amount of sustainably developed OSW in the public interest and require Virginia utilities to build and buy that total generation.

OFFSHORE WIND CAN DELIVER OVER 30% OF VIRGINIA'S 100% CLEAN ENERGY STANDARD

CHALLENGE

Virginia currently deems 5200 MW of OSW to be in the public interest, which Dominion is recommended to acquire through the Virginia Clean Economy Act (VCEA). The first phase of that total is satisfied with its Coastal Virginia Offshore Wind (CVOW), a \$10 billion dollar, 2600 MW project, that will be online in late 2026.

There are currently 27 commercial OSW lease projects in the Atlantic potentially delivering almost 39,000 MW of power to the grid.¹ CVOW is unique amongst them in being the only utility-owned project, where Dominion is both developer and "buyer" of all 2600 MW of Virginia's OSW. Coastal states north of Virginia have statelevel OSW procurement commitments totaling 39 GW by 2040, supporting a competitive process that materializes in power purchase agreements with maximum benefits to both the state and its electricity consumers. In mid-2024, the federal Bureau of Ocean Energy Management will auction off several new lease areas in the Central Atlantic for OSW development. Two large offshore areas (Call Areas C and D) are directly adjacent to CVOW and to Avangrid's Kitty Hawk 3600 MW project. If these call areas progress to final lease areas, there would be four lease areas that could easily bring 10,000 MW of OSW to Virginia.

To satisfy the VCEA requirement to develop 5,200 MW of OSW, Dominion has indicated interest² in these additional lease areas and is likely participating in the lease auction planned for early 2024. Just like with CVOW as it stands currently, pending approval by the State Corporation Commission, the costs to develop that additional OSW will be passed on to its ratepayers and Dominion allowed a profit margin on the multibillion dollar project.

SOLUTION

The public's best interest can be best realized with increased production and generation of OSW, especially given OSW's massive economic and job creation benefits for Virginians, and its great capacity to confront the climate crisis in significant proportions. A number of large areas off Virginia's coast are in the planning process for development which easily provides that increased generation, allowing Virginia to increase OSW in the public interest from 5,200 MW to 10,000 MW.

Increasing the amount of OSW in the public interest must be coupled with requirements that the 10,000 MW is developed at the most competitive rates possible. This will ensure competitive costs for OSW, its development, and maximum benefits to Virginia electricity consumers.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Increase the amount of offshore wind deemed to be in the public interest from 5200 MW to 10,000 MW by 2030.

Require that the second tranche of CVOW be subject to a competitive procurement process.

Require Dominion to issue a competitive solicitation to contract or purchase the output of any offshore wind facilities not currently under development.

Offshore Wind Test Turbine – Virginia Beach, VA Photo by Hunter Noffsinger

EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

SURGING ENERGY DEMAND FROM DATA CENTERS

Data centers are large industrial buildings filled with computers that store, process, and distribute large amounts of digital information. Northern Virginia leads the world in data center development, housing nearly 50% of all US facilities. While data centers generate significant tax revenue for the localities in which they reside, they are also the primary driver behind a massive spike in peak electricity demand in Virginia, which through some estimates is projected to more than double by 2038. Virginia needs to chart a responsible path forward, balancing the growth of our digital world with the need to power that growth with affordable carbon-free energy.

Will Cleveland // Southern Environmental Law Center // wcleaveland@selcva.org Dan Holmes // Clean Virginia // dan@cleanvirginia.org

MANAGING TECHNOLOGIES UNPROVEN AT SCALE

As Virginia's industries and utilities work to power our communities with carbon-free energy, it is critical that our environment and consumers are protected as we consider technologies not yet proven at scale. There are serious environmental and consumer protection concerns associated with modular nuclear energy, hydrogen, and carbon capture and sequestration. These technologies are not commercially viable and the costs of development are almost orders of magnitude greater than already proven technologies such as wind, solar, and battery storage. Virginia should maintain focus on bringing these proven technologies to scale and not invest taxpayer or ratepayer resources into unproven technologies.

Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org Will Cleveland // Southern Environmental Law Center // wcleveland@selcva.org Connor Kish // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // connor.kish@sierraclub.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org

PREVENTING PIPELINE HARMS

The poorly planned and constructed fracked-gas Mountain Valley Pipeline (MVP) currently harms Virginia's fragile water resources and ecosystems.Projects like MVP and the proposed Virginia Reliability Project perpetuate environmental injustice and hinder us from achieving the clean energy goals of our Commonwealth. The operation of these facilities is associated with the emission of methane, a potent greenhouse gas, as well as carbon dioxide emissions driven by end use, posing serious consequences to the climate. Ultimately, Virginia communities bear the brunt of negative public health impacts to water and air quality, along with economic harm to farmland and other critical agricultural lands. Virginia must strengthen protections for the water resources and communities jeopardized by fossil fuel infrastructure.

Connor Kish // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // connor.kish@sierraclub.org Jessica Sims // Appalachian Voices // jessica@appvoices.org David Sligh // Wild Virginia // david@wildvirginia.org

DIRTY ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Mary Rafferty // Executive Director // mary@vcnva.org Pat Calvert // Program Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation // pat@vcnva.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Data centers are large industrial buildings filled with computers that store, process, and distribute large amounts of digital information. Northern Virginia leads the world in data center development, housing nearly 50% of all US facilities.¹ While data centers generate significant tax revenue for the localities in which they reside, they are also the primary driver behind a massive spike in peak electricity demand in Virginia, which through some estimates is projected to more than double by 2038. Virginia needs to chart a responsible path forward, balancing the growth of our digital world with the need to power that growth with affordable carbon-free energy.

CHALLENGE

Data storage needs have grown exponentially with the rise of the internet and new trends like Artificial Intelligence (AI), cryptocurrency, and the expansion of rural broadband have dramatically accelerated this pace. For a variety of reasons, including industry tax breaks, low costs, and an existing fiber network, Northern Virginia is



The January 2023 PJM Load Forecast projects that the data center industry's planned growth in the region will more than double the state's peak electricity demand through 2038 (blue line). expected to continue to serve as a favorable location for new data centers. As a result, the industry's planned growth in the region is projected to more than double the state's peak electricity demand through 2038, according to PJM and Dominion Energy, the state's largest electricity provider (see graph below). This increase is by no means certain; Dominion Energy has a long track record of predicting far more growth than actually occurs, and uncertainty is even greater about data centers since the projections involve only one industry. While we should not accept these forecasts as guaranteed, we should take seriously the problems that such growth could cause and plan accordingly.

DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT IS PROJECTED TO MORE THAN DOUBLE THE STATE'S PEAK ELECTRICITY DEMAND THROUGH 2038

In their latest long-term Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) filed in April, Dominion Energy has suggested meeting demand growth by building a substantial amount of renewable energy and storage. But this plan also proposes preserving existing coal and natural gas generation as well as building new fossil fuel generation and costly Small Modular Nuclear Reactors (SMNRs). This plan ignores Virginia's clean energy requirements and places a significant burden on families and other businesses to subsidize the construction and operation of the significant infrastructure necessary to meet the increase in electricity demand.

In addition to a massive increase in needed electric generation, data center growth will also require significant new transmission infrastructure. Just this past General Assembly session, legislation was passed recognizing a \$627 million emergency transmission project in response to the Northern Virginia data center cluster. Strain on the grid has also brought an increased use of diesel generators which serve as the backup power source for data centers, raising concerns about local air quality.

Currently, data centers are approved at the town/city/county level. The local process does not address cumulative state and regional level impacts on Virginia's energy grid, natural resources and land use (see MITIGATING DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT, pg 57). Without significant state oversight and planning, Virginia could face unsustainable energy demand, potentially leading our utilities to pursue unnecessary generation projects, including fossil fuel generation in direct opposition to clean energy policies.

SOLUTION

This level of data center expansion is a new and global trend of which Virginia is at the forefront. If Virginia is to continue recruiting this industry, numerous questions must be answered to determine a sustainable path forward. While data centers are an important part of Virginia's economic development plan, that plan must align with our ability to protect the environment and provide for a clean, affordable energy transition for all. Virginia is facing an unprecedented energy challenge with explosive growth in this sector. Proper planning can offset some of the anticipated impacts, and we can take steps now to provide appropriate cost allocation, ensuring responsible parties are paying for the necessary upgrades to our electric system. But in order to develop a holistic and sustainable solution, we need to establish a proper accounting of the externalities of the industry.

A comprehensive study is necessary to illustrate the opportunities and challenges related to different scenarios for buildout of the data industry in Virginia. This study should address energy demand and gauge our ability to meet our goal of a clean energy transition while avoiding unnecessary impacts on communities and natural resources.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

An Independent Study: Contract with an independent body like the National Academy of Sciences to study all costs and benefits of the data center industry. Specifically related to energy demand it should evaluate impacts to the grid and our ability to reliably meet demand with carbon-free energy resources. It should integrate efforts of the industry to improve efficiency and procure clean energy so as to avoid duplication of efforts by our utilities and highlight impacts to ratepayers.

Permitting, Planning, and Education: Implement a state review process for new proposals. A review of individual projects that fails to account for the aggregate impacts of all projects invariably means that no one fully appreciates the total picture. The Department of Energy, in coordination with the Department of Environmental Quality, should provide assistance to local governments, including siting criteria information related to the necessary energy infrastructure to power the project.

Protect from Cost Shift: The rules governing approval and allocation of costs for new transmission and generation approval should be examined and – if necessary – changed to ensure that parties causing investments bear the costs of those investments, preventing residential energy customers from shouldering this burden.

Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org Will Cleveland // Southern Environmental Law Center // wcleveland@selcva.org Connor Kish // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // connor.kish@sierraclub.org Blair St. Ledger-Olson // Climate Cabinet Education // blair@climatecabinet.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

As Virginia's industries and utilities work to power our communities with carbon-free energy, it is critical that our environment and consumers are protected as we consider technologies not yet proven at scale. There are serious environmental and consumer protection concerns associated with modular nuclear energy, hydrogen, and carbon capture and sequestration. These technologies are not commercially viable and the costs of development are almost orders of magnitude greater than already proven technologies such as wind, solar, and battery storage.¹ Virginia should maintain focus on bringing these proven technologies to scale and not invest taxpayer or ratepayer resources into unproven technologies.

CHALLENGE

While the costs of wind and solar have plummeted in recent years, the costs of nuclear – particularly modular reactors – are trending in the opposite direction, leaving it unproven at scale.² There are no modular nuclear reactors currently in commercial operation in the US.³ The current leading proposal – set to be completed in 2029 – recently announced that its estimated costs have risen from \$5.3 billion to \$9.3 billion, for a total of only 462 MW capacity.⁴

Hydrogen is also extremely costly and energyintensive to produce. It takes a significant amount of energy to produce hydrogen. Green hydrogen, using clean energy to generate hydrogen to then burn for electricity generation is duplicative and wasteful – not to mention the fact that there is currently not a surplus of clean energy on the grid. Research suggests green hydrogen can require 2 to 14 times more energy than available alternatives that use direct electrification, meaning it doesn't make sense to divert clean energy from the electrical grid to make hydrogen for uses where clean electricity can serve these energy needs directly.¹ While green hydrogen may have a future role in replacing natural gas as a manufacturing feedstock or in aviation, hydrogen should not be used for electricity generation or in homes.

| MODULAR NUCLEAR REACTORS AND HYDROGEN | ARE STILL UNPROVEN WITH SIGNIFICANT | UNANSWERED COST AND SAFETY CONCERNS

Despite these facts, Virginia's 2023 legislative saw numerous bills to prematurely codify and embed these technologies into the state's energy policy. Existing law in Virginia, thanks to the Virginia Clean Economy Act of 2020 (see ACHIEVING 100% CLEAN ENERGY, page 89), already permits existing nuclear and emerging technologies if and when they become safe and commercially viable. Currently, modular nuclear reactors and hydrogen are still unproven with significant unanswered cost and safety concerns, and therefore additional policy leverage should not be given at this time.²

SOLUTION

As technologies evolve that might eventually play a role in the clean energy transition, the environment and ratepayers should not bear the brunt of the risks of these unproven solutions. By prematurely propping up these technologies, Virginia could risk facing the financial and environmental crises that have plagued other states whose deliberations were inadequate.³

As new technologies appear, lawmakers in partnership with state agencies should 1) engage in deep research and education about the topics, 2) compare and contrast the proposals and their results in other states, 3) prioritize environmental protections and environmental justice, 4) protect captive ratepayers from the economic risks associated with speculative development of unproven technologies, and 5) avoid prematurely codifying terms and processes that could advance unproven tech.

The solution to uplifting new technologies is ultimately to allow private markets, private industries, and private investors to take on the risk of assessing the viability of such technologies – including their environmental risk – with strong regulatory and government oversight. The ratepayers and taxpayers of Virginia don't need to pay for the research and development of unproven technologies – this is the role of private investors.

In closing, no modular nuclear reactors are currently powering the electric grid in the US and there is not enough green hydrogen to power anything cleanly. Clean, cheaper wind and solar are available now, operating, and working to power our communities while providing drastic emissions reductions and delivering powerful economic benefits to the communities they operate in and around.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Prioritize existing affordable, clean, renewable energy resources instead of unproven resources that have extremely high – and rising – costs.

Shield ratepayers and taxpayers from the cost of researching and/or constructing unproven technologies like modular nuclear and hydrogen.

Prevent non-renewable technologies from inclusion in Virginia's renewable portfolio standard as that will disrupt Virginia's thriving solar and wind industry.

Differentiate between green, brown, pink, and other forms of hydrogen in any hydrogen-related policies.

Do not consider hydrogen for electricity generation or the powering of homes.

Modular nuclear reactors are proposed to be located in Southwest Virginia – Coeburn Powell Valley Photo by Andre Eanes

PREVENTING PIPELINE HARMS *DIRTY ENERGY INFRASTRUCTURE*

Connor Kish // Sierra Club Virginia Chapter // connor.kish@sierraclub.org Jessica Sims // Appalachian Voices // jessica@appvoices.org David Sligh // Wild Virginia // david@wildvirginia.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The poorly planned and constructed fracked-gas Mountain Valley Pipeline (MVP) currently harms Virginia's fragile water resources and ecosystems.¹ Projects like MVP and the proposed Virginia Reliability Project perpetuate environmental injustice and hinder us from achieving the clean energy goals of our Commonwealth. The operation of these facilities is associated with the emission of methane, a potent greenhouse gas, as well as carbon dioxide emissions driven by end use, posing serious consequences to the climate. Ultimately, Virginia communities bear the brunt of negative public health impacts to water and air guality, along with economic harm to farmland and other critical agricultural lands. Virginia must strengthen protections for the water resources and communities jeopardized by fossil fuel infrastructure.

CHALLENGE

Continued expansion of fossil fuel infrastructure is at odds with a healthy future for the Commonwealth, and it runs counter to climate mitigation measures recommended by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).² Although Virginia has passed laws to promote clean energy and improve accountability measures, new fossil-fuel infrastructure projects continue to be licensed and ultimately harm Virginia communities. Water and air pollution from fossil fuel infrastructure impedes the historic goals set in federal and state laws, and the resulting harms tend to fall disproportionately on Black, Indigenous, low-income, and elderly communities.³

THE MOUNTAIN VALLEY PIPELINE COULD Emit Nearly 1% of all US energy sector Greenhouse gas emissions

Representative of the overbuilding and inappropriate siting of pipeline projects, the Mountain Valley Pipeline has accrued 350+ violations,⁴ and has the potential to emit greenhouse gasses on a scale comparable to over 18 coal-fired power plants.⁵ Construction of the project has wrought significant harm on local environments, damaged Indigenous cultural and sacred sites,⁶ and negatively impacted rural communities and residents' livelihoods. Additionally, the pipeline could be responsible for nearly 1% of all US energy sector greenhouse gas emissions.⁷

MVP received unprecedented Congressional interference in 2023 in the Fiscal Responsibility Act, which required the approval of missing federal authorizations and attempted to remove opportunities for judicial review.⁸ This sacrifice of Appalachia will increase damage to Southwest Virginia and set a dangerous precedent for Virginia's ability to protect its natural resources.

New pipeline expansion projects proposed for Eastern Virginia, like the 'Virginia Reliability Project,' raise concerns about construction through areas overburdened with existing infrastructure and pollution.⁹ Effects on wetlands and private wells – especially in areas prone to recurrent flooding and sea level rise – are concerning, as are potential impacts to the Nansemond River and Great Dismal Swamp, important cultural resources of the Nansemond Tribe.¹⁰

SOLUTION

Fossil fuels are the energy of Virginia's past, not our future. Given the steps necessary to mitigate the worsening climate crisis, the critical point we have reached in that crisis, and the potential for a robust clean energy future for the Commonwealth, new fossil fuel infrastructure should not be pursued. We have learned from projects like the Mountain Valley Pipeline that current laws and regulations do not adequately protect water resources, public health or the environment from the construction of new fossil fuel infrastructure. MVP's violations highlight the perils of construction in fragile karst landscapes and through seismic zones and reinforce the need for agencies to hear from local communities about the real-world impacts they experience from pipeline construction.

Absent a ban, any new fossil fuel build out, including both interstate and intrastate pipelines, must be thoroughly and holistically scrutinized through processes that fully engage and respect the public's views and interests. Fossil fuel projects should receive a comprehensive review, including cumulative health and environmental impacts on nearby communities. For projects already in process, enforcement of pollution laws must be prioritized, and companies who pollute must be held fully accountable, regardless of project completion or abandonment. Review processes should include bonding requirements for appropriate funding or insurance coverage, and include stringent environmental restoration requirements.

Virginia lawmakers should strengthen state review of projects and increase public involvement and participation in those reviews and streamline opportunities to report problems. Ultimately, policy improvements are required to accurately recognize the current climate crisis, prevent future harm, and protect and restore communities and areas negatively impacted by existing projects.

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Include bonding and restoration requirements in permit applications for fossil fuel projects.

Require an individual Virginia Water Protection Permit and Uplands Certification under Article 2.6 of the State Water Control Law for all natural gas transmission pipelines 24 inches in diameter and greater that are subject to § 7c of the Natural Gas Act.

Prohibit new fossil fuel construction in areas of karst terrain.

Strengthen opportunities for the public to report on-the-ground construction failures to the DEQ.

Require DEQ approval for pipeline variances submitted to the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission that could affect Virginia water quality, or impact the 401 certification (as allowed by federal law).

The Mountain Valley PIpeline could cut through Virginia's national & state parks, protected streams, and viewsheds – Blue Ridge Parkway Photo by Rachel Kingery ----

N

GOOD GOVERNANCE

None of the conservation efforts detailed in Our Common Agenda can be realized without an equitable and inclusive government. Policies and programs must represent and benefit all Virginians and should not cause disproportionate harm to low-income communities and communities of color, core programs and agencies should be fully staffed and funded, and people - not utilities - should have a voice in the halls of Richmond.

JTILITY ACCOUNTABILITY SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	113
SHIFTING UTILITIES' INCENTIVES FOR AFFORDABLE, CLEAN ENERGY TRANSITION	115
ENSURING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL SERVICES	117
CURBING ELECTRIC UTILITIES' POLITICAL INFLUENCE	119
ENVIRONMENTAL EQUITY SUMMARIES AND CONTACTS	121
ADVANCING ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE	
SUPPORTING VIRGINIA'S EDUCATION WORKFORCE	
CONSERVATION FUNDING SUMMARIES AND CONTACT INFORMATION	127
FEDERAL FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES	129
VIRGINIA CONSERVATION BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS	



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

SHIFTING UTILITIES' INCENTIVES FOR AFFORDABLE, CLEAN ENERGY

Virginia's largest investor-owned utility (IOU) monopolies are currently incentivized to prioritize capital-intensive investments, which puts their profit motive at odds with cutting costs for consumers and meeting their mandated clean energy goals. Aligning utilities' profit incentives with sustainability goals, such as the interconnection of distributed resources, grid reliability, and efficiency measures, can facilitate a swift and affordable clean energy transition that advances least-cost solutions.

Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org Laura Gonzalez Guerrero // Clean Virginia // laura@cleanvirginia.org Joy Loving // Climate Action Alliance of the Valley // jal_1998@yahoo.com

ENSURING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL UTILITIES

Access to energy and water utilities is essential for human health and wellbeing. However, clean water and the ability to light, heat, and cool a home are not guaranteed for underprivileged households in Virginia. By modeling policy approaches in other southeastern states, Virginia can establish important protections for vulnerable households and reduce utility burdens for the longterm. In doing so, we can promote public health and ensure more equitable outcomes when a household's access to these vital services is in jeopardy due to unaffordable bills.

Kendl Kobbervig // Clean Virginia // kendl@cleanvirginia.org Joy Loving // Climate Action Alliance of the Valley // jal_1998@yahoo.com Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org

CURBING ELECTRIC UTILITIES' POLITICAL INFLUENCE

Virginia's electric utilities have an undeniable influence in shaping energy policy through their monopoly status and unrestricted financial contributions to lawmakers. Dominion Energy, Virginia's largest utility monopoly and largest corporate donor, gives unlimited money directly to the lawmakers in charge of regulating them. This flawed system drowns out the voices of everyday Virginians and opens the door for Dominion Energy to regulate itself. It is time we shift more political power to Virginians by banning political contributions from electric utilities to the very lawmakers responsible for regulating them.

Dan Holmes // Clean Virginia // dan@cleanvirginia.org

UTILITY ACCOUNTABILITY

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Mary Rafferty // Executive Director // mary@vcnva.org

SHIFTING UTILITIES' INCENTIVES FOR AFFORDABLE, CLEAN ENERGY I ITII ITY ACCOUNTABILITY

Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org Laura Gonzalez Guerrero // Clean Virginia // Jaura@cleanvirginia.org Joy Loving // Climate Action Alliance of the Valley // jal_1998@yahoo.com

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia's largest investor-owned utility (IOU) monopolies are currently incentivized to prioritize capital-intensive investments, which puts their profit motive at odds with cutting costs for consumers and meeting their mandated clean energy goals. Aligning utilities' profit incentives with sustainability goals, such as the interconnection of distributed resources, grid reliability, and efficiency measures, can facilitate a swift and affordable clean energy transition that advances least-cost solutions.

CHALLENGE

Virginians pay some of the highest energy prices in the nation, which disproportionately impacts lowincome households and historically marginalized communities.^{1,2,3} High energy costs are tied to the regulations of Virginia's investor-owned utility (IOU) monopolies that reward utilities for capitalintensive investments rather than cost-saving measures - i.e., the more expensive a project is, the more profits the utility collects.4

HIGH ENERGY BILLS ARE TIED TO REGULATIONS THAT PROFIT OUR INVESTOR-OWNED UTILITY MONOPOLIES FOR EXPENSIVE INVESTMENTS **RATHER THAN COST-SAVING MEASURES**

Under the current regulations, reducing energy usage with energy efficiency and expanding customer-owned distributed resources like rooftop solar conflict with utilities' profit sources: building capital and selling electricity.⁵ Utilities' incentives also conflict with buying clean energy from third-party developers through purchase agreements (PPAs) even when PPAs are less expensive than utility-owned projects.

Additionally, although utility monopolies' regulation should simulate competitive incentives for cost reduction, the current framework undermines cost control incentives.⁶ A salient example is the usage of cost trackers – called rate

adjustment clauses (RACs) in Virginia. Trackers allow utilities to recover costs and profits with zero risk to the IOUs, which removes incentives for efficient spending.⁷ Experts suggest restricting trackers to a few selected costs,^{8,9} yet trackers are around 50% of IOUs customers' electric bills.¹⁰ The fuel factor, for example, is a tracker that allows utilities to pass all fossil fuel costs to customers without affecting the utility's profits, reducing the financial urge for minimizing fossil fuel expenses.¹¹

Recent legislation improved Virginia's regulations by restoring the State Corporation Commission's authority to prevent customer overcharges.¹² However, strong incentives for inefficient spending, that threaten an affordable clean energy transition, remain in Virginia's code.

SOLUTION

Virginia should further improve IOUs' regulations to guarantee affordability while transitioning towards 100% clean energy. Needed improvements include lifting the cap on PPAs and shifting towards performance-based regulations that better align utility profits with affordability and environmental goals.

The cost of PPAs for utility-scale solar has dramatically declined nationwide.¹³ However, utilities have argued that the Virginia Clean Economy Act caps PPAs at 35% of the clean energy requirements. Thus, utilities do not consider PPAs beyond 35%, even when there are gualified PPAs that would be less expensive than utility-owned projects.¹⁴ To reduce clean energy costs, utilities should consider all qualified and cost-competitive PPAs.

Multiple states are studying broader reforms to utilities' incentives through performance-based regulation (PBR). PBR shifts utilities' exclusive focus on expensive capital projects towards other critical goals by creating financial incentives.¹⁵ Connecticut, Hawaii, Illinois, North Carolina, and Washington, among others, have initiated regulatory reforms to connect utility profits with goals like decarbonization, affordability. interconnection of distributed resources, and enerav efficiency.¹⁶

For a successful PBR framework, it is crucial to also address the role of RACs or trackers in undermining cost control incentives. Virginia should align with regulatory best practices that suggest mainly using the base rate instead of trackers, to incentivize cost containment. Some states have also reformed the fuel factor. making IOUs responsible for part of fossil fuel costs, incentivizing greater control of fossil fuel expenses.¹⁷

Exploring reforms to Virginia's IOUs incentives system will help ensure that an affordable, reliable, and equitable clean energy future is achievable.

Properly regulating utility monopolies will lower families' energy bills

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Remove the 35% cap on power purchase agreements to allow all available, gualified, and cost-competitive PPAs to compete for being part of Virginia's energy mix.

Implement a cost-sharing mechanism that splits the risks of fossil fuel costs and price volatility between utilities and electricity customers.

The State Corporation Commission and Virginia Energy should study regulatory reforms that address disincentives for cost containment and include compensation for IOUs based on environmental and social outcomes rather than a project's price.



Kendl Kobbervig // Clean Virginia // kendl@cleanvirginia.org Joy Loving // Climate Action Alliance of the Valley // jal_1998@yahoo.com Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org

ENSURING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL UTILITIES UTILITY ACCOUNTABILITY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Access to energy and water utilities is essential for human health and well-being. However, clean water and the ability to light, heat, and cool a home are not guaranteed for underprivileged households in Virginia. By modeling policy approaches in other southeastern states,¹ Virginia can establish important protections for vulnerable households and reduce utility burdens for the long-term. In doing so, we can promote public health and ensure more equitable outcomes when a household's access to these vital services is in jeopardy due to unaffordable bills.²

CHALLENGE

Virginia has 33 electric utilities, 8 gas utilities, and more than 50 water and wastewater utilities, each with its own consumer protections and disparate regulatory oversight. Some utilities are regulated by the State Corporation Commission and others by municipal governments. While this regulatory structure provides utilities the flexibility to serve the unique needs of customers within a given service area, it also means that vulnerable lowincome households are unfairly subject to differing consumer protection policies.

Enduring legacies of structural racism mean that energy burdens are also disproportionately felt by households of color. For example, Black and Brown households were more likely to lose power during the early months of the COVID-19 pandemic than white households.³ Even more recently, residential customers are experiencing increases in energy bills, which exacerbates the already high energy burden for many. This increases a household's chances of being disconnected, putting many in the position of choosing to pay the power bill or to buy necessities like food, rent, and healthcare.

THERE ARE NO BINDING POLICIES THAT ENSURE WATER ACCESS IN VIRGINIA

Although the Virginia General Assembly passed a resolution in 2021 recognizing that water disconnections are "contrary to promoting public health and welfare," there are no binding policies that specifically ensure water access in the state.⁴

Virginia residents:

- Have some of the least consumer-friendly disconnection policies of any state in the Southeast.⁵
- Are only eligible for the Low Income Household Water Assistance Program in certain jurisdictions.⁶
- Pay some of the highest electric bills in the nation.⁷
- Face high energy burdens (with 75% of households spending over 6% of monthly income on energy bills)⁸ and increasing water rates (in several jurisdictions).⁹¹⁰

SOLUTION

Affordability and access can be addressed through short and long-term approaches, many of which have been successfully implemented in other states, including weather-based disconnection policies,¹¹ low-income energy efficiency and solar programs, low-income rates, and debt management plans.

After the Illinois Citizen Utility Board found that low-income customers use less on-peak energy than the average customer, and thus pay more to the utility than the cost of the power they use,¹² Illinois directed the Public Utility Commission to explore discounted rates for low-income gas and electric customers.¹³ Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Illinois enroll income-qualifying customers in a Percentage of Income Payment Plan (PIPP). PIPP is a long-term payment plan that sets caps on customer bills and can include debt forgiveness and energy conservation incentives. Virginia's 2020 Clean Economy Act mandated that the state's two largest investor-owned electric companies implement PIPPs, which will begin operating November 2023 (though the program has not been expanded to electric cooperatives and municipal utilities). And many states are developing new clean energy programs focused on alleviating financial burdens for low-income households.¹⁴

Virginia should standardize disconnection policies across all electric, gas, and water utility service areas; limit the financial consequences for late payments, non-payments, or disconnections and reconnections; and establish payment programs, new rate structures, and clean energy programs that bring stability and certainty to vulnerable low-income households. Ultimately, by addressing the overall burden that many households face in accessing these essential utilities, we can help ensure that energy and water services are affordable for more people.¹⁵ **POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS**

Establish utility disconnection policies for extreme weather, public health emergencies, and when vulnerable residents (e.g., medically compromised, infants) are at risk.

Require utilities to report annual disconnections data to the SCC (while ensuring consumer data protections).

Require unregulated utilities to offer lowincome payment plans that do not involve deposits, penalties (e.g., late fees, interest), or eligibility criteria (e.g., credit ratings).

Support low-income energy efficiency programs for homeowners and renters (see CUTTING ENERGY BILLS & AIR POLLUTION WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY, page 95).



CURBING ELECTRIC UTILITIES' POLITICAL INFLUENCE UTILITY ACCOUNTABILITY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Virginia's electric utilities have an undeniable influence in shaping energy policy through their monopoly status and unrestricted financial contributions to lawmakers. Dominion Energy, Virginia's largest utility monopoly and largest corporate donor,¹ gives unlimited money directly to the lawmakers in charge of regulating them. This flawed system drowns out the voices of everyday Virginians and opens the door for Dominion Energy to regulate itself. It is time we shift more political power to Virginians by banning political contributions from electric utilities to the very lawmakers responsible for regulating them.

CHALLENGE

Virginia grants investor-owned electric utilities, Dominion Energy and Appalachian Power Company, a monopoly in their respective service territories. In exchange for a captive customer base, Virginians are entitled to diligent regulation and oversight by the General Assembly. Instead, Virginia's abysmal lack of campaign finance and ethics laws permits Virginia's utility monopolies to pour millions of dollars into Virginia politics each year. These electric utilities give large sums to the chairs of powerful legislative committees. Under current law, legislators are free to use these campaign funds for their personal benefit. For example, there are no prohibitions from using campaign funds to pay your mortgage, buy a car, or pay your child's college tuition. Further, lawmakers can own stock in these corporations and vote on measures that can potentially increase their personal wealth.

VIRGINIA'S UTILITY MONOPOLIES TO POUR MILLIONS OF DOLLARS INTO VIRGINIA POLITICS EACH YEAR TO INFLUENCE PUBLIC POLICY

Virginia's electric utility monopolies alone have donated \$27.7 million² to Virginia legislators and committees since 1996 to influence public policy in their favor. Utilities often wield the influence and political power these contributions bring against the interests of Virginians. Specifically, Dominion and Appalachian Power often lobby against more distributed and affordable renewable energy measures like rooftop solar and stronger regulatory oversight from the State Corporation Commission (SCC). As a result, Virginians pay some of the highest electric bills in the nation, which disproportionately impacts lowincome households and historically marginalized communities.³ Additionally, Virginia's captive customers have no choice but to subsidize their electricity provider's political spending every time they pay their monthly bills.

This severe power imbalance and system of selfregulation make it difficult, if not impossible, for Virginians to have a meaningful say in energy policies that directly impact them.

SOLUTION

Virginians would benefit from a more equitable and fair legislative process that ends what is essentially legalized corruption by banning political contributions from publicly regulated utilities. Publicly regulated utilities are a specific set of 60 corporations in Virginia that provide public services - electricity, gas, water, and sewer - and have been granted a monopoly by the state. Over half the country bans these kinds of political contributions in some form and 22 states ban corporate contributions altogether.⁴ Prohibiting public utility monopolies from contributing to the political campaigns and committees of lawmakers would help restore balance to Virginians' political power by shrinking the outsized influence of electric utilities on the legislative process.

Further, legislators should be prohibited from using campaign funds for personal use as recommended by the Joint Subcommittee to Study Comprehensive Campaign Finance Reform. Virginia is behind nearly all other states and the Federal Government in banning the personal use of campaign funds. There is currently nothing stopping a legislator or candidate from using campaign funds to buy a vacation house or a country club membership. Virginians have a right to be assured by statute that their elected officials are not personally profiting from running for office.

Richmond in a Fog Photo by Lucas Manweiler

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Prohibit public utility monopolies in Virginia from contributing to the political campaigns and committees of the government officials who are tasked with regulating them.

Ban members of the General Assembly from owning stock in any public investor-owned electric utility.

Prohibit General Assembly members from using campaign contributions for personal use.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

ADVANCING ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

Throughout the nation and in Virginia, low-income and communities of color have borne the brunt of environmental harm from energy, industry, and agricultural development. Present and future climate impacts will only exacerbate this inequity. In 2020, Virginia passed the landmark Virginia Environmental Justice Act (VEJA) along with other legislation promoting environmental justice. However, draft guidance promulgated by the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) shows more work is needed to develop inclusive agency policies, ensure the meaningful involvement of environmental justice communities in permitting processes, and equitably distribute the benefits and burdens of economic development and environmental protection.

Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Grace Tucker // Environmental Defense Fund // gtucker@edf.org

SUPPORTING VIRGINIA'S EDUCATION WORKFORCE

School divisions in the Commonwealth are facing a deluge of teacher turnover, faculty shortages, and workload demand as school systems recover from the COVID-19 pandemic. New and returning educators need reliable professional development support to overcome these challenges, while school districts need additional support in reaching their environmental literacy goals, such as providing Meaningful Watershed Educational Experiences in each grade band. With a fund dedicated to paying teachers for the personal time they invest in professional development and supporting school districts in achieving their environmental literacy goals, Virginia can help retain and grow the skill set of our best teachers.

Daria Blom Christian // Va Association for Environmental Education & Friends of the Rappahannock // daria.christian@riverfriends.org Christy Everett // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // ceverett@cbf.org Gabi Kinney // Wetlands Watch // gabi.kinney@wetlandswatch.org Dr. Kendall Tyree // Virginia Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts // kendall.tyree@vaswcd.org

ENVIRONMENTAL EQUITY

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Mary Rafferty // Executive Director // mary@vcnva.org Pat Calvert // Program Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation // pat@vcnva.org

ADVANCING ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ENVIRONMENTAL EQUITY

Josephus Allmond // Southern Environmental Law Center // jallmond@selcva.org Peter Anderson // Appalachian Voices // peter@appvoices.org Jay Ford // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // jford@cbf.org Grace Tucker // Environmental Defense Fund // gtucker@edf.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Throughout the nation and in Virginia, lowincome and communities of color have borne the brunt of environmental harm from energy. industry, and agricultural development. Present and future climate impacts will only exacerbate this inequity. In 2020, Virginia passed the landmark Virginia Environmental Justice Act (VEJA) along with other legislation promoting environmental justice. However, draft guidance promulgated by the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) shows more work is needed to develop inclusive agency policies, ensure the meaningful involvement of environmental justice communities in permitting processes, and equitably distribute the benefits and burdens of economic development and environmental protection.

CHALLENGE

Polluting facilities and other environmental hazards are more likely to be sited near marginalized communities, particularly lowincome and communities of color,¹ creating disproportionate risks to their health and wellbeing. The VEJA attempts to address inequities by centering these communities during any environmental decision-making process, and thankfully, some progress has been made. In 2021, the State Air Pollution Control Board denied a permit for a compressor station in an African American community in Pittsylvania County - the first time the Board denied a permit on the basis of environmental justice.² In 2022, the James River Water Authority abandoned its effort to build a raw water intake on a sacred Monacan heritage site.³

However, Virginia has seen major setbacks in recent years. The DEQ 2023 draft guidance for environmental justice in the permitting process fell woefully short of the VEJA's mandate to promote environmental justice throughout state policy.⁵ In 2022, the VEJA's meaningful involvement provision was eroded when permitting authority was transferred from Virginia's natural resource Citizen Boards to DEQ. Additionally, the Virginia Council on Environmental Justice, a citizen advisory council of the Secretary of Natural and Historic Resources, has a significant number of vacant positions, leaving many regions and constituencies without a voice in key environmental discussions.

In 2023, Congress circumvented judicial processes to advance the controversial Mountain Valley Pipeline despite permit denials and local pushback. In Richmond and Virginia Beach, commercial sterilizers are emitting ethylene oxide. a harmful gas that increases cancer risk; the Environmental Protection Agency is issuing new rules due to its toxicity.⁶ A megalandfill is being proposed adjacent to Pine Grove Elementary School, a historic African American schoolhouse in Cumberland County.⁷ Planned gas pipeline projects with compressor stations in Prince George County and Petersburg would expose residents to increased air pollution,⁸ and a proposed gold mine could threaten water quality across Central Virginia.9

SOLUTION

State agencies have an outsized effect on Virginia's environmental justice communities through the permitting process and other activities. Agencies that impact public health or the environment should be required to develop and implement official policies that

THE VIRGINIA ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE ACT DEFINES ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE AS:

"The fair treatment and meaningful involvement of every person, regardless of race, color, national origin, income, faith, or disability, regarding the development, implementation, or enforcement of any environmental law, regulation, or policy."⁴

identify environmental justice communities, contain robust public participation plans for decision-making processes, and require the agency to consider the effects of its actions on environmental justice communities.

As Virginia's lead environmental agency, DEQ must promote and further environmental justice in all of its actions. However, DEQ's recent draft permitting guidance reviewed only ten "permits of concern" for environmental justice, rather than considering the cumulative impacts of pollution on communities from all permitted activities. DEQ must reevaluate the positions articulated in its latest draft guidance to ensure it meets the standards laid out in the VEJA.

Finally, the Virginia Council on Environmental Justice cannot support the mission of the VEJA without additional support. Due to the unique circumstances of this Council, which is specifically set up to share the perspectives of environmental justice groups across the state, the Council should be permitted to meet in a virtual or hybrid setting to conduct its business without putting undue burdens on its members.



POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Fill all vacant positions to maintain the integrity and independence of the Virginia Council on Environmental Justice; allow virtual or hybrid Council meetings.

Require DEQ to put forth environmental justice permitting guidance that is consistent with the Virginia Environmental Justice Act.

Establish an Interagency Task Force for Environmental Justice, including the Secretariats of Natural and Historic Resources, Transportation, Commerce and Trade, Agriculture and Forestry, Health and Human Resources, and Emergency Management to track cumulative impacts and develop and implement official environmental justice policies.

Require all agencies to consult with members of affected environmental justice communities and Tribal Nations early in environmental permitting. Provide meaningful involvement opportunities throughout the permitting process through pre-application notices, public meetings, and communications using methods tailored to affected communities.

Ensure agencies consider whether the issuance of a permit would cause disproportionate adverse impacts on an environmental justice community. Encourage agencies to use their existing powers to require alternative sites or deny permits where appropriate.

Daria Blom Christian // VAEE & FoR // daria.christian@riverfriends.org Christy Everett // Chesapeake Bay Foundation // ceverett@cbf.org Gabi Kinney // Wetlands Watch // gabi.kinney@wetlandswatch.org Dr. Kendall Tyree // VA Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts // kendall.tyree@vaswcd.org

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

School divisions in the Commonwealth are facing a deluge of teacher turnover, faculty shortages, and workload demand as school systems recover from the COVID-19 pandemic. New and returning educators need reliable professional development support to overcome these challenges, while school districts need additional support in reaching their environmental literacy goals, such as providing Meaningful Watershed Educational Experiences in each grade band. With a fund dedicated to paying teachers for the personal time they invest in professional development and supporting school districts in achieving their environmental literacy goals, Virginia can help retain and grow the skill set of our best teachers.

CHALLENGE

Teachers report being overwhelmed with the demands of teaching, especially as student emotional needs have increased and learning retention has reduced due to the social impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. In Virginia, "only 78.9% of teachers returned to their same school in fall 2021"¹ which was a significant decrease from 2020. "Teacher turnover creates a constant drain on funding. When hard-to-staff school districts spend a portion of their funds on attrition, they have less money available for curriculum, enrichment programs, mental health support, school-based support staff, and other resources that can support students. Essentially, students pay the price for the ongoing teacher exodus."²

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROVIDERS NOTE THAT TEACHERS ARE INCREASINGLY ONLY PARTICIPATING IF THEY ARE PAID FOR THEIR TIME

Because of the decrease in teacher retention, school districts must seek alternative routes for teacher attrition, which can include hiring inexperienced or underqualified teachers. Professional development (PD) is essential to creating effective teachers, especially when teachers are being recruited from nontraditional avenues or alternative professions in the education field. However, professional development providers have noted that teachers are increasingly only participating in PD if they are compensated for their time. Many PDs are offered outside of school contract hours. In the past, teachers have not typically been compensated for attending additional training, but there is a shift in this paradigm.

Additionally, teachers are filling roles typically filled by administrators, such as being the unofficial planner of field experiences or support persons for environmental literacy plans. Similar to professional development, these roles are not compensated, even though they take up significant time. Especially in smaller or underresourced districts, there is often no administrative personnel to take on these roles. These extra roles contribute to teachers feeling overwhelmed, especially when they are not compensated for these duties.

SOLUTION

Research suggests that investing in teachers makes a difference in student achievement. In order to implement needed policies associated with staffing every classroom — even the most challenging ones — with high-quality, wellsupported teachers, substantial and targeted investments must first be made in both teacher quality and education research.³ Education policymakers and administrators should be well informed on the complexity of this issue and adopt holistic measures along many dimensions to support existing teachers through professional development funds, which will help to attract and hire new, highly qualified teachers.

To support statewide and under-resourced school districts, "substantial and targeted investments must first be made in both teacher quality and education research."⁴ Teachers and

future qualified educators need additional resources to compensate for time outside of the classroom in Professional Development and time spent on coordinating science literacy lessons and field experiences.

To help school districts implement environmental literacy goals, the fund would support a local or regionally-hired coordinator to lift some administrative burden from teachers as they navigate classroom capacity challenges. The environmental literacy coordinator would ideally take care of program coordination, scheduling, reporting, curriculum sharing, and other administrative tasks which support the coordination of environmental literacy plans in school districts. The coordinator's acquired (and/or incumbent) familiarity with local environmental programs, organizations, and other outreach skills would not only support teachers administratively but would also secure reliability for the continuous pursuit of environmental literacy programs as schools encounter faculty turn-over, ensuring that those programs are seen to completion.

The environmental literacy coordinator would look different in different divisions. Some divisions might opt to compensate a teacher or administrator who already serves in this capacity. Some might find they need an FTE based on their size and needs. Other divisions might want to collaborate with an NGO that could provide the expertise and support. Divisions could choose to work collaboratively with other divisions in their region. The fund is meant to give divisions options that best suit their particular needs and local communities.

Birdwatching Close Up –Chincoteague Island, Va Photo by Lis Heras

POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

\$600,000 per year in competitive grants to be managed by the Department of Conservation and Recreation Office of Environmental Education to support the development or implementation of school district environmental literacy plans, including stipends for teacher professional development or environmental literacy planning and coordination.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARIES & CONTACT INFORMATION

LEVERAGING FEDERAL FUNDING FOR THE COMMONWEALTH

There are incredible funding opportunities at the federal level that the state can leverage to meet our conservation and environmental goals. Our Partners share some of the biggest opportunities for the Commonwealth to consider to leverage.

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS

From the treasured Chesapeake to the majestic Appalachian Ridge, with the fertile Coastal Plain and Piedmont between, Virginia's natural resources sustain thriving communities. But these resources — still recovering from decades of pollution — face the extraordinary task of withstanding climate change while meeting the needs of Virginians. Fortunately, many of the actions we take to restore our waterways and revive our natural landscapes will reduce carbon pollution and help mitigate some of the worst impacts of climate change: rising temperatures and rising water. Strong, reliable investments to restore our natural resources will ensure that Virginians emerge healthy and whole from the challenges ahead.

CONSERVATION FUNDING

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK PROGRAM LEAD

Pat Calvert // Program Director of Clean Water & Land Conservation // pat@vcnva.org

LEVERAGING FEDERAL FUNDING FOR THE COMMONWEALTH CONSERVATION FUNDING



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

There is an unprecedented amount of funding available at the federal level that the state should leverage to meet our conservation and environmental goals. Funds will be distributed in different ways and through multiple different channels. Some funding has already started to flow and some grant programs haven't opened up yet. The following resources are meant to highlight some of the biggest opportunities for the Commonwealth to utilize.

BIPARTISAN INFRASTRUCTURE LAW

The Infrastructure Investments and Jobs Act (IIJA), also known as the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, infused historic levels of federal dollars towards clean transportation and charging infrastructure as well as funding to strengthen the nation's drinking, storm, and wastewater systems.

In addition to the new programs created through the IRA, historic funding has been infused into many existing programs for Chesapeake Bay cleanup, land conservation, resilience, wildlife crossings, and more. Throughout portions of the Briefing Book, federal programs are highlighted that can help achieve specific environmental goals.

INFLATION REDUCTION ACT

The Inflation Reduction Act (IRA), signed into law in August 2022, established investments through grant programs and tax credits in the clean energy economy, many of which may be leveraged by state and local governments. Opportunities include investments in solar, wind, energy efficiency, electric vehicles, and other technologies that reduce our dependence on carbonintensive infrastructure. In addition, the IRA established a direct pay program providing the opportunity for governments to receive the value of clean energy tax credits as cash payments.

A comprehensive tracker of the opportunities available through the IRA is maintained by the Environmental Defense Fund and can be found at https://iratracker.org/.

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK RESOURCE HUB

To learn more about federal funding opportunities, visit the VCN Resource Hub: Opportunities for State & Local Governments at <u>https://www.vcnva.org/federal-funding</u>.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

From the treasured Chesapeake to the majestic Appalachian Ridge, with the fertile Coastal Plain and Piedmont between, Virginia's natural resources sustain thriving communities. But these resources — still recovering from decades of pollution - face the extraordinary task of withstanding climate change while meeting the needs of Virginians. Fortunately, Virginia has many programs in place to restore our waterways, revive our natural landscapes, reduce carbon pollution, and mitigate some of the worst impacts of climate change: rising temperatures and rising water.

By fully funding Virginia's natural resources programs and the agencies that manage them, we can make significant progress toward our pressing commitments to restored waterways, healthier landscapes, and resilient communities. All state conservation agencies should have the staff and resources necessary to execute their mission and consider the following specific funding needs identified throughout Our Common Agenda and outlined below

OFFICE OF RESILIENCE (PROPOSED)

· Authorize and empower a standalone Chief Resilience Officer and no less than six FTEs to facilitate interagency collaboration and leverage resources, and identify resilience coordinators within agencies (pg 25)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES

- Preservation Fund (pg 33, 35)
- \$1M per year for the Governor's Agriculture and Forestry Industry Development Fund infrastructure program (pg 35)
- Support additional staff and bolster professional resources available from the Office of the Attorney General and Department of General Services (pg 33)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY

- Study the impacts of data center development (pg 57, 105)
- \$35M each year for the Virginia Brownfield and Coal Mine Renewable Energy Grant Program (pg 59, 99)
- \$40M each year for the existing but unfunded EV Rebate Program (pg 65)
- Establish an e-bike point-of-sale rebate (pg 81)

- \$5M per year for the Virginia Farmland \$500,000 per year through the Office of Farmland Preservation to help localities develop PDR ordinances, advise on best zoning practices for preserving farmland, consider equity in ranking projects that get funded, and provide training and technical assistance to enhance monitoring and enforcement. (pg 35)
 - · Create a dedicated source of funding for charging infrastructure in rural and low-income localities (pg 65)
 - Establish a fund of 200K each year to cover the cost of low-to-moderate-income electricians to take the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Training Program. (pg 65)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL OUALITY

- · Continue supporting the facility upgrade deadlines for the Enhanced Nutrient Removal Certainty Program by fully funding state grants for wastewater treatment upgrades as identified by the Needs Assessment. (pg 9)
- Maintain state funding to localities remediating aging CSO systems (pg 9)
- Include a Virginia Department of Health budget line item for harmful algae bloom testing and identification for non-tidal waterways and a DEQ budget line item to collect water samples for the VDH testing. (pg 11)
- Provide sufficient funding to DEQ to identify and eliminate potential pathways for PFAS contamination. which include wastewater discharges, land-applied sewage sludge biosolids, and landfill leachate, and to manage associated data. (pg 19)

- · Increase funding for DEQ, VMRC, and local wetlands boards to enable the agencies to delineate wetlands, provide quality-control reviews of third-party delineations, and effectively implement wetlands permitting programs. (pg 27)
- Fund a study through DEQ and VIMS on the cumulative impacts of existing and proposed permitted and non-permitted surface water withdrawal intakes in the Rappahannock, York, and James River Systems on the mortality of fish larvae and eggs (pg 51)
- Study the impacts of data center development (pg 57, 105)
- Maintain adequate staffing to ensure sufficient enforcement of water quality requirements, mitigation for adverse cumulative impacts to ecosystem services, and consistency with Chesapeake Bay TMDL goals. (pg 59)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION & RECREATION

- Assistance Fund (pg 5)
- \$4M each year for the Virginia Conservation Assistance Program (pg 5)
- · At least \$250M over the biennium for the Virginia Agricultural Cost-Share Program (pg 7)
- · Provide sufficient and stable funding for technical assistance by Soil and Water Conservation Districts (pg 7)
- · Support additional financial incentives for long-term conservation practices like stream exclusion fencing and riparian buffers that are critical to meeting the requirements of the Watershed Implementation Plan (pg 7)
- No less than \$200 million in general funds to the Community Flood Preparedness Fund (CFPF) (pg 25)
- \$90M per year to the Land Preservation Tax Credit (pg 33)

- \$80M each year the Stormwater Local \$30M per year for the Virginia Land Conservation Foundation (pg 33, 37)
 - Support additional staff and bolster professional resources available from the Office of the Attorney General and Department of General Services (pg 33)
 - \$57M per year to support essential staffing, programs, and backlog of maintenance issues. (pa 43)
 - Establish a \$1M, 50-50 matching grant program to encourage localities to invest in capital improvement projects or invasive species management in local parks. (pg 43)
 - \$1.5M in state-derived trail funding to match the Federal Recreational Trails Program grant program. (pg 83)
 - \$600,000 per year in competitive grants to support the development or implementation of school district environmental literacy plans (pa 125)
VIRGINIA CONSERVATION BUDGET RECOMMENDATIONS *CONSERVATION FUNDING*

Bird watching at sunset – Fairfax, Va Photo by Harry Liu

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH

 Include a Virginia Department of Health budget line item for harmful algae bloom testing and identification for non-tidal waterways and a DEQ budget line item to collect water samples for the VDH testing (pg 11)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HISTORIC RESOURCES

- \$5M per year for the Virginia Battlefield Preservation Fund (pg 33, 37)
- \$5M per year for the new Virginia BIPOC Historic Preservation Fund (pg 33, 37)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

- Incentivize local governments to zone for multi-family housing and eliminate parking minimums within a half mile of all bus rapid transit, light-rail, and Metro routes in Virginia (pg 61)
- \$90.1M over the biennium for a statewide housing voucher pilot program (pg 61)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY

- Support additional staff and bolster professional resources available from the Office of the Attorney General and Department of General Services (pg 33)
- \$500,000 to fund a statewide tree canopy and forest health assessment (pg 47)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF RAIL & PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION

- Protect and increase existing statewide and regional transit funding including addressing WMATA's fiscal cliff. (pg 73)
- Protect and increase rail funding to support the implementation of the Transforming Rail in Virginia program. (pg 75)
- Fund rail station modernization and provide multimodal connections between stations and activity centers. (pg 75)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

- \$41M per year in recurring, state-derived VDOT funding for the Office of Trails to plan, construct, and maintain trails (pg 83)
- \$1M for grant match funds for low-income communities, communities of color, and smaller localities with populations under 25,000 for better connectivity to transportation and recreation (pg 83)
- Allocate 10% of the State's surplus funds in a given year to road safety infrastructure improvements projects. (pg 79)

VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF WILDLIFE RESOURCES

 Support additional staff and bolster professional resources available from the Office of the Attorney General and Department of General Services (pg 33)

VIRGINIA INSTITUTE OF MARINE SCIENCES

- Fund a comprehensive menhaden stock assessment (pg 51)
- Fund a study on the cumulative impacts of existing and proposed permitted and non-

VIRGINIA MARINE RESOURCES COMMISSION

 \$3M over the biennium for the Virginia Abandoned and Derelict Vessel Prevention and Removal Program (pg 15)

VIRGINIA OUTDOORS FOUNDATION

 \$5M per year to extend Virginia Outdoors Foundation's Get Outdoors program (GO) (pg 33 & 43)

SECRETARIAT OF COMMERCE & TRADE

 \$500,000 to develop a scope of work and plan to study the economic impact and financial outcomes for outdoor recreation and related tourism (pg 41)

- Fill the remaining full-time staff position in the Office of Trails outlined in its establishing legislation in 2022 (pg 83)
- Establish a State Trail Designation Program and direct resources toward marketing Virginia's trail systems. (pg 83)
- Create a Wildlife Corridor Grant Fund and appropriate \$5M over the biennium to attract additional private investments and help leverage the many new and expanded federal funding grants (pg 49)

permitted surface water withdrawal intakes in the Rappahannock, York, and James River Systems on the mortality of fish larvae and eggs (pg 51)

- Fund a 3-year pilot program from the General Fund for crab pot tagging (pg 51)
- Support additional staff and bolster professional resources available from the Office of the Attorney General and Department of General Services (pg 33)

ENDNOTES

PREVENTING POLLUTED STORMWATER RUNOFF

- 1. "Assault on Clean Water Threatens Virginia," *Southern Environmental Law Center* (July 12, 2022). https://www.southernenvironment.org/uploads/petitions/VA_CWDI_Factsheet_0319_F.pdf.
- 2. "About Virginia Seafood", Virginia Seafood (2020). http://www.virginiaseafood.org/about-virginia-seafood.
- 3. "Virginia," Outdoor Industry Foundation (July 12, 2022). https://outdoorindustry.org/state/virginia.
- 4. "Stormwater Runoff," *Chesapeake Bay Program* (2020). https://www.chesapeakebay.net/issues/stormwater_runoff.
- 5. "Stormwater Local Assistance Fund," *Va. Department of Environmental Quality* (2022). <u>https://www.deq.virginia.</u> gov/our-programs/water/clean-water-financing-and-assistance/stormwater-local-assistance-fund-slaf.
- 6. "HOA Statistics [2023]: Average HOA Fees + Number of HOAs." *IPropertyManagement.com*. Accessed July 7, 2023. https://ipropertymanagement.com/research/hoa-statistics#virginia.

WORKING WITH FARMERS TO PROTECT OUR WATERWAYS

I. "Achieving Water Quality Goals in the Chesapeake Bay: A Comprehensive Evaluation of System Response." Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) (2023).

https://www.chesapeake.org/stac/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/CESR-Final-update.pdf.

- 2. "Virginia's Agricultural Cost Share Manual," Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation (May, 2022). http://consapps.dcr.virginia.gov/htdocs/agbmpman/agbmptoc.htm.
- 3. STAC, "Achieving Water Quality Goals in the Chesapeake Bay."
- 4. "Virginia Soil and Water Conservation Board Electronic Meeting Minutes," *Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation* (May 20, 2021): 10-11,

https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/document/SWCB-May-20-2021-DRAFT-minutes.pdf.

MEETING WASTEWATER UPGRADE OBLIGATIONS

- 1 "Achieving Water Quality Goals in the Chesapeake Bay: A Comprehensive Evaluation of System Response." Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (STAC) (2023).
- https://www.chesapeake.org/stac/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/CESR-Final-update.pdf. 2. "FY 2021 Chesapeake Bay and Virginia Waters Clean-up Plan," *Secretary of Natural Resources* (November 2021).
- https://rga.lis.virginia.gov/Published/2021/RD682/PDF. 3. "Diseases Involving Sewage," Indiana Department of Health (2022).
- https://www.in.gov/health/eph/onsite-sewage-systems-program/diseases-involving-sewage.
- 4. "Richmond, VA," Data USA (June 10, 2022). https://datausa.io/profile/geo/richmond-va.
- 5. Va. Code § 62.1-44.19:14, https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/62.1-44.19:14/.
- 6. "Water, Health, and Equity: Infrastructure Crisis Facing Low-Income Communities & Communities of Color and How to Solve It," *Clean Water for All.*

https://www.policylink.org/sites/default/files/CWC_Report_Full_report_lowres.pdf.

- 7. "WaterWorks: The Job Creation Potential of Repairing America's Water Infrastructure," *BlueGreen Alliance*. https://www.bluegreenalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/BGA-Water-Works-Report-vFINAL.pdf.
- 8. "Richmond Combined Sewer Overflow Progress Report to the General Assembly," (December 20, 2022). <u>https://</u>rga.lis.virginia.gov/Published/2022/RD880/PDF#:~:text=The%20current%20Interim%20and%20Final.and%20 completed%20(in%202024).

ENFORCING WATER QUALITY STANDARDS

- 1. "Review of Stressor Analysis in Virginia: Data Collection and Stressor Thresholds," *Technical Bulletin* WQA/2017-001 (2017).
- 2. "Harmful Algal Bloom in Smith Mountain Lake Prompts Swimming Advisory," *Virginia Department of Health* (June 7, 2023). <u>https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/blog/2023/06/07/harmful-algal-bloom-in-smith-mountain-lake-prompts-swimming-advisory</u>.

- 2. David Sligh, "Technical Review of Evidence to Determine the Presence, Extent, and Consequences of Excessive Algal Growths in the Shenandoah River and Its Tributaries," (2015). <u>https://www.potomacriverkeepernetwork.org/</u> wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Att.-B-Sligh-Technical-Review-2014-VA-IR.pdf.
- 3. Laurence Hammack," *Roanoke Times* (Accessed September 15, 2022). <u>https://roanoke.com/news/local/water-authority-to-spend-13-5-million-to-remove-toxin-in-spring-hollow-reservoir/article_74696642-3546-11ed-9fd9-c773d61c4ef6.html</u>.
- 4. 9 VAC 25-260-20., https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title9/agency25/chapter260/section20/.
- 5. William L. Andreen, "Review of Success and Backlash: The Remarkable (Continuing) Story of the Clean Water Act," Journal of Energy & Environmental Law 4 (25): 25–37 (2013). <u>https://scholarship.law.ua.edu/fac_articles/16</u>.
- 6. "Development of User Perception Surveys to Protect Water Quality from Nutrient Pollution: A Primer on Common Practices and Insights," *US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water*, 823-R-21-00 (2021). https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2021-04/documents/development-user-perception-surveys-4-2021.pdf.

REDUCING PLASTICS, LITTER, & MARINE DEBRIS

- 1. United States EPA, Office of Resource Conservation and Recovery, Draft National Strategy to Prevent Plastic Pollution § (2023), <u>https://www.epa.gov/circulareconomy/draft-national-strategy-prevent-plastic-pollution</u>.
- 2. Ken Christensen. "Guess What's Showing Up in Our Shellfish? One Word: Plastics." *National Public Radio* (September 19, 2017). <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2017/09/19/551261222/guess-whats-showing-up-in-our-shellfish-one-word-plastics</u>.
- 3. "2021-2025 Virginia Marine Debris Reduction Plan," Virginia Coastal Zone Management Program (2021). https://www.deg.virginia.gov/our-programs/coastal-zone-management/coastal-conservation/marine-debris.
- 4. "Data from the 2021 International Coastal Cleanup in Virginia," *Clean Virginia Waterways of Longwood University*. http://www.longwood.edu/cleanva/Data,ICCinVA.html.
- 5. Neglected: Environmental Justice Impacts of Marine Litter and Plastic Pollution," *United Nations Environment Programme* (April, 2021). <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/35417/EJIPP.pdf</u>.
- 6. Robert C. Hale et al., "A Global Perspective on Microplastics," *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans* 125, no. 1 (January 6, 2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2018jc014719</u>.
- 7. Kuo Lu et al., "Microplastics, Potential Threat to Patients with Lung Diseases," *Frontiers in Toxicology* 4 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3389/ftox.2022.958414.
- 8. Monica Samayoa, "Oregon's Bottle Bill Reaches Huge Milestone More than 2 Billion Containers Redeemed in 2022," (April 10, 2023). <u>https://www.opb.org/article/2023/04/07/oregons-bottle-bill-reaches-huge-milestone-more-than-2-billion-containers-redeemed-in-2022</u>.
- 9. Zach Huntington& Katie Register, "Opportunities to Reduce Plastic Pollution and Best Practices for the Virginia Litter Fund," Report. *Clean Virginia Waterways* (June 2023).
- http://www.longwood.edu/cleanva/images/Litter%20Tax%20Report%202023.pdf.
- L. McKay, K. Register, and S. Raabe, "Plastic Pollution: Virginia's Voters Support Action: 2022 Public Perception Survey," Virginia Coastal Zone Management Program (May, 2022). http://www.longwood.edu/cleanva/images/Survey_VA_Voters_Plastic_Pollution_Report_9-22-22_to_Media.pdf.

STOPPING FALSE SOLUTIONS & PLASTICS-TO-FUELS

- Patel, D., Moon, D., Tangri, N., Wilson, M., "All Talk and No Recycling: An Investigation of the U.S. "Chemical Recycling" Industry," *Global Alliance for Incinerator Alternatives* (2020). https://www.no-burn.org/wp-content/uploads/All-Talk-and-No-Recycling_July-28.pdf.
- Robert D. Bullard and Beverly Hendrix Wright, "The Politics of Pollution: Implications for the Black Community." Phylon 47, no. 1 (1986): 71–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/274696</u>.
- 3. Di, Q., Wang, Y., Zanobetti, A., Wang, Y., Koutrakis, P., Choirat, C., Dominici, F.,Schwartz, J., "Air Pollution and Mortality in the Medicare Population". *New England Journal of Medicine* 372 no. 26 (2017): 2513-2522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1702747</u>.
- 4. "Recycling Lies: "Chemical Recycling" Of Plastic Is Just Greenwashing Incineration," *NRDC* (2022). <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/chemical-recycling-greenwashing-incineration-ib.pdf</u>.
- 5. Joe Brock, Valerie Volcovici, and John Geddie, "The Recycling Myth: A Plastic Waste Solution Littered with Failure," (July 29, 2021). https://www.reuters.com/investigates/special-report/environment-plastic-oil-recycling/
- 6. Cheryl Hogue, "Chemical recycling of plastic gets a boost in 18 US states but environmentalists question whether it really is recycling," *Chemical and Engineering News* (2022). <u>https://tinyurl.com/35m27tc7</u>.
- 7. Code of Virginia: § 10.1-1400. Definitions. § (2021), https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title10.1/chapter14/section10.1-1400/.

- 8. Patel,"All Talk and No Recycling."
- 9. James Bruggers, "Advanced' Recycling of Plastic Using High Heat and Chemicals Is Costly and Environmentally Problematic, a New Government Study Finds," *Science* (January 19, 2023). https://insideclimatenews.org/news/19012023/plastic-advanced-recycling-cost-environmental-impact/.
- 10. "Draft National Strategy to Prevent Plastic Pollution," US Environmental Protection Agency (June 14, 2023). https://www.epa.gov/circulareconomy/draft-national-strategy-prevent-plastic-pollution#summary.

STOPPING PFAS POLLUTION AT ITS SOURCE

- 1. "Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS)," *Virginia Department of Environmental Quality.* <u>https://www.deq.virginia.gov/get-involved/the-environment-you/per-and-polyfluoroalkyl-substances-pfas.</u>
- 2. "Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Drinking Water," *Virginia Department of Health.* <u>https://www.vdh.virginia.gov/drinking-water/pfas/</u>
- 3. "PFAS," National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences. https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/agents/pfc/index.cfm.
- 4. "Toxicological Profile for Perfluoroalkyls," Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (May 2021). https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ToxProfiles/tp200.pdf.
- 5. Arlene Blum, Simona A. Balan, Martin Scheringer, Xenia Trier, Gretta Goldenman, Ian T. Cousins, Miriam Diamond, et al, "The Madrid Statement on Poly and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 123 no. 5 (May 1, 2015). <u>https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1509934</u>.
- 6. "Toxicological Profile for Perfluoroalkyls."
- 7. "Our Current Understanding of the Human Health and Environmental Risks of PFAS," US EPA (March 16, 2023). https://www.epa.gov/pfas/our-current-understanding-human-health-and-environmental-risks-pfas.
- 8. "Our Current Understanding of the Human Health and Environmental Risks of PFAS."
- Kazwini, Tayma, Sudesh Yadav, Ibrar Ibrar, Raed A. Al-Juboori, Lovdeep Singh, Namuun Ganbat, Elika Karbassiyazdi, Akshaya K. Samal, Senthilmurugan Subbiah, and Ali Altaee, "Updated Review on Emerging Technologies for PFAS Contaminated Water Treatment." *Chemical Engineering Research and Design* (2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cherd.2022.04.009</u>.
- 10. Genna Reed, "PFAS Contamination Is an Equity Issue, and President Trump's EPA is Failing to Fix It," *Union of Concerned Scientists* (October 30, 2019). <u>https://blog.ucsusa.org/genna-reed/pfas-contamination-is-an-equity-issue-president-trumps-epa-is-failing-to-fix-it</u>.
- 11. "Communities of Color Disproportionately Exposed to PFAS Pollution in Drinking Water," Press Release, Harvard University T.H. Chan School of Public Health (May 15, 2023). <u>https://www.hsph.harvard.edu/news/press-releases/</u> communities-of-color-disproportionately-exposed-to-pfas-pollution-in-drinking-water/.
- 12. "Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS)."
- 13. "Per- and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS) in Drinking Water."
- 14. "Addressing PFAS Discharges in National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permits and Through Pretreatment Programs and Monitoring Programs," *Environmental Protection Agency* (December 6, 2022). <u>https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-issues-guidance-states-reduce-harmful-pfas-pollution</u>.
- 15. "DEQ Approves Permits to Reduce PFAS Contamination in the Cape Fear River," Press Release. North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality (September 15, 2022). <u>https://www.deq.nc.gov/news/press-releases/2022/09/15/deq-approves-permit-reduce-pfas-contamination-cape-fear-river</u>.
- 16. "PFAS Information Related to NPDES", *Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy.* <u>https://www.michigan.gov/egle/about/organization/Water-Resources/npdes/pfas-related-to-npdes</u>.
- 17. "List of Colorado Discharge Permit System (CDPS) Permits and General Permit Certifications with PFAS Monitoring and Limits Based on Policy 20-1#," (last visited June 12, 2023). https://docs.google.com/document/d/IKyRl6b-t1o73jK7mlZ8mhHn8ubbBbgZL-2hk6A1PyaA/edit.

PREVENTING HARMS FROM METALS MINING

- 1. "Gold," Virginia Department of Energy (2007). https://energy.virginia.gov/geology/Gold.shtml.
- 2. "Toxic Release Inventory National Analysis 2019: Comparing Industry Sectors," *Environmental Protection Agency* (January 2001). <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2021-01/documents/section_4_industry_sectors.pdf</u>.
- 3. "Acid Mine Drainage," Earthworks (accessed Jun 8, 2022), https://www.earthworks.org/issues/acid_mine_drainage.
- 4. "Mining 101," Earthworks (accessed June 8, 2022), https://www.earthworks.org/issues/mining.
- 5. "Aston Bay Announces Exploration Agreement For Gold Exploration Property In Virginia, USA," Aston Bay Holdings (March 4, 2019). <u>https://astonbayholdings.com/news/aston-bay-announces-exploration-agreement-for-gold-exploration-property-in-virginia-usa</u>.

- 6. "Aston Bay Holdings Intercepts 37.70 G/T Au Over 1.5 M And 6.56 G/T Au Over 2.18 M In Completed Phase 2 Results At Its Buckingham Gold Project, Virginia, USA," Aston Bay Holdings, LLC (October 13, 2020). <u>https://astonbayholdings.com/news/aston-bay-intercepts-37.70-g-t-au-over-1.5-m-and-6.56-g-t-au-over-2.18-m-in-completed-phase-2</u>.
- 7. David B. Spears and Michael L. Upchurch, "Metallic Mines, Prospects and Occurrences in the Gold-Pyrite Belt of Virginia," *Virginia Department of Energy* (1997).

https://www.energy.virginia.gov/commerce/ProductDetails.aspx?ProductID=1281.

- 8. "Virginia Map," Mapping for Environmental Justice. https://mappingforej.berkeley.edu/virginia.
- 9. Virginia Environmental Justice Act. <u>https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacodefull/title2.2/chapter2/article12</u>.
- 10. Virginia's Surface Drinking Water Systems Downstream of the Gold-Pyrite Belt," *SELC*. <u>https://staticl.squarespace.</u> com/static/619bd6e54d45ff6263eef5a7/t/619d531a13f8a334f9967a9a/1637700412250/Gold-Pyrite_DrinkingWater_ November+3+2021.pdf.
- 11. "State of the James," James River Association (2021).
- https://thejamesriver.org/about-the-james-river/state-of-the-james.
- 12. "Mineral Mining," Virginia Department of Energy (2022).
- https://energy.virginia.gov/mineral-mining/mineralmining.shtml.
- 13. "Abandoned Mines," Virginia Department of Energy (2022). <u>https://energy.virginia.gov/webmaps/MineralMining</u>.
- 14. Whitney Pipkin, "Developers strike contamination from Virginia gold mines," *Bay Journal* (February 25, 2022). https://www.bayjournal.com/news/pollution/developers-strike-contamination-from-virginia-gold-mines/article_e13b5500-958c-11ec-b325-e7be704ed91b.html.
- 15. An Act to require the establishment of a workgroup to study the mining and processing of gold in the Commonwealth; report. <u>https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?212+ful+CHAP0423+pdf</u>.
- 16. Mineral Mining and Processing; use of certain chemicals prohibited. https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?231+sum+HB1722.

ADVANCING EQUITABLE STATEWIDE FLOOD PLANNING

- 1. "Community Flood Preparedness Fund," *Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation*. <u>https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/dam-safety-and-floodplains/dsfpm-cfpf</u>.
- 2. "Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative," Virginia Conservation Network. https://vcnva.org/issue/rggi-virginia/.
- 3. "Virginia Coastal Resilience Master Planning Framework: Principles and Strategies for Coastal Flood Protection and Adaptation" page 6. <u>Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation</u> (October 22, 2020). <u>https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/crmp/document/Virginia-Coastal-Resilience-Master-Planning-Framework-October-2020.pdf</u>.

SAFEGUARDING VIRGINIA'S WETLANDS

- 1. "Wetlands Losses in the United States 1780s to 1980s," table 1. U.S. Fish & Wildlife Services (1990). https://www.fws.gov/wetlands/documents/wetlands-losses-in-the-united-states-1780s-to-1980s.pdf.
- 2. "Va. Coastal Resilience Master Plan, Phase 1," at 137. Va. Department of Conservation & Recreation (2021). https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/crmp/plan#plan.
- 3. "Chesapeake Bay TMDL Phase III Watershed Implementation Plan," *Virginia Department of Environmental Quality* (2019). <u>https://www.deq.virginia.gov/home/showpublisheddocument/4481/637469262077670000</u>.
- 4. Va. Code § 62.1-44.3. https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title62.1/chapter3.1/section62.1-44.3.
- 5. Id. §§ 28.2-1300 to -1320. https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacodefull/title28.2/chapter13/.
- 6. Id. § 62.1-44.15:20. https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title62.1/chapter3.1/section62.1-44.15:20.
- 7.9 Va. Admin. Code § 25-210-116(A). https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title9/agency25/chapter210/section116.
- 8. Va. Code §§ 62.1-44.15:67 to -79. https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacodefull/title62.1/chapter3.1/article2.5.
- 9. Letter from David K. Paylor, DEQ, to David Ross, EPA, et al., Attach. A, at 8 (Apr. 12, 2019). https://downloads.regulations.gov/EPA-HQ-OW-2018-0149-4871/attachment_1.pdf.
- 10. "Study of the Costs and Benefits of State Assumption of the Federal § 404 Clean Water Act Permitting Program 2," *Virginia Department of Environmental Quality* (2012), https://www.powm.org/adf.lib/ca.study.state.assumption_2012.pdf
- https://www.nawm.org/pdf_lib/va_study_state_assumption_2012.pdf.

INVESTING IN VIRGINIA'S HERITAGE & FUTURE

1. Matthew Strickler, , Clyde Christman, and Danette Pool, "The Virginia Outdoors Plan 2018: Bringing Virginia the Benefits of Outdoor Recreation," *Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation* (2018). <u>https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/recreational-planning/document/vopall2018.pdf</u>.

PRESERVING FARMLAND

- 1. M. Hunter, A. Sorensen, T. Nogeire-McRae, S. Beck, S. Shutts, R. Murphy. "Farms Under Threat 2040: Choosing an Abundant Future," *American Farmland Trust* (2022).
- https://farmlandinfo.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/06/AFT_FUT2040_AbundantFuture-1.pdf.
- 2. "Economic Impacts of Agriculture and Forest Industries in Virginia," *Weldon Cooper Center for Public Service* (2022).

PROTECTING HISTORIC & CULTURAL RESOURCES

- 1. "Preserving the Past, Building the Future: HRTC at Work in Virginia Executive Summary," *Virginia Department of Historic Resources* (January 2018).
- https://www.dhr.virginia.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/DHR-HRTC-4-Page-Executive-Summary.pdf.
- 2. "Virginia Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits," *Preservation Virginia* (December 2017). http://preservationva.wpengine.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/VA_HTC_Full_Report_pdf.
- 3. "DHR Announces 2021 Virginia Battlefield Preservation Grants to Protect 441 Acres," *Virginia Department of Historic Resources* (October 2021). <u>https://www.dhr.virginia.gov/news/dhr-announces-2021-virginia-battlefield-preservation-grants-to-protect-441-acres</u>.
- 4. "DHR Announces 2022 Virginia Battlefield Preservation Grants To Protect 252 Acres," *Virginia Department of Historic Resources* (October 2022). <u>https://www.dhr.virginia.gov/press-release-posts/dhr-announces-2022-virginia-battlefield-preservation-grants-to-protect-252-acres/</u>.
- 5. Mariah Davis and Queen Zakia Shabazz, "In Virginia, the fight for environmental justice continues," *The Washington Post* (July 2, 2021).
- https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/2021/07/02/virginia-is-making-progress-environmental-justice.

INVESTING IN CONSERVATION & OUTDOOR RECREATION

- 1. "Outdoor Recreation Satellite Account 2021-Virginia," U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Economic Analysis (Accessed June 14, 2023). <u>https://apps.bea.gov/data/special-topics/orsa/summary-sheets/ORSA%20-%20Virginia.pdf</u>.
- Alessandro Rigolon et al., "Inequities in the Quality of Urban Park Systems: An Environmental Justice Investigation of Cities in the United States," 178 Landscape & Urb. Plan. 156 (2018). https://www.srs.fs.usda.gov/pubs/ia/2018/ja_2018_jennings_003.pdf.
- "Virginia Natural Resources Funding and How It Compares to Other States," *Fiscal Analytics, Ltd.* (2017). <u>https://</u> virginiaforever.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Report_Comparison-of-Natural-Resource-Funding-in-Virginia.pdf.
- "Virginia Outdoors Plan 2018," Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation (2018). https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/recreational-planning/document/vopall2018.pdf.

STRENGTHENING PARK FUNDING

- "How Strained Budgets Led to Maintenance Deferments and Capital Project Delays: Research: Parks & Recreation Magazine: NRPA." National Recreation and Park Association (Accessed June 09, 2023). <u>https://www.nrpa.org/ parks-recreation-magazine/2021/february/how-strained-budgets-led-to-maintenance-deferments-and-capitalproject-delays/.</u>
- 2. Alessandro Rigolon et al., "Inequities in the Quality of Urban Park Systems: An Environmental Justice Investigation of Cities in the United States," *Landscape & Urb. Plan.* 156 (2018): 178. https://www.srs.fs.usda.gov/pubs/ja/2018/ja_2018_jennings_003.pdf.
- 3. Frank Stovall, "Review of Overview of Capital Outlay Budget," Presentation to Senate Finance Committee and Appropriations -Capital Outlay Subcommittee (2022).
- 4. John Crompton, "How Cities Use Parks to Promote Tourism", City Parks Forum Briefing Paper, City Parks Forum (2005).

ASSESSING VIRGINIA'S TREE CANOPY LOSS

- 1. "Tree Canopy." Chesapeake Progress (Accessed June 27, 2023).
- https://www.chesapeakeprogress.com/abundant-life/tree-canopy.
- 2. "Climate Change And Health In Virginia Extreme Heat Is Bad For Virginians' Health- And Could Become More Deadly," NRDC (2018). https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/climate-change-health-impacts-virginia-ib.pdf.
- 3. Brad Plumer and Nadja Popovich, "How Decades of Racist Housing Policy Left Neighborhoods Sweltering," *The New York Times* (August 24, 2020).

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/08/24/climate/racism-redlining-cities-global-warming.html.

"Chesapeake Bay Program Land Use/Land Cover Data Project." Chesapeake Conservancy (Accessed June 27, 2023). <u>https://www.chesapeakeconservancy.org/conservation-innovation-center/high-resolution-data/lulc-data-project-2022/</u>.

CONNECTING WILDLIFE HABITATS

- "Virginia Wildlife Corridor Action Plan," Virginia Department of Wildlife Resources, Virginia Department of Transportation, Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation, Virginia Department of Forestry (May 2023). https://dwr.virginia.gov/wp-content/uploads/media/Virginia-Wildlife-Corridor-Action-Plan.pdf.
- 3. "Virginia Passes Second Bill to Protect Wildlife Corridors," *Wild Virginia* (February 24, 2021). <u>https://wildvirginia.org/wildlife-corridors-habitat-connectivity</u>.
- Huijser, MP, J.W. Duffield, C. Neher, A.P. Clevenger, and T. Mcguire, "Final Report 2022: Update and Expansion of the WVC Mitigation Measures and Their Cost-Benefit Model," (October, 2022). <u>https://doi.org/10.15788/ndot2022.10</u>.
- 5. "NAACC Data Center," *North Atlantic Aquatic Connectivity Collaborative* (Accessed June 14, 2023). <u>https://naacc.org/naacc_data_center_home.cfm</u>.
- 6. Graham Moomaw, "With Wildlife Corridor Plan, Virginia Officials Hope to Reduce Highway Collisions with Animals," *Virginia Mercury* (August 4, 2020). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2020/08/04/with-wildlife-corridor-plan-virginia-officials-hope-to-reduce-highway-collisions-with-animals/</u>
- 7. "Bridge Manual, Ch. 33: Considerations of Climate Change and Coastal Storms," *Virginia Department of Transportation* (June 14, 2023).

https://www.virginiadot.org/business/resources/bridge/Manuals/Part2/Chapter33.pdf.

ENSURING SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES

- 1. "2022 Chesapeake Bay Blue Crab Advisory Report," *Chesapeake Bay Blue Crab Stock Assessment Committee* (July 6, 2023).
- 2. "VMRC Sees Increase in Chesapeake Bay Blue Crabs as Encouraging," *Virginia Marine Resources Commission* (*VMRC*) (May, 18, 2023).

MITIGATING DATA CENTER DEVELOPMENT'S IMPACTS

- 1. Mary Zhang, "United States Data Centers: Top 10 Locations." *Digital Infra Real Estate 2.0* (January 5, 2023). https://dgtlinfra.com/united-states-data-centers.
- "PW Digital Gateway," Prince William County Planning Office (Accessed June 13, 2023). https://www.pwcva.gov/department/planning-office/pw-digital-gateway.
- 3. "#14 Board of Supervisors Business Meeting Action Item," (December 5, 2017). http://loudoun.granicus.com/MetaViewer.php?view_id=69&clip_id=5235&meta_id=132472.
- "Germanna," Dominion Energy (September 2022). https://www.dominionenergy.com/projects-and-facilities/electric-projects/power-line-projects/germanna.
- 5. Rich Heidorn Jr., "PJM Sees Additional \$603M 'Data Center Alley' Tx Spend," *RTO Insider LLC*. (August 10, 2022). https://www.rtoinsider.com/30614-pim-sees-additional-603m-data-center-alley-tx-spend.
- 6. "Electric Transmission Meeting Virginia's Energy Needs," slide 10. *Dominion Energy* (July 13, 2023). <u>https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2064603/DEV_WS_Electric_Transmission_Fauquier_071323.pdf</u>.
- "Regulated Decarbonization Dominion Energy Q3 2022 earnings call," slide 30. (November 4, 2022). <u>https://s2.q4cdn.com/510812146/files/doc_financials/2022/q3/2022-11-04-DE-IR-3Q-2022-earnings-call-slides-vTC.pdf.</u>
- 8. Olivia Solon, "Drought Stricken Communities Push Back Against Data Centers," *NBC News* (June 19, 2021). www.nbcnews.com/tech/internet/drought-stricken-communities-push-back-against-data-centers-n1271344.
- 9. "Calendar Meeting List," Virginia Department of Environmental Quality (March 6, 2023). https://www.deg.virginia.gov/Home/Components/Calendar/Event/989/17.
- 10. "Learn About Impacts of Diesel Exhaust and the Diesel Emissions Reduction Act (DERA)," US Environmental Protection Agency (Accessed July 6, 2023).

www.epa.gov/dera/learn-about-impacts-diesel-exhaust-and-diesel-emissions-reduction-act-dera.

DEPLOYING UTILITY-SCALE SOLAR RESPONSIBLY

- 1. "Renewable Energy Permit Database," Virginia Department of Environmental Quality. https://geohub-vadeq.hub.arcgis.com/datasets/8abcbea47e7e4faa898a602028efcf4d_98/explore.
- 2. "Virginia Solar Survey Report," *Virginia Department of Energy* (May 18, 2022). <u>https://www.t-mlaw.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Virginia-Solar-Survey-Report.pdf</u>.
- 3. "Virginia Solar Survey Report."
- Michael Rolband, "Best Management Practices to Minimize Impacts of Solar Farms on Landscape Hydrology and Water Quality," Presentation. Chesapeake Bay Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee (April 6, 2023). https://www.chesapeake.org/stac/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Rolband-VA-Landscape-Hydrology-and-Water-Quality.pdf.
- 5. M. Hunter, A. Sorensen, T. Nogeire-McRae, S. Beck, S. Shutts, R. Murphy. "Farms Under Threat 2040: Choosing an Abundant Future," *American Farmland Trust* (2022).
- https://farmlandinfo.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/06/AFT_FUT2040_AbundantFuture-1.pdf.
- 6. HB1295, Virginia General Assembly 2021 (Virginia 2021). <u>https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?211+sum+HB1925</u>.

UNLEASHING SUSTAINABLE HOUSING GROWTH

- 1. "Your Driving Costs: How Much Are You Paying to Drive?" AAA (2022). https://newsroom.aaa.com/2022/08/annual-cost-of-new-car-ownership-crosses-10k-mark/.
- 2. Austin Frakt. "Stuck and Stressed: The Health Costs of Traffic." *The New York Times*, (January 21, 2019). https://www.nytimes.com/2019/01/21/upshot/stuck-and-stressed-the-health-costs-of-traffic.html.
- 3. Laurel Wamsley. "Even many decades later, redlined areas see higher levels of air pollution." *National Public Radio*, (March 10, 2022). <u>https://www.npr.org/2022/03/10/1085882933/redlining-pollution-racism</u>.
- 4. Yudkin, Brian, Duncan Kay, Jane Marsh, and Jackson Tomchek. "Our Driving Habits Must Be Part of the Climate Conversation." *RMI* (March 2, 2022). <u>https://rmi.org/our-driving-habits-must-be-part-of-the-climate-conversation/</u>.
- 5. Nadja Popovich, Mira Rojanasakul, and Brad Plumer, "The Climate Impact of Your Neighborhood, Mapped," *The New York Times* (December 13, 2022).
- https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2022/12/13/climate/climate-footprint-map-neighborhood.html.
- 6. "Sources of Greenhouse Gas Emissions," Environmental Protection Agency. https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions.

ACCELERATING TRANSPORTATION ELECTRIFICATION

- 1. "State Energy-related Carbon Dioxide Emissions Tables," U.S. Energy Information Association (October 2022). https://www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/state.
- 2. "Inequitable Exposure to Air Pollution from Vehicles in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic," *Union of Concerned Scientists* (2019). <u>https://www.ucsusa.org/resources/inequitable-exposure-air-pollution-vehicles</u>.
- 3. "An Assessment of the Health Burden of Ambient PM2.5 Concentrations in Virginia," *Industrial Economics, Incorporated* (October 28, 2020). <u>https://cee8204b-70a4-447f-9567-a8b385f8bd93.filesusr.com/ugd/b42d13_16d1da1c63e84d328db4239aea371617.pdf</u>.
- 4. Arter et al. "Health and Equity Impact Assessment of the Transportation Climate Initiative," Conference presentation, *TRECH Project* (February 25, 2021).
 - https://cdn1.sph.harvard.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2343/2021/02/TRECH-SlidedeckUpdateFeb2021.pdf.
- 5. "An Assessment of the Health Burden of Ambient PM2.5 Concentrations in Virginia."
- 6. Chris Harto, "Electric Vehicle Ownership Costs: Today's Electric Vehicles Offer Big Savings for Consumers," *Yonkers,* NY: Consumer Reports (October 2020).
- https://advocacy.consumerreports.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/EV-Ownership-Cost-Final-Report-1.pdf. 7. James Horrox and Matthew Casale, "Electric Buses in America: Lessons from Cities Pioneering Clean

Transportation," U.S. Pirg Education Fund (October 2019). https://uspirg.org/sites/pirg/files/reports/ElectricBusesInAmerica/US_Electric_bus_scrn.pdf.

- "Virginia Drives Electric: Benefits, Barriers, and Policies Needed for Widespread EV Adoption in Virginia," *Generation180* (November 2020). <u>https://generation180.org/virginia-drives-electric-2020-download-page</u>.
- 9. D. Hall & M. Nicholas, "Lessons Learned on Early Electric Vehicle Fast-Charging Deployments," *International Council on Clean Transportation* (2018).

https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/ZEV_fast_charging_white_paper_final.pdf.

- 10. "Alternative Fuels Data Center: Emissions from Hybrid and Plug-in Electric Vehicles," U.S. Department of Energy (June 12, 2023). <u>https://afdc.energy.gov/vehicles/electric_emissions.html</u>.
- 11. Erika Garcia, Jill Johnston, Rob McConnell, Lawrence Palinkas, Sandrah P. Eckel, "California's early transition to

electric vehicles: Observed health and air quality co-benefits," *Science of The Total Environment*, Volume 867, 2023, 161761, ISSN 0048-9697, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.161761</u>.

- 12. "Advanced Energy Employs 93,200 in Virginia." *Advanced EnergyUnited* (Accessed June 12, 2023). https://blog.advancedenergyunited.org/reports/2022-advanced-energy-employment-fact-sheets.
- 13. "2022 U.S. Energy and Employment Report Fact Sheet," (Accessed June 16, 2023). https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-06/USEER%202022%20Fact%20Sheet_0.pdf.
- 14. "Electric Vehicles for All: An Equity Toolkit," *Greenlining Institute* (August 3, 2016). https://greenlining.org/resources/electric-vehicles-for-all.
- 15. "Electric Vehicle Market Update, Manufacturer Commitments & Public Policy Initiatives Supporting Electric Mobility in the U.S. & Worldwide," *Environmental Defense Fund* (April 2022). <u>https://blogs.edf.org/climate411/wpcontent/blogs.dir/7/files/2022/04/electric_vehicle_market_report_v6_april2022.pdf</u>.
- 16. "Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 5-Year National Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Funding by State," Federal Highway Administration (February 10, 2022). https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/bipartisan-infrastructure-law/evs_5year_nevi_funding_by_state.cfm.

MAKING BUILDINGS CLEANER & SAFER

- "Secretary Granholm Announces New Building Energy Codes To Save Consumers Money, Reduce Impacts Of Climate Change," Virginia Department of Energy (July 21, 2021). <u>https://www.energy.gov/articles/secretary-granholm-announces-new-building-energy-codes-save-consumers-money-reduce-impacts.</u>
- 2. "Introduction and Key Concepts: State Energy-Related Carbon Dioxide Emissions Tables," Report. U.E. Energy Information Administration (October 2022). <u>https://www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/state/</u>.
- 3. David McGee, "Gas leak blamed for September house explosion," *Bristol Herald Courier* (October 20, 2022). <u>https://heraldcourier.com/news/local/accident-and-incident/gas-leak-blamed-for-september-house-explosion/</u> <u>article_bcb8c442-50ad-11ed-8ae7-73e9be60851a.html</u>.
- 4. Maxine Joselow and Vanessa Montalbano, "Gas stove pollution causes 12.7 % of childhood asthma, study finds," *The Washington Post* (January 6, 2023). <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2023/01/06/gas-stove-pollution-</u> <u>causes-127-childhood-asthma-study-finds/</u>
- Anita L. Kozyrskyj, PhD, et al, "Association Between Socioeconomic Status and the Development of Asthma: Analyses of Income Trajectories," Am J Public Health. 2010 March; 100(3): 540–546. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2820073/.
- 6 "Status Report on the Implementation of the Virginia Electric Utility Regulation Act," *State Corporation Commission*, (September 2022). <u>https://rga.lis.virginia.gov/Published/2022/RD418/PDF</u>.

TRANSFORMING TRANSPORTATION

- 1. Todd Litman, "Generated Traffic and Induced Travel: Implications for Transportation Planning," *Victoria Transport Policy Institute*, (June 3, 2022). www.vtpi.org/gentraf.pdf.
- 2. "Economic Impacts of Public Transportation in Virginia," *Virginia Department of Rail and Public Transportation*, (February 2020). <u>economic-benefits-of-public-transportation-in-virginia.pdf</u>.
- 3. Kimberly Pryor, "Draft FY 2024-2029 Six-Year Improvement Program," Presentation, *Virginia Department of Transportation* (April 18, 2023). <u>https://www.ctb.virginia.gov/resources/2023/april/pres/7.pdf</u>.
- 4. "Energy Related CO2 Emission Data Tables," U.S Energy Information Administration, Table 4. www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/state.
- 5. "The Road to Clean Air: Benefits of a Nationwide Transition to Electric Vehicles," *American Lung Association*. www.lung.org/getmedia/99cc945c-47f2-4ba9-ba59-14c311ca332a/electric-vehicle-report.pdf.
- 6. Robert Steuteville, "Ten economic benefits of walkable places," *Congress for the New Urbanism* (August 18, 2021). https://www.cnu.org/publicsquare/2021/08/18/ten-economic-benefits-walkable-places.
- 7. Code of Virginia, Chapter 2 of Title 2.2, Article 12. "Virginia Environmental Justice Act" (2020).

MODERNIZING PUBLIC TRANSIT

- "Virginia's Public Transit Network," Virginia Transit Association. https://vatransit.starchapter.com/images/downloads/Printable_Forms/2019_va_transit_overview.pdf.
- 2. Tamara Saltman, "Breakfast Links: Cherry Blossoms Cause Metro to Have Best Sunday Ridership since 2015." *Greater Greater Washington* (March 28, 2023). <u>https://ggwash.org/view/89032/breakfast-links-cherry-blossoms-</u>cause-metro-to-have-best-sunday-ridership-since-2015.

- 3. Wyatt Gordon, "Bureaucracy Blocks Virginia Localities from Building Better Bus Stops." *Virginia Mercury* (April 4, 2023). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2023/04/04/bureaucracy-blocks-virginia-localities-from-building-better-bus-stops/</u>
- 4. "Virginia's Public Transit Network."

EXPANDING RAIL

- 1. Calculations based on data from Amtrak and US Census.
- 2. "Monthly Performance Report: YTD April FY 2023," *Amtrak* (May 30, 2023). <u>https://www.amtrak.com/content/</u> <u>dam/projects/dotcom/english/public/documents/corporate/monthlyperformancereports/2023/Amtrak-Monthly-</u> <u>Performance-Report-April-2023.pdf</u>.
- 3. Calculations based on data from the US EPA, US Dept. of Energy, US Dept. of Transportation, and Amtrak.
- 4. Angie Schmitt, What Would an Amtrak Revival Look Like?" *Bloomberg* (July 14, 2023).
- https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-07-14/inside-amtrak-s-75-billion-plan-to-revive-us-train-travel.

SAVING PEDESTRIAN LIVES

- 1. "Traffic Records Electronic Data System database," *Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles* (March 2023). https://www.sportsbackers.org/bike-walk-rva-blog/we-must-double-our-prioritization-of-pedestrian-safety/.
- 2. "Automated Enforcement," *National Association of City Transportation Officials* (2023). <u>https://nacto.org/</u> publication/city-limits/the-right-speed-limits/corridor-speed-limits/determine-best-option-for-speedmanagement/automated-enforcement.
- 3. "Pedestrian Safety Action Plan," Virginia Department of Transportation (2023). https://www.virginiadot.org/business/resources/VDOT_PSAP_Report_052118_with_Appendix_A_B_C.pdf.

INCREASING ACCESS TO BICYCLING

- 1. "U.S. Bicycling Participation Report Archive: People for Bikes," *People For Bikes*, Breakaway Research Group (2018). <u>https://www.peopleforbikes.org/reports/us-bicycling-participation-report</u>.
- 2. "American Community Survey 5-Year Estimate," Census Bureau (2020). https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table.
- 3. "New Report Finds Traffic Crash Fatalities Disproportionately Affect Black, Indigenous and People of Color,"
- Governor's Highway Safety Association report.(2021). https://www.ghsa.org/resources/news-releases/Equity-Report21.
- 4. "2020 Impact Report," *Virginia Capital Trail Foundation* (2020). https://www.virginiacapitaltrail.org/s/2020-Impact-Report.pdf.
- 5. "BikeArlington Counter Dashboard," Arlington County (2022). https://counters.bikearlington.com.
- 6. "State Bicycling Policy Plan," *Virginia Department of Transportation* (2011). https://www.virginiadot.org/programs/bicycling_and_walking/bicycle_policy_plan.asp.
- 7. "CTB Policy for Integrating Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodations," *Virginia Department of Transportation* (2004). https://www.virginiadot.org/programs/resources/bike_ped_policy.pdf.

ENSURING CONSISTENT SUPPORT FOR TRAILS

- 1. "Multi-Use Trails Initiative: a Report on Multi-Use Trail Master Planning, Prioritization and Funding," *Virginia Department of Transportation* (January 2022). <u>https://rga.lis.virginia.gov/Published/2022/RD87/PDF</u>.
- 2. Kris Smith, Ph.D, "Match Requirements Prevent Rural and Low-Capacity Communities from Accessing Climate Resilience Funding," *Headwaters Economics* (January 13, 2023). https://headwaterseconomics.org/equity/match-requirements/.
- 3. Charles T Brown, J'lin Rose, and Samuel Kling, "Arrested Mobility: Barriers To Walking, Biking, And E-Scooter Use In Black Communities In The United States," *Equitable Cities* (March 2023). https://arrestedmobility.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Arrested-Mobility-Report_web.pdf.
- 4. "New Rails-To-Trails Conservancy Data Shows Strong Demand for Places to Walk, Bike and Be Active Outside." *Rails-To-Trails Conservancy* (Accessed June 12, 2023). <u>https://www.railstotrails.org/resource-library/resources/new-rails-to-trails-conservancy-data-shows-strong-demand-for-places-to-walk-bike-and-be-active-outside/</u>
- 5. "Designations," *Florida Department of Environmental Protection* (June 20, 2022). <u>https://floridadep.gov/parks/ogt/content/designations</u>.

ACHIEVING 100% CLEAN ENERGY

- 1. AR6 Synthesis Report: Climate Change 2023." Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2023). https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/syr/.
- 2. "Environment U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA)," U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) (2000). https://www.eia.gov/environment/emissions/state/.
- 3. "Virginia State Energy Profile Overview," U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia.gov/state/?sid=VA.
- 4. "Renewable Portfolio Standards: State, Local, and Tribal Governments," *NREL* (2013). <u>https://www.nrel.gov/state-local-tribal/basics-portfolio-standards.html</u>.
- Joshua S. Hill, "Renewable Portfolio Standards Responsible for over 50% of US Renewable Electricity Growth," *CleanTechnica* (April 21, 2016). <u>https://cleantechnica.com/2016/04/21/renewables-portfolio-standards-responsible-half-us-renewable-electricity-growth/.
 </u>
- "Table of 100% Clean Energy States," Clean Energy States Alliance. https://www.cesa.org/projects/100-clean-energy-collaborative/guide/table-of-100-clean-energy-states.
- "The Virginia Clean Economy Act (HBI526 and SB851): Putting Virginia on the Path to 100% Clean Electricity Create New Ratepayer Protections to Keep Bills Low." CCAN Action Fund (Accessed August 3, 2023). https://ccanactionfund.org/media/Virginia-Clean-Economy-Act-update-factsheet.pdf.
- 8. "Energy and Environment Guide to Action Chapter 4.1: Energy Efficiency Resource Standards," US Environmental Protection Agency (June 23, 2017). <u>https://www.epa.gov/statelocalenergy/energy-and-environment-guide-action-chapter-41-energy-efficiency-resource#</u>.
- 9. "The Virginia Clean Economy Act (HB1526 and SB851)."
- 10. Charlie Paullin, "Regulators Question Decision-Making Power for Fossil Fuel Plant Closures," *Virginia Mercury*, (September 6, 2022). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2022/09/06/regulators-question-decision-making-power-for-fossil-fuel-plant-closures</u>.

DEFENDING THE REGIONAL GREENHOUSE GAS INITIATIVE

- Michelle E. Miro, et al, "Developing Future Projected Intensity-Duration-Frequency (IDF) Curves: A Technical Report on Data, Methods, and IDF Curves for the Chesapeake Bay Watershed and Virginia," (2021). <u>https://www.rand.org/pubs/tools/TLA1365-1.html</u>.
- 2. "Virginia Coastal Resilience Master Plan, Phase 1," *Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation*, (November 2021). <u>https://www.dcr.virginia.gov/crmp/plan</u>.
- 3. K. Ingram, K. Dow, L. Carter, J. Anderson, eds., "Climate of the Southeast United States: Variability, Change, Impacts, and Vulnerability," *Climate Adaption Knowledge Exchange*, 22 (2013),
- http://www.cakex.org/virtual-library/climate-southeast-united-states-variability-changeimpacts-and-vulnerability. 4. "Understanding Virginia's Vulnerability to Climate Change," *Georgetown Climate Center*.
- www.georgetownclimate.org/files/report/understanding-virginias-vulnerability-to-climate-change.pdf. 5. Terance J. Rephann, "The Economic Impacts of Agriculture and Forest Industries in Virginia," *Weldon Cooper*
- Center for Public Service, University of Virginia, 31-37 (June 2013). http://www.vdacs.virginia.gov/agfacts/pdf/weldoncooper2013.pdf.
- 6. Jerry Hatfield and Gene Takle et al., "Ch. 6: Agriculture, Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment," U.S. Global Change Research Program (2014). http://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/sectors/agriculture.
- 7. "Clean Air Markets Program Data," US Environmental Protection Agency. https://campd.epa.gov/data/custom-data-download?bookmarkId=1056/.
- 8. "Clean Air Markets Program Data."
- 9. "Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative," Virginia Conservation Network. <u>https://vcnva.org/issue/rggi-virginia/</u>.
- 10. "Affordable & Special Needs Housing Funds by Region," Virginia Energy Efficiency Council.
- https://vcnva.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/VAEEC_ASNHmap.pdf.
- 11. Damian Pitt et al., "Investing in Virginia through Energy Efficiency: An Analysis of the Impacts of RGGI and the HIEE Program 11," VCU L. Douglas Wilder School of Government and Public Affairs (January 2023). https://perma.cc/BQT8-AQ44.
- 12. Charlie Paullin, "Dominion projects new gas plants, advanced nuclear will be needed to meet soaring demand," *Virginia Mercury* (May 3, 2023). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2023/05/03/dominion-projects-new-gas-plants-advanced-nuclear-will-be-needed-to-meet-soaring-demand/</u>.

13. "EPA Proposes New Carbon Pollution Standards for Fossil Fuel-Fired Power Plants to Tackle the Climate Crisis and Protect Public Health," Press Release. US Environmental Protection Agency (May 11, 2023). <u>https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-proposes-new-carbon-pollution-standards-fossil-fuel-fired-power-plants-tackle</u>.

CUTTING ENERGY BILLS & AIR POLLUTION WITH ENERGY EFFICIENCY

- 1. 2020 Average Monthly Bill-Commercial (Data from Forms EIA-861-Schedules 4A-D, EIA-861S and EIA-861U)," (2020). <u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/sales_revenue_price/pdf/table5_b.pdf</u>.
- 2. "Investing In Virginia Through Energy Efficiency: An Analysis of The Impacts Of RGGI And The HIEE Program," (2023). https://rampages.us/wilderresearch/wp-content/uploads/sites/37363/2023/01/Pitt-et-al.-2023-Analysis-of-the-Impacts-of-RGGI-and-the-HIEE-Program-1.pdf.
- 3. "How Energy Efficiency Can Alleviate High Energy Burdens," *American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy*. <u>https://www.aceee.org/sites/default/files/energy-affordability.pdf</u>.
- 4. "State Level Electric Energy Efficiency Potential Estimates," *EPRI*, Palo Alto, CA (May 11, 2017): 3002009988. <u>https://www.epri.com/research/products/00000003002009988</u>.
- 5. "Energy Efficiency," Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. https://www.energy.gov/eere/energy-efficiency.
- 6. "Energy Efficiency Jobs in America," (2021). <u>https://e4thefuture.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/Energy-Efficiency-Jobs-in-America_National-Summary-2021.pdf</u>.
- 7. "Low-Income Community Energy Solutions," *Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy*, <u>https://www.energy.gov/eere/slsc/low-income-community-energy-solutions</u>.
- 8. Nicole Duimstra, "Virginia Clean Economy Act: 4 Things to Know," *Virginia Conservation Network* (July 1, 2021). https://vcnva.org/virginia-clean-economy-act-anniversary.
- 9. "The 2022 State Energy Efficiency Scorecard." American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (December 6, 2022). https://www.aceee.org/research-report/u2206.
- 10. "Multifamily Housing and Energy Efficiency: An Opportunity for Virginia to Lead," *Energy Efficiency for All*. <u>https://www.energyefficiencyforall.org/resources/multifamily-housing-and-energy-efficiency-an-opportunity-for-virginia-to-lead</u>.
- 11. Ariel Drehobl, Lauren Ross, and Roxana Ayala, "How High Are Household Energy Burdens?" *American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy* (September 2020). <u>https://www.aceee.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/u2006.pdf</u>.
- 12. Sara Baldwin, "Building Electrification Could Recharge Our Economy and Save the Climate." Forbes (September 20, 2021). https://www.forbes.com/sites/energyinnovation/2021/09/20/building-electrification-could-recharge-our-economy--and-save-the-climate.
- 13. Eric Wilson, Craig Christensen, Scott Horowitz, Joseph Robertson, and Jeff Maguire. "Energy Efficiency Potential in the U.S. Single-Family Housing Stock." *National Renewable Energy Laboratory* (2017): 62–63. <u>https://resstock.nrel.gov/factsheets/VA</u>.
- 14. About the Commercial Buildings Integration Program." Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. https://www.energy.gov/eere/buildings/about-commercial-buildings-integration-program.
- 15. "Halfway There: Energy Efficiency Can Cut Energy Use and Greenhouse Gas." *American Council for an Energy Efficient* (2019). <u>https://www.aceee.org/fact-sheet/halfway-there</u>.
- 16. "Energy and Employment Report by State 2023," U.S. Department of Energy. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2023-06/2023%20USEER%20States%20Complete.pdf.
- 17. "Lessons in Residential Electrification," *Community Climate Collaborative*. https://theclimatecollaborative.org/lessons-in-residential-electrification.
- 18. "New Data, Same Results Saving Energy Is Still Cheaper than Making Energy." American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy. <u>https://www.aceee.org/blog/2017/12/new-data-same-results-saving-energy</u>.

POWERING PROGRESS THROUGH ROOFTOP SOLAR

- 1. "PJM Load Forecast Report," *PJM Resource Adequacy Planning Department*, (January 2023). <u>https://www.pjm.com/-/media/library/reports-notices/load-forecast/2023-load-report.ashx</u>.
- 2. Ben Bolling, "Solar Panels on Southwest Virginia Schools Signal a Diversifying Economy." Appalachian Voices (August 23, 2022). <u>https://appvoices.org/2022/08/23/southwest-virginia-solar-schools/</u>.
- 3. "Needs and Conditions of Virginia School Buildings," *Virginia Department of Education* (June, 2021). <u>https://studiesvirginiageneralassembly.s3.amazonaws.com/meeting_docs/documents/000/000/979/original/Needs_and_Conditions_of_Virginia_School_Buildings_6.3.21.pdf?1622733329.</u>

- 4. S Gouchoe, V Everette, and R Haynes, "Case Studies on the Effectiveness of State Financial Incentives for Renewable Energy," *National Renewable Energy Laboratory* (September 2002). <u>https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy02osti/32819.pdf</u>.
- 5. Brooke Just, "Over 2,000 Solar Panels Installed at High School in Highland Springs ..." American School & University (July 14, 2022). https://www.asumag.com/green/green-design-buildings/article/21246575/over-2000-solar-panelsinstalled-at-high-school-in-highland-springs-va.
- 6. Code of Virginia, "Virginia Clean Economy Act" (2020).

EXPANDING ACCESS TO COMMUNITY SOLAR

- 1. "Virginia Community Solar Pilot Program," *Dominion Energy* (last accessed June 13, 2023). <u>https://www.dominionenergy.com/virginia/renewable-energy-programs/community-solar</u>.
- 2. Charlie Paullin, "Three Virginia electric co-ops ask to make community solar programs permanent," *Virginia Mercury* (May 16, 2023). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2023/05/16/three-virginia-electric-co-ops-ask-to-make-community-solar-programs-permanent/.</u>
- 3. "Cooperative Sunshare," Rappahannock Electric Cooperative. https://www.myrec.coop/sunshare.
- 4. "Hearing Examiner's Report," *Ex Parte: In the matter of establishing regulations for a shared solar program pursuant to § 56-594.3 of the Code of Virginia*, Case No. PUR-2020-00125 (Feb. 16, 2022).
- 5. Galen Barbose, "Putting the Potential Rate Impacts of Distributed Solar into Context," Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (2017). <u>https://eta-publications.lbl.gov/sites/default/files/lbnl-1007060-es.pdf</u>.
- 6. Elizabeth McGowan, "Utility's interconnection demands stall Virginia community solar project," *Energy News* Network (December 12, 2022).
- https://energynews.us/2022/12/12/utilitys-interconnection-demands-stall-virginia-community-solar-project/.
- 7. Staff Report of Division of Public Utility Regulation," *Ex Parte: In the matter considering utility distributed energy resource interconnection-related issues and questions*, Case No. PUR-2022-00073 (September 19, 2022).
- 8. Ivy Main, "Shared solar launches in Virginia but still faces an uphill battle," *Virginia Mercury* (November 29, 2022). https://www.virginiamercury.com/2022/11/29/shared-solar-launches-in-virginia-but-still-faces-an-uphill-battle/.
- "Virginia Electric and Power Company: 2023 Integrated Resource Plan," *Dominion Energy* (May 1, 2023). <u>https://cdn-dominionenergy-prd-001.azureedge.net/-/media/pdfs/global/company/2023-va-integrated-resource-plan.pdf.</u>

MAXIMIZING OFFSHORE WIND GENERATION

- "The US Department of the Interior Budget Justifications and Performance Information Fiscal Year 2024," page 40, Bureau Of Ocean Energy Management (Accessed June 27, 2023). <u>https://www.boem.gov/sites/default/files/ documents/about-boem/budget/FY-2024-BOEM-Congressional-Justification_0.pdf</u>.
- 2. "Comment from Dominion Energy," *Regulations.gov* (Decemner 16, 2022). https://www.regulations.gov/comment/BOEM-2022-0072-0037.

SURGING ENERGY DEMAND FROM DATA CENTERS

- 1. Virginia Economic Development Partnership (VEDP). https://www.vedp.org.
- 2. "PJM Load Forecast Report," PJM Resource Adequacy Planning Department, (January 2023). https://www.pjm.com/-/media/library/reports-notices/load-forecast/2023-load-report.ashx.
- 3. The Virginia State Corporation Commission rejected Dominion's Integrated Resource Plan specifically because it found Dominion's growth projections not credible (2018).
- 4. HB2482 and SB1541, 2023 General Assembly Session. (Virginia 2023). https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?ses=231&typ=bil&val=hb2482.

MANAGING TECHNOLOGIES UNPROVEN AT SCALE

- 1. Oliver Gordon, "Small Modular Reactors: What Is Taking so Long?" *Energy Monitor* (September 20, 2022). <u>https://www.energymonitor.ai/sectors/power/small-modular-reactors-smrs-what-is-taking-so-long</u>.
- 2. David Schlissel, "Eye-Popping New Cost Estimates Released for NuScale Small Modular Reactor," *Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis* (January 11, 2023).
- https://ieefa.org/resources/eye-popping-new-cost-estimates-released-nuscale-small-modular-reactor.
- 3. Casey Crownhart, "We Were Promised Smaller Nuclear Reactors. Where Are They?" *MIT Technology Review* (February 8, 2023). <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/2023/02/08/1067992/smaller-nuclear-reactors</u>.
- 4. "Eye-Popping New Cost Estimates."
- 5. "Clean or Dirty: Is Hydrogen the Climate-Friendly Energy Solution We Need?" *Environmental Defense Fund* (July 20, 2022). <u>https://www.edf.org/hydrogen-climate-friendly-energy-solution-we-need</u>.

- 6. Hiroko Tabuchi, "For Many, Hydrogen Is the Fuel of the Future. New Research Raises Doubts," *The New York Times* (August 12, 2021). <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2021/08/12/climate/hydrogen-fuel-natural-gas-pollution.html</u>.
- 7. Generation of Electricity from Renewable and Zero Carbon Sources § 56-585.5 (2023).
- 8. Patty Durand, "Plant Vogtle Is Almost Complete Time to Celebrate?" Saporta Report (February 1, 2023). https://saportareport.com/plant-vogtle-is-almost-complete-time-to-celebrate/columnists/guestcolumn/derek.
- 9. Akela Lacy, "South Carolina Spent \$9 Billion to Dig a Hole in the Ground and Then Fill It Back In," *The Intercept* (February 6, 2019).
- https://theintercept.com/2019/02/06/south-caroline-green-new-deal-south-carolina-nuclear-energy.

PREVENTING PIPELINE HARMS

- 1. "The Status and Impact of the Mountain Valley Pipeline," *Appalachian Voices* (May, 2023). <u>https://appvoices.org/resources/reports/MVP_Report_2023_AppalachianVoices.pdf</u>.
- 2. "IPCC Sixth Assessment Report," International Panel on Climate Change (February 28, 2022). https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/resources/press/press-release.
- 3. Ihab Mikati et al., "Disparities in Distribution of Particulate Matter Emission Sources by Race and Poverty Status," *American Public Health Association* (March 7, 2018). https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2017.304297.
- 4. "MVP, LLC To Pay More Than \$2 Million, Submit To Court-Ordered Compliance and Enhanced, Independent, Third-Party Environmental Monitoring," Office of the Attorney General (October 11, 2019). <u>https://www.oag.state. va.us/media-center/news-releases/1548-october-11-2019-mvp-llc-to-pay-more-than-2-million-submit-to-court-ordered-compliance-and-enhanced-independent-third-party-environmental-monitoring.</u>
- 5. "Response to Mountain Valley Pipeline on Greenhouse Gas Emissions Filed in FERC Docket," (December 8, 2021). https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/resources/press-release.
- 6. "Petition for Rehearing and Immediate Stay of the Order of the Rosebud Sioux Tribe, the Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe, the Blue Ridge Environmental Defense League, and Affected Individual Landowners," *Federal Energy Regulatory Commission* ELibrary Docket CP16-10. FERC. (May 18, 2018). https://elibrary.ferc.gov/eLibrary/filelist?document_id=14666892.
- 7. Carl Zipper, "Social Environmental Impacts of MVP GHGs," *Federal Energy Regulatory Commission* ELibrary Docket CP21-57 (March 22, 2021). <u>https://elibrary.ferc.gov/eLibrary/filelist?accession_num=20210322-5387</u>.
- 8. H.R.3746 Fiscal Responsibility Act, 118th Congress. https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?212+ful+CHAP0423+pdf.
- 9. Zach Hirsch, "At a Crossroads Sea Level Rising is compromising septic systems around coastal Virginia," *WHRO Public Media* (December 6, 2021). <u>https://whro.org/news/local-news/24820-at-a-crossroads-sea-level-rise-is-</u> <u>compromising-septic-systems-around-coastal-virginia</u>.
- 10. Katherine Hafner, "Nansemond tribe, environmental groups concerned about Hampton Roads pipeline," *WHRO Public Media* (April 6, 2023). <u>https://whro.org/news/local-news/37144-nansemond-indian-nation-environmental-groups-concerned-by-pipeline-project-in-hampton-roads</u>.

SHIFTING UTILITIES' INCENTIVES FOR AFFORDABLE, CLEAN ENERGY

- 1. "Electric Sales, Revenue, and Average Price," Table 6. *Energy Information Administration* (2021). <u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/sales_revenue_price</u>.
- 2. Ariel Drehobl and Roxana Ayala, "Review of How High Are Household Energy Burdens? An Assessment of National and Metropolitan Energy Burdens across the U.S. Washington, D.C." *American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy* (2020). <u>https://www.aceee.org/research-report/u2006</u>.
- 3. "Electricity Burden and the Myth of Virginia's Rate Utopia," *Virginia Poverty Law Center* (August 15, 2018). https://vplc.org/electricity-burden-and-the-myth-of-virginias-rate-utopia.
- 4. J. C. Kibbey. "Utility Accountability 101: How Do Utilities Make Money?" *NRDC* (January 20, 2021). <u>https://www.nrdc.org/experts/jc-kibbey/utility-accountability-101-how-do-utilities-make-money.</u>
- "Aligning Utility Incentives with Investment in Energy Efficiency," National Action Plan For Energy Efficiency, Page ES-1. Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-08/documents/incentives.pdf</u>.
- 6. Petition of Virginia Electric and Power Company for approval of a plan for electric distribution grid transformation projects. Direct Testimony of Paul J. Alvarez submitted on behalf of Environmental Respondent. Pages 7 and 40. https://scc.virginia.gov/docketsearch/DOCS/5m1d01!.PDF.

7. Ken Costello, "Alternative Rate Mechanisms and Their Compatibility with State Utility Commission Objectives," Page 32. (2014). <u>https://pubs.naruc.org/pub/FA86C519-AF31-D926-BE12-2AC7AE0CD8D6</u>.

- 8. Ken Costello, "How Should Regulators View Cost Trackers?" *The Electricity Journal 22* (10): 20–33. (2009). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tej.2009.10.015.
- 9. Melissa Whited and Cheryl Roberto, "Multi-Year Rate Plans Core Elements and Case Studies," Page 11 (2019). https://www.synapse-energy.com/sites/default/files/Synapse-Whitepaper-on-MRPs-and-FRPs.pdf.
- 10. "Report on the Virginia Electric Utility Regulation Act," Page 6. State Corporation Corporation Commission (September 1, 2022). <u>https://rga.lis.virginia.gov/Published/2022/RD418/PDF</u>.
- 11. Herman K. Trabish, "Hawaii's New Fuel Price Performance Incentive Gives HECO 'Skin in the Game," *Utility Dive* (August 6, 2018). <u>https://www.utilitydive.com/news/hawaiis-new-fuel-price-performance-incentive-gives-heco-skin-in-the-game/528329</u>.
- 12. Since 2007, investor owned utilities in Virginia overcharged at least \$2 billion for the electricity service. The Affordable Energy Act HB 1604/SB1321 and, after a long negotiation process, SB 1265/HB 1770 restored the State Corporation Commission's authority to reduce rates when rates are set to overcharge customers.
- "Utility-Scale Solar, 2022 Edition," Pages 28-30. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. <u>https://eta-publications.lbl.gov/sites/default/files/utility_scale_solar_2022_edition_slides.pdf</u>.
- 14. Environmental Respondent's Comments on the Hearing Examiner's Report. Petition of Virginia Electric and Power Company for approval of its 2022 RPS Development Plan. (Mach 14, 2023). Pages 2-3, 8-9. https://www.scc.virginia.gov/docketsearch/DOCS/7qv701!.PDF.
- "Performance-Based Regulation: Harmonizing Electric Utility Priorities and State Policy," National Conference of State Legislatures (Accessed July 5, 2023). <u>https://www.ncsl.org/energy/performance-based-regulationharmonizing-electric-utility-priorities-and-state-policy.</u>
- 16. Gennelle Wilson, Cory Felder, Rachel Gold, "States Move Swiftly on Performance-Based Regulation to Achieve Policy Priorities," *RMI* (March 31, 2022).

https://rmi.org/states-move-swiftly-on-performance-based-regulation-to-achieve-policy-priorities.

17. Herman K. Trabish, "Hawaii's New Fuel Price Performance Incentive Gives HECO 'Skin in the Game," Utility Dive (August 6, 2018). <u>https://www.utilitydive.com/news/hawaiis-new-fuel-price-performance-incentive-gives-heco-skin-in-the-game/528329</u>.

ENSURING ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL UTILITIES

- 1. "Lights out in the cold: Reforming utility shutoff practices as if human rights matter", Environmental and Climate Justice Program, NAACP (March 2017). <u>https://naacp.org/resources/lights-out-cold</u>.
- 2. Sonal Jessel, Samantha Sawyer, and Diana Hernandez. "Energy, poverty and health in climate change: A comprehensive review on an emerging literature." *Frontiers in Public Health* (December 12, 2019). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00357.
- 3. Trevor Memmott, Sanya Carley, Michelle Graff, and David M. Konisky. "Sociodemographic disparities in energy insecurity among low-income households before and during the COVID-19 pandemic." *Nature Energy* 6, no. 2 (2021): 186-193.
- 4. HR538. (Number 4 and 8, respectively). <u>https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?212+ful+HJ538ER</u>.

5. HR538.

- 6. Water and wastewater utilities must enroll in order for their clients to participate in LIHWAP, and several have reportedly not done so. *Virginia Dept. of Social Services*. <u>https://www.dss.virginia.gov/benefit/LIHWAP/index.cgi</u>.
- 7. "Electricity Sales, Revenue, and Average Price," U.S. Energy Information Administration (October 2021). https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/update/archive/november2020.
- 8. Dana Wiggins and Carmen Binghman, "VPLC Affordable Clean Energy Project," (2022). https://vplc.org/affordable-clean-energy-project.
- 9. Tyler, Layne, "Richmond to resume turning off your water for overdue bills: 'I don't think it's time," *WTVR 6 News* (April 11, 2023). <u>https://www.wtvr.com/news/local-news/richmond-overdue-water-bills-april-11-2023</u>.
- 10. Rachel Petterson, "After a two-year delay, council approves water/sewer bill increase to help pay for replacing century-old pipes," *The Citizen* (June 14, 2023). <u>https://hburgcitizen.com/2023/06/14/after-a-two-year-delay-council-approves-water-sewer-bill-increase-to-help-pay-for-replacing-century-old-pipes/</u>.
- 11. "Pressing Pause on Utility Shutoffs: How Virginia Could Save Lives by Establishing Shutoff Policies for High-risk Periods," Appalachian Voices (November 2022).
- https://appvoices.org/resources/reports/Pressing_Pause_on_Utility_Shutoffs_AppalachianVoices.pdf.
- 12. Jeff Zethmayr and Ramandeep Singh Makhija, "Six unique load shapes: A segmentation analysis of Illinois residential electricity consumers," (2019). <u>https://www.citizensutilityboard.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/</u> <u>ClusterAnalysisFinal.pdf</u>.
- 13. Illinois Climate and Equitable Jobs Act. Public Act 102-0662. Article 5. Sec. 16-105.17. 2021. https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/publicacts/102/PDF/102-0662.pdf.

- 14. "Directory of State Low- and Moderate-Income Clean Energy Programs," *Clean Energy States Alliance* (2022). https://www.cesa.org/projects/state-energy-strategies-project/directory-of-state-Imi-clean-energy-programs.
- 15. "Energy infrastructure: Sources of inequities and policy solutions for improving community health and wellbeing," Community Action Partnership, the Regulatory Assistance Project, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, and Synapse Energy Economics (April 29, 2020). <u>https://www.raponline.org/knowledge-center/energy-infrastructure-</u> sources-of-inequities-and-policy-solutions-for-improving-community-health-and-wellbeing.

CURBING ELECTRIC UTILITIES' POLICITCAL INFLUENCE

- 1. "Top Donors," Virginia Public Access Project (accessed June 1, 2023). https://www.vpap.org/money/top-donors/?year=all.
- "Donors Per Industry," Virginia Public Access Project (accessed June 1, 2023). <u>https://www.vpap.org/money/donors-per-industry/52/?recip_type=all&year=all.</u>
 *Note that VPAP counts corporate contributions twice - once from the corporation to their Political Action Committee (PAC) and again from the PAC to committees and candidates.
- 3. "Electric Sales, Revenue, and Average Price," Table 6. Energy Information Administration. https://www.eia.gov/electricity/sales_revenue_price/.
- 4. "Campaign Contributions Limits: Overview," National Conference of State Legislatures (accessed June 1, 2022). https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/campaign-contribution-limits-overview.aspx.

ADVANCING ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

- 1. Friends of Buckingham v. State Air Pollution Control Bd.,947 F.3d 68, 87 (4th Cir. 2020) (quoting Nicky Sheats, "Achieving Emissions Reductions for Environmental Justice Communities Through Climate Change Mitigation Policy," William & Mary Environmental Law and Policy Review, 41, 382 (2017)).
- 2. Sarah Vogelsong, "Virginia Regulatory Board Denies Mountain Valley Pipeline Compressor Station Permit," *Virginia Mercury* (December 3, 2021). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2021/12/03/virginia-regulatory-board-denies-mountain-valley-pipeline-compressor-station-permit.</u>
- 3. Sarah Vogelsong, "Water Authority Abandons Plans to Site Pump Station at Rassawek," *Virginia Mercury* (March 16, 2022).
- https://www.virginiamercury.com/blog-va/water-authority-abandons-plans-to-site-pump-station-at-rassawek.
- 4. Va. Code § 2.2-234, https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title2.2/chapter2/section2.2-234/.
- 5. Va. Code § 2.2-234.
- 6. "Hazardous Air Pollutants: Ethylene Oxide (EtO)," *Environmental Protection Agency* (May 4, 2023). <u>https://www.epa.gov/hazardous-air-pollutants-ethylene-oxide</u>.
- 7. Sydney Trent, "An educational haven for Black children during segregation makes endangered places list," Washington Post (June 3, 2021).
- https://www.washingtonpost.com/history/2021/06/03/endangered-historic-places-list-pine-grove-virginia.
- 8. Stephen Faleski, "Natural Gas Pipeline Expansion Would Pass Through Suffolk," *Suffolk News-Herald* (April 5, 2022). https://www.suffolknewsherald.com/2022/04/05/natural-gas-pipeline-expansion-would-pass-through-suffolk.
- Erica Schoenberger, "Gold Mining Comes With Risks and Rewards. But Those Aren't Equally Shared," Virginia Mercury (May 4, 2022). <u>https://www.virginiamercury.com/2022/05/04/gold-mining-comes-with-risks-and-rewardsbut-those-arent-equally-shared</u>.

SUPPORTING VIRGINIA'S EDUCATION

1. Audrey Breen, "After High Post-Pandemic Return Rates, Teachers Left in Record Numbers in 2021," UVA Today (May 30, 2023).

https://news.virginia.edu/content/after-high-post-pandemic-return-rates-teachers-left-record-numbers-2021.

- 2. Tracy Edwards, "What's Lost When a Teacher leaves a School," *EdSurge* (May 5th, 2023). https://www.edsurge.com/news/2023-05-05-what-s-lost-when-a-teacher-leaves-a-school.
- 3. Jennifer Rice, "Teacher Quality: Understanding the Effectiveness of Teacher Attributes." *Economic Policy Institute* (2002). <u>https://www.epi.org/publication/books_teacher_quality_execsum_intro/</u>.
- 4. "Teacher Quality."

VCN NETWORK PARTNERS



CARDINAL

Alliance for the Shenandoah Valley Appalachian Citizens' Law Center Blue Ridge Land Conservancy CASA Central Virginia Land Conservancy Climate Cabinet Education Community Climate Collaborative Environment Virginia Friends of the Rappahannock Generation 180 James River Garden Club Lynnhaven River NOW Natural Resources Defense Council Potomac Conservancy Powered by Facts Shenandoah National Park Trust Southern Virginia Land Conservancy The Electrification Coalition The Nature Conservancy in Virginia Valley Conservation Council Virginia Aquarium and Marine Science Center Foundation Wetlands Watch

TIGER SWALLOWTAIL BUTTERFLY

Allegheney-Blue Ridge Alliance Appalachian Trail Conservancy Appalachian Voices Audobon Society of Northern Virginia Bike Norfolk BlueGreen Alliance Blue Ridge PRISM Capital Region Land Conservancy Center for Progressive Reform Chesapeake Climate Action Network Clean Fairfax Council Clean Virginia Waterways Coalition for Smarter Growth East Coast Greenway Alliance Edith J Carrier Arboretum at JMU Faith Alliance for Climate Solutions Friends of the Lower Appomattox River Friends of the North Fork of the Shenandoah River

DOGWOOD

Albemarle Garden Club Alliance for the Chesapeake Bay Ashland Garden Club Back Bay Restoration Foundation Bike Walk RVA Black Family Land Trust Blue Ridge Garden Club Boxwood Garden Club Bus Riders of Roanoke Advocacy Group Climate Action Alliance of the Vallev Conservation Park of Virginia, Inc. Drive Electric RVA EcoAction Arlington Elders for Climate Action Friends of Accotink Creek Friends of Buckingham Friends of Dyke Marsh Friends of the Dahlgren Railroad Heritage Club Friends of the James River Park Friends of the Rivers of Virginia Garden Club of the Middle Peninsula Garden Club of Norfolk Garden Club of the Northern Neck Goose Creek Association Groundwork RVA Hands Across the Lake Henrico Conservation Action

Keep Virginia Beautiful Loudon Wildlife Conservancy Nature Forward New River Land Trust New Virginia Majority Northern Virginia Conservation Trust Oceana Potomac Riverkeeper Network Preservation Virginia Prince William Conservation Alliance Richmond Audubon Society Rockfish Valley Foundation Scenic Virginia Shenandoah Valley Bicycle Coalition Sierra Club - Fall of the James Group Southern Appalachian Mountain Stewards SouthWinas Spotswood Garden Club Trust for Public Land Tuckahoe Garden Club of

Network

Association

Streets

Rail Solution

Hunting Creek Garden Club

Mattaponi & Pamunkey Rivers

Mill Mountain Garden Club

Rappahannock League for

Rockbridge Conservation

RVA Rapid Transit

Shenandoah Green

RVA YIMBY

Group

Environmental Protection

Rivanna Conservation Alliance

Sierra Club – Blue Ridge Group

Sierra Club – Great Falls Group

Sierra Club – Piedmont Group

Sierra Club – Potomac Outings

Sierra Club – Chesapeake Bay Group

Sierra Club – New River Valley Group

Sierra Club – Potomac River Group

Nelson County Garden Club

New River Valley Bicycle Association

Northern Virginia Families for Safe

Rappahannock Valley Garden Club

Partnership for Smarter Growth

Leesburg Garden Club

Loudon Climate Project

Westhampton Unitarian Universalist Church of Roanoke UVA Law School, Environmental & Regulatory Law Clinic Virginia Association of Soil & Water Conservation Districts Virginia Capital Trail Foundation Virginia Clinicians for Climate Action Virginia Interfaith Power & Light Virginia Living Museum Virginia Native Plant Society Virginia Organizing Virginia Urban Forest Council (TREES Virginia) Virginia's United Land Trusts Virginians for High Speed Rail Waterkeepers Chesapeake Wild Virginia Wildlands Network

Sierra Club – Rappahannock Group Sierra Club – Roanoke Group Sierra Club – Shenandoah Group Sierra Club – York River Group Southside ReLeaf Surfrider Foundation – Virginia Chapter The Clinch Coalition The Wildlife Society – Virignia Chapter Tree Fredericksburg Virginia Association for Biological Farming Virginia Association for Environmental Educators Virginia Bicycling Federation Virginia Council of Trout Unlimited Virginia Green Travel Alliance Virginia Society of Ornithology Virginia Transit Association Virginia Wilderness Committee Washington Area Bicyclist Association Williamsburg Garden Club Winchester-Clarke Garden Club YIMBYs of Northern Virginia York River Stewards

VIRGINIA CONSERVATION NETWORK:

VIRGINIA'S POWERFUL, DIVERSE, & HIGHLY COORDINATED CONSERVATION MOVEMENT

SUPPORT OUR WORK!



www.vcnva.org/donate



701 E Franklin St, Suite 800 Richmond, VA 23219 vcn@vcnva.org 804.644.0283 vcnva.org